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“I am very pleased to be announcing another year of significant earnings growth, with
profits before tax up more than 17% In this momentous year we have largely completed
our merger activities, dniven customer satisfaction and market share to all-time highs in
virtually all of our markets, made our shops more interactive and exciting while becoming
aver more competittive with pure-play retallers, launched a new joint venture in the US,
launched a new UK mobile network, and embarked on an ambitious property plan in
the UK and Ireland. We also had our biggest ever trading day on Black Friday last year.

We are far from done, though We have very ambitious plans this year which include
making every one of the former Dixons stores one of the new 3-in-1 shops, introducing
a hively and interactive new e-Commerce platiorm to Carphone Warehouse, opening
Europe's most modern distribution centre in Sweden, introducing same-day delivery,
rolling out ¢.150 new stores In the US with Sprint, delivering our honeyBee platform

to major global clients, launching our new home services division with a mandate to
become a true emergency service for customers across the UK, and continuing to
drive market share, price competitiveness and customer satisfaction everywhere.

Its hkely to be busy

| am truly gratefu! to all of my colleagues — nght across the world - for their hard work
and dedication | am also very proud to be able to say that | work alongside such a
creative and dedicated group of men and women

Finally, the nation has spoken and there has been a vote to exit the EU in due course

As you can imagine, we have been giving some thought to this Our view 1s that, as the
strongest player in our market and despite the volatility that i1s the inevitable consequence
of such change, we expect to find opportunities for additional growth and further
consolidate our position as the leader in the UK market.”

/\

Sebastian James
Group Chief Executve
28 June 2016

Cautionary statement

Cartain statements made in this Annual Report and Accounts are forward looking Such statements are based on current expectations and are
subject to a number of nsks and uncertanties that could cause actual results to differ matenally from any expected future events or results
referred to In these forward looking statements Unless otherwise required by applicable laws, regulations or accounting standards, we do not
undertake any obhligation to update or revise any forward looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future developments or
otherwise Nothing in this Annual Report and Accounts should be regarded as a profit forecast
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Strategic Report

Highlights of the year

Dixons Carphone plc is Europe’s leading specialist electrical and
telecommunications retailer and services company, employing over
42,000 people in 11 countries.

Group like-for-like revenue up 5%

UK & Ireland like-for-like revenue up 6%
Nordics like-for-ike revenue up 4%
Group pro forma Headline PBT of £447 million, up over 17%
Group pro forma Headline EPS of 29 3p

Free cash flows of £202 mullion

Strong balance sheet with year end net debt broadly flat year on year
at £267 mullion
Final dividend of 6.50p proposed, taking total dividends for the year to 9 75p

Y

Pro forma revenuse (Emilllon) Pro forma Headline EBIT (£million) Headline basic EPS (pence)
Our European store presence
Store numbers Orwn Franchise Tatal
® X and Ireland 1271 - 1.2n
® Nordics 248 ™ are
® Southern Europe n7 276 593
1,836 407 2,243

Headtne and pro forma perlomance measures are as defined in the Perlormance review on page 24 Pro forma resulls are presented as f the CPW Europe Acquisicn

and the Merger had occumed at the start of the comparative penods
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Business segments

We operate four segments as follows:

Brands Websites
UK & Ireland Curmys cumys co uk
curys ie
+ Currys and PC World are the targest specrahst electncal retailing
and services operators in the UK & Ireland PC World peworld co uk
pcworld e
« Carphone Warehouse s the largest independent
telecommunications retailler in the UK & Ireland Carphone Warehouse  carphonewarehouse com
+ Dixons Travel operates in major UK arporis and Dublin camhonewarehcuse
« Knowhow 1 our market-leading services brand Dixons Travel dixonstravel com
- Geek Squad 15 the repairs and support provider for Knowhow knowhow Go uk
phone Warehause Geek Squad geeksguad co uk
- Simplitydigital 1s the UK's largest, and fastest growing, multi-
channel broadband, phone and TV switching platform Sumplifydigital simplifydigital co uk
« PC World Business provides computing products and services PC World Business peworldbusiness co uk
to business to business (‘B2B° cusiomers
Nordics Elkjep elkiep no
+ The Elkjep Group 1s the leading specialist electncal retailer across Elgiganten elgiganten se
the Nordics elgiganten dk
+ Elkop, Elkjep Phonehouse and Lefda! stores operate in Norway, Gigantts gigantt fi
Eyiganten ang Elgiganten Phone House 1n Sweden and Denmark
and Gigantt in Finland Lefdal lefdal com
+ Knowhow has been introduced in the Nordic region Phone House phonehouse se
+ InfoCare 1s the largest consumer electncal repair company i the InfoCare infocareworkshop no
region, operating in Norway, Sweden, Denmark and Finland
Southem Europe Kotsovolos kotsovolos gr
» Kotsovolos 1s Greece's leading specialist electncal retailer Phone House phonehouse es
= Phone House 1s the leading independent telecommunications retaller Geek Squad geeksquad es

in Spain

+ Geek Squad 15 the repairs and support provider for the Phone
House in Spain

Connected World Services {{CWS")

+ CWS ams to leverage the Group's existing expertise, operating
processes and technology to provide a range of services to
businesses

+ CWS organises its services into three product towers
~ Connected Retailing
- Support and Services
- honeyBee platfarm

connectedworldservices com

Dixons Carphone ple Annual Report and Accounts 201516
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Strategic Repart

Chairman’s Statement

It has been a very good year for Dixons
Carphone and | am delighted that we
have been able to achieve a strong
financial performance at the same time
as making excellent operational progress
across the Group. The Board is therefore
pleased to recommend a final dividend
of 6 50p per share to be paid on

23 September 2016

Over the past year we have largely completed the process

of ntegration and it has been a source of real pleasure for me
to see the progress we have made so powerfully validating
our reasons for bringing the businesses together We have
ncreased sales and ganed market share in just about every
category, busmess and temtory as well as reducing costs as
a result of the Merger 1 am also particutarly proud that our
customer satisfaction 1s at a record high across the board

Moreover, we have made important strategic decisions since
our merger, developing our propesition and discovenng new
opportunities Our strategy of creating exciting new 3-in-1
stores with all our brands under cne roof 15 being rolled out at
pace across the UK & Ireland and | have been mpressed by
the positive reaction from both colleagues and customers

Complementary acquisitions have supported areas where
we see a real opporturity to develop the business Multi-play
1s a key area of focus and our acquisition of Simplifydigital —
the UK's leading broadband, TV and home phone switching
business — helps us offer customers a fully-developed
multi-play proposition at a ime when customers are looking
for independent adwice across all therr technology,
connectivity, media content and service needs Similarly, our
acquistion of InfoCare in Norway makes us, at a stroke, the
leading repar operation in the Nordics

Our Connected World Services business looks more and more

excitmg with a very strong pipehne of globat clients who are
nterested in using the software and ntellectual property
predominantly built up over 25 years in our mobile business
to mprove their own Our Spnnt joint venture has had a very
good start and we are now well into the second phase,

with three to four new stores opening every week in key

US locabons

The telecommunications markets are undergoing a penod

of mmense change and it 15 exciting to be seving customers
in these turbulent tmes We have already seen some
consalidation In our markets and the press 1S nfe with
speculation about the future structure of the UK telco market

Against this backdrop, and following the result of the
referendum on the UK’s memberstup of the EU, | remind the
team every day we are successful because we add value both
to our customers — by being the one place where people can
get choice and impartial adwice - and 10 our network partners,
by teling therr stones powerfully While we continue to do
these things, | have no doubt that we will continue to win, no
matter how our market shifts in the background

) would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to
Roger Taylor and John Gildersleeve Roger and John stepped
down from the Board at the end of 2015 having made very
significant contnbutions to the Group over many years and}
would like to thank thern most sincerely | am also pleased 10
welcome two highly expenenced and talented new members n
Lord Livingston and Tony DeNunzio

Last, and by no means least, on behalf of the Board and our
shareholders, | would ike to thank each and every one of my
colleagues at Dixons Carphone It goes without saying that
we would not have delivered this extraordinary year without
you, and our future 1s all the bnghter for your hard work

and dedication

Sir Charles Dunstone
Chairman
28 June 2016
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Group Chief Executive’s Statement

As we reach the end of our first full
year as a merged company, | am very
pleased to be reporting such a strong
performance It has been a very good
year for the Group, with many great
achtevements against a backdrop, not
only of industry change, but also the
execution of our merger This year saw
us sailing 1n potentally squally waters
but we have, thankfully, successfully
navigated them

Dixons Carphone has had a strong year financially, Group
like-for-hike revenues were up 5% over the year, with growth
1in aimost every business In the Group leadingto a 17%
ncrease in Group Headhne pro forma PBT from £381 million
to £447 million, towards the higher end of the guidance we
gave, resulhing in an increase in Headlne pro forma basic
EPS from 25 5p to 29 3p

Operationally, we have also made excellent progress, with
mprovements in customer propasitions m all markets as well
as a number of systems and infrastructure investments to
improve efficiency Our customers have continued to respond
very well to our continued mprovermnents in service, and we
end the year with our customer satisfaction and Net Promoter
Scores at gll-tme highs | am very pleased 10 see that we have
also increased our colleague engagement scores across the
Group - not a tnvial achvevernent when so much change 1s
happening across the business

Cur business in the UK & lreland enjoyed an excellent year,
with ke-for-like revenues up 6% over the year and Headline
pro forma EBIT grew by 20% to £365 millon This sales growth
was dnven in large part by market share gans in our mobile
phane business in the UK coupled with solid growth

n electncals This has been underpinned by solid cost control
across the business

COur integration has now been largely, and successfully,
completed with regard to people and physical infrastructure,
and we now are a singte, fully integrated busmness with one
head office, one repar centre and one warehouse, and an
organisational structure that suits the size and scale of the

business across the UK & Ireland We have plenty of work to
do on our systems integration, but we are taking this rice and
steady with significant changes to our merchandise planning
systems and customer databases planned for this year as
part of a programme that we expect to take — all m - four

or five years

We continue to be very focused on pnce competitiveness and
have further improved this so that we are now at panty or
better versus our most aggressive pure-play competitors on
pretty much all of our products, all of the ime We reieased

a free app 'Compare Pnces' that allows custamers to check
this for themselves, and we encourage our colleagues in store
to reassure customers about market pnces as part of the
sales joumey As a result we beleve that we are successfully
addressing the phenomenon of ‘showrcoming’ where
customers seek our support and advice before buying, more
cheaply, elsewhere

in January, we announced a plan to complete our estate of
3-in-1 stores m the UK - which house a fully-fledged Carphone
Warehouse proposition - within all of our CurrysPCWorld
stores We are also taking the opportunity to roll out the best
new ideas that we have been developing in our newer stores
Our colleagues really ke working in these refurtnshed stores,
and our customers seem to very much enjoy shopping (in them
We cunently have 233 3-in-1 stores and we are rofling out the
remainder at an average rate of three per week so that we can
be firished by the time we focus on Chnstmas This will mean
that customers from invemess to Penzance will have the same
expenence of our shops and all of our stores will be up to date,
hvely and in good condition

1D mobile operations m the UK & Ireland were launched in

May 2015 This was enabled by an innovative [T platform and
with a particular focus on personahsing plans with flexible
tantfs and introducing shared data 10 has been very posiively
received and | am delighted that active customer numbers
have now passed 335,000 1D allows us to find solutions for
customers for whom the traditional networks are not quite nght
and 15 another invaluable armow 1n our quiver when talking to
people about therr mobie needs

Multi-play 15 a real area of focus for us this year and, following
a successful tnal earier in the year, we launched our offer to
help our customers with all of their connectivity needs, mitially
focusing on broadband This offer 1s enhanced by our
acquisticn of Simplifydigrtal, the UK's largest broadband, TV
and home phone switching business We are now really the
only place where a customer can compare, discuss, choose
and switch — frorm a wide choice of natonal providers - the
broadband and TV package that ts perfect for them, bnnging
the expertise we have in mobile connectivity to thus wider
canvas Itis early days, but the response from customers

has been very encouraging so far
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Group Chief Executive’s Statement

In addition there have been a raft of significant mprovements
that we have made this year mncluding launching our new
e-commerce web platform for Carphone Warehouse,
dramatically extending the range of white goods that we can
ship next day, and rolling out our ‘own the kitchen' small
domestic appliance layouts with much more hfe, colour and
interest into the majonty of our larger stores and much more
It 1s heartening to see the power of our UK business being
used by an excellent team to generate real differences for our
customers, and very heartening to see us all reap the rewards
for therr clanty of thinking and energy

We have done a great deal of work on our n-home and
consumer services busmness, Knowhow, and we wall launch

a pilot of a new, highly digially enabled and wide ranging
propostion in Leeds later this year with a view to having 2
rebranded, nationwide taunch in the New Year We believe very
passionately that customers will increasingly want somepody
to take responsibiity for keeping the dozens of devices and
apphances in ther haomes working, always on and upgraded
and that we are uniquely placed to do that cost-effectively

and well

Qur Nordics business had a good year with kke-for-like
revenues up 4% over the year and 9% m the fourth quarter
and all-time record profitabiity in local currency We have,
however, seen a further erosion in the Norwegian Krone versus
Sterling and this has meant that our Sterling-reported profits
are down somewhat with Headline pro forma EBIT reducing by
£7 millien to €79 millon Qver the last two years the Krone has
devalued significantiy and, since virtually all of our goods are
mported, this has created some commercial challenges We
have used this change to bnng our pnces in line with our pure-
play competitors, something that we have already done in the
UK & Ireland and this has, | believe, been a cause of the very
strong growth in our sales

The Nordics have also seen some really encouraging
operational developments over the year We acquired and
successfully integrated infoCare, the largest repair company
in the region, which gives us a base upon which to build our
services and repar proposition A major project to extend our
autornated small box warehouse at Jonképing in Sweden

- and create the most modem autcmated smafi-box
distnbution centre In Europe - 15 also well on track We have
integrated the Phane House business in Sweden, merging
head offices and contact centres, closing 26 stores and
co-branding all remaining stores In Norway we have
rebranded our Ellgep Express stores to Elkjap Phonehouse
in both Sweden and Norway, these co-branded stores are
performing well

Cur Southem European business had a good year i the face
of significant political and economic turbulence - most notably,
of course, in Greece, and | am pleased that the Southemn
Europe business has reported a 4% nse n ike-for-hike
revenues over the year with Headline pro forma EBIT growing
from £15 milion to £17 mllion

Our Greek business has increased profitability i 2015/16

To have achieved this aganst this year's backdrop 1s no mean
feat and 15, of course, down ta the efforts of our colleagues n
the region In Greece, despite the mounting economic CcnSis,
our teams consistently demonstrated mnovative thinking,
emotonal resiience, strong management and an
entrepreneunal spint This meant that Kotsovolos was able to
gan significant market share | sard last year that the situatron
in Greace may end up proving the aphonsm that all cnses lead
to opportunity and 1 am delighted that this remarkable team
has proved this to be comect 56 far

In Spain, we have continued o move 16 a more flexible
franchise approach, and to pivot the model to offer mutti-play,
sim-only and handset only, as well as a host of addstonal
services while successfully retairuing our market share Here,
agan, the market has much change happening with M&A
achivity and an evolving business model requinng us to be
nimble if we are to retan and grow our profitabiity The Phone
House team have responded magruficently to these challenges
in the best traditions of entrepreneurship that is at the heart of
the team

I am aiso particutarty excited 1o be updating you on some
ternfic progress from our Connected World Services and
Knowhow busmesses While still refatively new areas of the
Group and in the investment stage, | see huge potential and
a strong pipeline of actvity

The joint venture between our Connected World Services
business and Spnnt continues to go very well and, following a
very successful tnal, in January we signed a jont venture ('JV"
to open up to 500 stores with Spnt i the US The Spnnt JV
has had very encouraging results so far but, as always, there's
ro raom for complacency and we are focused on developing
the opporturity further

Wwe have signed a new and separate software agreement with
Spnnt and will now be rolling out our market-leading software
platform, honeyBee, across ther entre estate We also have a
fast-growing pipeling of promising discussions with companies
n a number of different segments and temtonies about how
honeyBee can help them

Our support and serices business also had a good year The
integration of cur distnbution and repair centre to one site In
Newark means we are perfectly positoned to take advantage
of the opportunities in nsurance support and reverse logistcs
services Our chients are increasingly asking us for help ang
support throughout a product’s ifecycla, from choosing the
nght product at the cutset through to nstallation, connection,
and repar Behind our end-to-end service operation we have
a comprehensve - and unique — infrastructure, including
techrical support, delvery, nstallation, repair and recycling
This was rewarded this year as we retaned our contract
through the re-bid process to manage RBS's mobile phone
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msurance and won a contract to undertake a similar actiity
for EE makung us the second largest provider of mobile phone
insurance in the UK Our infrastructure advantages mean that
we are abie to win these contracts profitably while shil
representing very good value to our partners

We have achieved a great deal this year and are very pleased
to be ending the year m such a strong posiion That said, as
ever, we are focused on detivening even more next year and we
know that, in fully mature markets, this means fighting for each
and every customer, each and every day

Finally, the nation has spoken and we are to exit the EU in due
course Qur view 1s that, as the strongest player in aur market
and despite the volatility that 1s the inevitable consequence of
such change, we may be able to find significant opportunities
for addtional growth and acicihonal market share As you can
imagine, we have been giving scme thought to this possibility
and we believe that, by acting decisively and intelligently, we
can further consolidate our position as the leader in our market

My thanks go to everyone in our 42,000-strong team of
employees in 11 countnes for making the successes of the
past year possible through impressive levels of industry and
creatvity | am constantly amazed and delighted by the
passion and commitment of the men and women who make
up the Dxons Carphone farmily, and am very proud to work
alongside them

Sebastan James
Group Cheel Executive
28 June 2M6
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Stratogic Report

Strategy, KPIs and Risks overview

Our markets'

Our strategic priorities?

Achievements in 2015/16°

Core retail

+ Mobile phone connectivity
« Consumer electronics

Continue to enhance and dnve
successtul and sustainable retand
bustness models in a multi-channel
world

Market share and hke-for-like revenue
growth 1 core markets

Largely completed the integration of
Dixons and Carphone

Rolled out 273 SWAS

Price competitiveness in the UK and
customer satisfaction scores in core
markets at record levels

tLaunch of the ID mobile operations and
multi-play affening

Compietion of non-core business
disposals

Consumer services —
Knowhow

Leverage our scale, our knowhow,
and our unique infrastructure to
drive growth in new product areas
including growth in services

Acquisitions of InfoCare and
Simplifydigital, bolstenng our Nordic
services and amphfying UK multi-play
capabihties

New leadership structure in place

Capital Markets Day held in March 2016

Connected World
Services ('CWS')

Develop the Connected World
Services model and establish it as
a matenal contributor to earmings

Successful trial of 15 Sprint steres,
and launched formal joint venture
with Sprint

Extension of existing honeyBee
agreement with a major US
ranufacturer

New mobile phone insurance
agreements with EE and RBS

8 Dixons Carphene ple Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16




Plans for 2016/17°

Relevant Group KPIs*

Principal risks®

Property optimisation programme
Complete SWAS roll-out

Drive growth in the 1D customer base
and multi-play

Launch of new Carphone Warehouse
store and online formats

Relentless focus on price and service

Complete integration programme

Headhne revenue
Like-for-lke revenue
Market position

Headline EBIT

Headline profit before tax
Free cash flow

Return on capital employed

Dependence on networks and
key supphers

Consumer environment and sustainable
business model

Greek exit from the Eurp

IT systems and infrastructure
Information secunty

FCA regulation

Colleague retention

Business continuty plans are
not effective

Health and safety
Fraud

Impact of Brexit

Launch of tnal in Leeds

Nationwide launch in 2017,
following tnal

Headline revenue
Market position

Return on caprtal employed

Consumer environment and sustainable
business model

IT systems and infrastructure
Information security
Colleague retention

Business continuity plans are
not effective

Fraud

Impact of Brexit

Rolt-out of joint venture Sprint stores

honey8ee LS extension and
implementation across Sprint estate

Further sales and support opportunities

Headhne revenue
Market position
Headline EBIT

Return on capital employed

Consumer environment and sustainable
business model

IT systems and infrastructure
Information securety

FCA regulation

Colieague retention

Business continuity plans are
not effective

(S I I A

Our markets pages 10to 12

Strategy and business model pages 141016

Chairman’s and Group Chief Executive s Statements on pages 4 to 7
Key Performance Indicators on page 19

Pnncipal nsks to achieving the Group's objectives on pages 20 to 23
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Our markets

Our markets

Mobile phone and connectivity and consumer electronics
ara Dixons Carphone's core retal markets, but increasingly
the Group 15 growing beyond these product markets by

1} industnalising its existing services infrastructure and
expanding its offenngs to focus on consumer services i the
home, and 2) continuing 1o expand its rapidly growing
business-to-busmess operations via the Connected World
Services division

Mobile phone connectivity

Dixons Carphone 1s the only nationwide independent mobile

phone retailer The Group 1s uniquely placed to offer impartial
adwice over the vast ammay of network, handset and operating
platform propasitions available in the market

This market s also served by MNOs, with whom the Group has
long and well-estabhshed relatronships, as well as ndependent
and generalist retallers The MNOs will offer propositions for
their own networks, whilst independent and generalist retallers
will provide a greater vanety of propositions on one or multiple
networks Furthermore there are online-only retailers providing
a vanety of these services

Thus market is also served by MVNOs as well as arelatively
small rumber of gicbal manufacturers supplying goods to
local, regional, national and intemational MNOs/MVNOs
and retailers

In recent years there have been significant changes in the
landscape of mobile phone distnbution In the UK we have
seen a major market withdrawal with the exit of Phones du
ard the acquistion of the EE network by BT Dunng this penod
the Group has managed to gan significant market share
particularly in the post-pay segment

The sophistication of mobile phones continues to grow rapidly,
from simple mobile devices to sophisticated hardware with
advanced functionalty There is a wide chorce of operating
platforms and network options for customers, which makes
the Group's expert and impartial advice, simplified by the
tablet based tool, Pin Paint, particularly relevant

MNOs continue to see increasing levels of data usage, a trend
which will continue as customers migrate to new tanffs that
nclude 4G access as standard As MNOs continue to roll out
thewr 4G networks, quahty and speeds improve, facilitating
much faster downloads and prowiding levels of performance
comparable to many Wi-F) networks, enabling a much better
platform for streaming, i particular for video content

To benefit from 4G services, customers need 4G-enabled
dewvices and as 4G network coverage improves, there 1s an
mncentive for customers to upgrade therr contracts, providing
a stmulus to the replacement cycle increasing the penetration
of 4G devices and tanff uplifts After severat years of
downward pressure an ARPU, increased data usage provides
an exciting opporturity

The intemet plays an wmportant part of customers' purchasing
joumey for mokite, with the majority of customers researching
online before making a purchase However, online sales have
remaned relatively flat in the UK at ¢ 20% of sales for a
number of years The complexity of the mobile-buying decision
means that customers continue to value the advice available
within stores This preference 1o touch and feel products pnior
1o purchasing has restncted the penetration for mobile online
sales Elsewhere, in markets that are less mature than the UK,
the proportion of online sales continues to grow and
represents between 4% and 11% of total retail sales

The mobile market has remamed robust dunng penods of
reduced economic activity and whiist mobite phones might be
considered discretionary purchases, the reality 1s that mobile
phone contracts are considered an essential element of
people’s hves

Consumer electronics

The consumer electromcs retaif market can be split between
specialist electncal retalers, such as Dixons Carphone, and
general retalers which sell electronic goods as partof a wider
offenng The market can also be broken down into two distinct
distnbution channels ‘assisted’ and 'unassisted’ In the
assisted channel, specialist retailers, such as Dxons
Carphone, help customers through the buying process in the
form of preduct advice, add-on services, delivery and
installabon The unassisted channe!, which includes single
channel mtemet retailers as well as general retailers, tends not
to offer all of these services

Speciahst efectncal retallers are the predominant destination
for customers in the European consumer electronics market
Buymng groups, general merchants and independents also have
a retall presence through stares and / or online The market Is
served by a relativety small number of global manufacturers
supplying goods to local, regional, nationa! and intemattonal
electncal retallers

We are one of the largest speciabst electncal retaiing and
services companies in Europe with leading market shares in
the UK, ireland, the Nordic region and Greece In each of our
markets there are varying numbers of specialist retallers who
compete In the assisted market While we do compete agamst
general retallers, this 15 usually imited to certain fower pnce
categones as these retallers do not offer the full range of
products, assisted sale or the other services we are able

to provide

We have seen some significant shifts in capacity in many of
our markets in recent years with sorne mass merchandisers
reducing space for electronic products, some single channel
intemet operators de-emphasising certan segments, as well
as some specialists exiting the market These shifts have
helped us to gain market share and it undermns our view that
a strong service led muiti-channel operation satisfies both
customer and supplier needs while delivenng a sustainable
business as customer shopping habits continue to evolve We
believe further consohdaton will occur in some of our markets

10 Dixons Carphone pic Annual Report and Acceunts 2015/16




The intemet has establishad itself as an important part of the
electncal retall landscape it supports enhanced product
information as well as pnce comparability it 15 an essential part
of the buying process for customers, particularly for large ticket
discretionary products However, the expert advice provided
by well-informed sales advisors within stores 15 hughly vatued
by customers Larger retalers, with an integrated mulh-channel
offer, with scalable distnbution and systems, together with
proven after-sales service and support are mcreasingly
attractive to customers

The increase in online penetration provides us with the
opportunity 10 Increase both the range of goods on offer and
the avallabiiity of product mformation Qur multi-channel
approach is well placed to exploit synergres between our
intemet sites and stores

Our reserve&collect service (collect@store in the Nordics),
where customers can order on the internet and collect from a
convenient store, at a time to suit them is proving to be
ncreasingly atiractive to customers Simiarly, our pay&coflect
service, where customers can access a wider range of
products than is typically availlable in thewr local store for either
home delivery or later collection from the store, 1s also
increasingly popular

Innovation bnngs new products with improved functionality
that drives sales growth These include 4K Ultra High Defirnition
{'HD") and smart TVs, wearabie technology, connected
products for the home such as heating and Iighting Content,
such as social media, apps, digital media and cloud
computing, also help to dnve hardware innovation and
replacement Product sales are dniven by structural shifts, such
as analogue to digital and standard format through to Ultra HD
television In addition, innevation dnves new service
requirements, including TV installation, data backup, computer
sel up and instructional Showhow teach-ins In this
increasingly complex world we believe our assisted sales
model 1s best placed to help customers navigate the market
and to help thern choose a complete solution that best meets
their needs

Many electronic products are predominantly discretionary
purchases However, increasing penetration of digital
technology in the home dnves faster replacement cycles as
these products become less discretionary The economic
backdrop also determines whether customers trade up or
down Accordingly, the electronics market tends to grow ata
rate that IS at ar exceeding the economy dunng years of
economic growth While the opposite can be true dunng a
downtum, thus may be influenced by new innovation and an
exciting product cycle

The ramd innovation cycle may lead to price deflation, but also
dnves volumes as products become more affordable and
replacement cycles accelerate For larger ticket items, the tow
frequency of purchases imits the impact of price deflation on
total market sales as consumers typically trade up to higher
specification products Our ‘Customer Jourmneys” are designed
to explain the features and benefits of the latest technology to
customers and help them understand the reasons for trading
up to these newer technologies

The sale of white goods 1s underpined by the replacement
cycle Due to higher costs of repair, it often makes better
economic sense for consumers to replace white goods outnght
rather than to arrange for therr repair The sale of white goods
1s also dnven by the dynamics of the housing market

as new construction, house sales and refurbishment trigger
new purchases

Consumer services - Knowhow

Everyday technology, whether smart TVs, computing, mobile
phones or kitchen appliances, is becoming increasingly
complicated with connectivity and inter-operability penetrating
into more and more areas Families are dependent on this
technolegy worlung for an ever-increasing range of
applications such as keeping in touch with fnends and family,
entertainment, work, finances and school homework Keeping
this hame technology working and online s increasingly
becoming an essential requirement

Most homes in markets in which we operate have around ten

connected devices, and this 1s expected to grow dramatically

over the near term, creating further expected positve demand
for home technelogy support services

We believe the market for home technalogy support to be
already large, worth around £5bn in the UK alone, of which we
estmate to hold ac 10% share Desprte the significant
demand and a !arge market, the supply of services 1s highly
fragrnented

There 1s a major apportunity to grow our share of these
valuable and growing markets to more closely match our share
of product sales Qur arm s for our Knowhow business to be
the digital leader in technology support

Importantly we start from a position of real strength, our
services capabilities and operatng platform developed to
support our product sales business is already class-leading
and at real scale

We are already the UK's leading technolegy support business
with over 11m wamanty and nsurance pohcies, 700,000
mobile repairs per year, 4. 2m home visits per year, 740,000
computer repairs per year; over 100,000 gas installations per
year, more than 600 skilled engineers, and over 1,500 in-store
service colleagues

We have a leading share in the sale of connected technology
through our significant mutt-channel presence with strong
manufacturer and suppler relatonships and a 'cross
ecosystemn' approach in place We have Europe’s largest tech
and white goods reparr capability at Newark with more
technical support agents than any other business prowding a
natonwide solution This 1S a complex busmness to replicate
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Our markets ‘

We have put in place a new leadership team dedicated to this
division and developed a commercial model with refreshed
and innovative propositions that we will launch regonally

in 2016 pnor to a full roll-out in 2017

Our revised service propositions will be accessed and
delvered by customers through an increasingly digitat
interface providing fnction-free and highly responsive support
and care around the clock which is easily accessed at home
or on the move

We will be able to deliver our core operating pnnciples to
our customers through an ongoing and valuable dialogue
that includes providing ndependent / expert advice and
money-saving gudance through pnce companson

This regutar, tugh-guality dialogue will buikd customer loyalty,

and allow us to deliver real value and support to our customers

day and right

Ongce fully executed in all core markets, we expect our services

business to provide long-term sustainable revenues in
attractive, growing markets

Connected World Services

Connected World Services aims 1o leverage the specialist
skills, operating processes and technology of the business to
provide services 1o third parties looking to develop their own
connected world solutions CWS already provides managed
services to a number of major international businesses and has
a significant pipefine of active opportunites The cument focus
1s on delivenng value and growth from three specific areas -
Cennected Retading, Support and Services, and honeyBee
software
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Current focus involves three specific CWS services

Propaosition Services offered Unique differentiators  Existing thurd
party clients
Connected  Multi-channel retail - Operational retall + Proven track record of  Sprint
Retailing consultancy and leadership transforming retail for  Samsung
operational support for . Best Buy Mobile and
businesses selling Clonsultmg Zn retad Spnnt
cornected product and planning and execution
service propostions, » Customer joumey design Sigeficant KPI
ranging from specific and management Improvements
managed services achteved In sales,
through to full retail profitability and
partnerships customer satisfaction
~ Expert team with 20+
Who is it for? years of connected
Telco industry specialists retail expenence
- typically carriers and
retailers « Unique and
differentiated sales and
operations platform
Supportand | gverages the « Connectivity and » We run the largest BT
Services end-to-end capabilities brokerage mobile phone repair RBS
?gfgsrgli?;ﬁmze "™ . Value-added services centre in Europe TalkTalk
provide a full suite of + Device supply * Operate the biggest EE
services that enable the Sal X handset sourcing
sale and support of ales operations operation in Europe Insurance
connected devices « Forward and reverse - Proven experts in this :artner
logistics complex and regulated *V'V3
Who 15 it for? « Saoftware platierms ndustry
UK & Ireland Telco + Customer service - s@nlﬁcant established
industry specialists - lent ba. th
typically carniers, retailers chent base, w
and service providers long-tenm agreements
in place
honeyBee Urique omri-chanrel, + The honeyBee platform + 25years’ expenence  Sprnt
software multi-industry software consists of three pnnoipal of complex digital
that simphfies the modules journey innovation Partner
delvery and Accenture

management of complex
digital customer journeys
i any industry

Who is it for?

Any sales business that
has a complex customer
journey {e g Telco,
Financial Services,
Travel etc}

+ honeyBee Sell bestin
class mutti-channel,
guided sales software that
includes an ultra-efficient
media platform and a
real-time journey analytics
and performance
management platform

« honeyBee Activate
camer / service provider
activations management
platform

+ honeyBee Create
simplifies the process of
desigring and building
complex digital customer
JOUMEYS

« Unigue mulchannel
sales and operations
platform

» Unigue multi-country
carmer activations
piatform

= Revolutionary
customer joumey
development tools

* Partnership with
Accenture who bnng
industry expenence,
global scale and
delvery credibility
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Strategy and business model

Dixons Carphone 15 Europe's leading specialist consumer
electncal and mobile phone and connectity retailer and
services company, employing over 42,000 peoplen 11
countnes Focused on helping customers navigate the
connected worid, Dixons Carphone offers a comprehensive
range of electronic and mobile products, connectivity and
expert after-sales services from the Geek Squad and Knowhow

bixons Carphone's pnimary brands include Carphone
Warehouse, Cunrys and PCWorld in the UK & reland, Elkjep
and Elkjep Phonehouse, Elgiganten and Elgiganten Phone
House, Giganth and Lefdal in the Nordic countnes, Kotsovalos
in Greece, Dixons Trave! in a number of UK & Ireland arports
and Phone House in Span Our key service brands include
Knowhow n the UK, Iretand and the Nordics, and Geek Squad
n the UK, Ireland and Spain

Business-to-business (‘B2B’) services are provided through
Connected World Services (‘CWS"), PC World Business, Elkjap
Business and Carphone Warehouse Business Connected
World Services aims to leverage the Group's existing expertise,
operating processes and technology to provicle a range of
services to other businesses

During the year we have boistered our Nordic and UK
consumer services offenngs with the acquisitions of InfoCare
and Smplfydigital and we continue to review our business
portfolio, focusing on temtones in which we are the market
leatter and growing market share

This enables us to dnve the Group forward from a position
of strength with a focus on three strategic prionties By
focusing on these we can deliver not only a better business
for our customers and colleagues, but also better retums for
our shareholders

The strategic pnonties are

1 Continue to enhance and dnve successful
and sustamable retall busmess models ina
multi-channel world,

2. Leverage our scale, our knowhow, and cur unique
mfrastructure to dnve growth in new product areas
mcluding growth in services, and

3 Continue to develop the CWS mode! and establish
it as a matenal contnbutor to eamings

Lookng at each of these in turm

1. Continue to enhance and drive
successful and sustainable
retail business models in a
multi-channel world

Our customers tell us that when buying consumer electrorics
they want advice to ensure they are making the nght choices,
particularly as these are often major purchases that custormers
will own for several years The growth of the intemet has
empowered customers, providing instant access to nformation
including product knowledge and erice transparency

In mobile, we are uniquely positoned in the UK & Ireland and
the Nordics to provide independent advice and meet customer
requirements for impartality, comparability and flexiility,
both online and in-store with the Pin Point tool m the UK In
consumer electronics, single channel intemet operators have
a different model whose pnncipal advantage 1S stnucturally
lower costs and which have histoncally been able to offer
competitive prices versus store-based operators By focusing
on the advantages that we, as a multi-channel specialist,

can offer customers and suppliers we can eliminate the cost
advantage that pure-play ntemet operators have histoncally
enjoyed As a result we are able to offer customers very
competrive pnices against our competitor set and still be
more profitable

There are four distinct actvities that we believe are the key
strengths of our mutti-channel, service-based model and which
will support our competitve advantage going forward

1 Work closely with suppliers to hamess benefits avarable
to our business model Suppliers want to ensure that
customers not only choose ther brands, but also
expenence the benefits of the latest products As a
miulb-channel operator we work with our supphers to
ensure we can explain the benefits of these products and
demonstrate them to customers In our stores and our
suppliers support us n this work In a vanety of ways

2 Focus on complete solutions for customers The Pin Pont
tool enables the personalisation of the mobile customer
expenence Using tablets in store, we ask customers a
few simple questions to help them find the nght deal
The tocl will identify the preferred network wa its coverage
checker, handset and operating system, check bundle
ophions ncluding data requirements and ensure this 1s
future-proofed In consumer electromics, we do more than
simply sell the product, we will also get it working and keep
it working, as well as delvenng it, and providing peace of
mind through product support and after-sales services
The conversations our colleagues have in-store with
custormers give us an opportunity to explain the benefits
of these solutions and sell more of them than our .
single-channel competition
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3 Dnve our service proposition We need 10 be able to stand
shoulder to shoulder with our customers and for them to
know they can come to our stores and get knowdedgeable
advice and great service 1o help them buy the nght
product They need to be confident that we will solve their
problem quickly and efficiently Geek Squad inthe UK &
Ireland and Knowhow in the UK & Ireland and in the
Nordics offer customers services and technical support
that can hefp them with their product throughout its
Iifetime This 1s expanded in our second strategic prionty

4 Reduce costs The scale of our operations across stores,
ranges, logstics, distnbution, repars and services means
that we can continually improve processes to reduce
costs We have removed a considerable amount of cost
from the business over the last few years by making the
business simpler, easter to operate and more efficient, we
remasn relentlessly focused on managing costs to make
our business more efficient One of our pnncipal pnonties
n the coming year for improving cost efficiency is the
mmplementation of our UK & lreland property plan The
programme will, from 2017/18, result in ac £20 million per
annum recdluction In our operating costs as a result of
lower leasing costs

2. Leverage our scale, our knowhow,
and our unique infrastructure to
drive growth in new product areas
including growth in services

We continue to expand and strengthen cur proposition to
customers, our service capability and our relattonship with
supplers to underpin and dnve even greater advantage i the
markets in which we operate

Growing complexty and interconnectivity of products means
that customers are increasingty demandng help and support,
not just in choosing the nght product, but also installation,
connection, support and repar Our Geek Squad and
Knowhow services are at the forefront of this in the UK and we
have mtroduced our Knowhow senices across the Nordics

We must continue to innovate new services 1o help customers
and to rernain relevant to the way products and connectivity 1s
evolving Behund our end-to-end service operation we have a
comprehensive infrastructure, including technical phone
support, delwery, installation, repair and recycling We can
leverage this infrastructure to widen our customer base erther
to customers who bought therr products through a third party
{for exarnple, our faultdfix computer serwice), or for business
customers By doing this we can increase the efficiency of
using this infrastructure and deliver even better value services
to our customers

3. Continue to develop the Connected
World Services model and establish
it as a material contributor to
earnings

Connected Retading

We successfully completed a tnal of opening and operating
Spnnt stores in the US, resulting in the creation of a Connected
Retail joint venture and the agreement to roll cut 500 stores
over the next three years We have developed a new, more
cost-efficient tn-store format with an intended roll-out of at
least three per week over the next 12 months in addition, as
part of our IP work stream we have taken over the operation

of 27 Sprint-owned stores in Miami and Dallas and we are
nvestigating opportunities to create value from OEM partners,
online optimisation and store productivity improvements We
have a highly expenenced team based in Kansas managing the
operation on a day-to-day basis to ensure the full potential of
the agreement 15 reached We are working to identify our next
Connected Retal partner, focusing on high value markets with
competitive camer environments

Support and Services

We are now the second largest thurd-party provider of mobile
phones msurance in the UK, reaching agreement with RBS to
provide ongoing moebile device Insurance administration and
winning new business with EE and TakTalk The Dixons
Carphone Merger has given us the opportunity to broaden
our scope of services still further, enabling us to now provide
a unique and differentiated proposition throughout the mobile
value chain With the emergence of connectivity in more
industnes, the UK market 1s continuing to grow and increase
n complexity As aresuit we have identified a strong
opportunity pipeling

honeyBee software

honeyBee, branded Pin Point in Dixons Carphone, has been
transformational wathin our stores, processing over 250m
customer joumeys and achiewing class-teading customer
satisfaction scores Work 1s now progressing to expand its use
nto new categones and across all brands Excellent progress
has also been made in secunng honeyBee software contracts
in the US, with deals signed with Spnnt and a leading device
manufacturer, in addition to existing agreernents in the UK,
Canada and Germany The honeyBee proposition of
simphfying the delivery and managernent of complex digital
custorner joumneys has resonated well across several industres
and we now have an active pipeline in the Travel, General
Retail and Finance sectors, alongside significant opportunities
in our mobile heartland To achieve global scale quickly and
access new industry verticals, we have agreed a channel
distnbution deal with Accenture that utiises their in-market
client teams across the world to dnve honeyBee sales in all
relevant ndustnes
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Strategy and business model

Business model

Our core retan business model, dnven by customer insight,
compnses three pillars underpinned by a low-cost
operating model

In order 1o ensure we understand what products and services
our customers want, haw they use the products they buy trom
us and what they think of the service they get from us, we use
extensive custorner insights  This includes customer panels,
interviews, homa visits and detaled surveys We use this
information to bulld our ranges, improve our stores and
services and for other business decisions This is supported
by mystery shappers, exit surveys and customer feedback
During the year our UK & Ireland and Nordics businesses
continued to improve customer satisfaction metncs and
reached record highs

Taking each of the three piltars in tum, our model can be
described as follows

Multi-channel
The shopping tnp for customers 1s constantly evolving

Our ohjective 1s to provide our customers with a seamless
and personalised expenence where convenience, ease of
nawigation and simplicity are key In attracting customers o
shop with us whether it 1s online, in-store or a combination
of both

We constantly am to develop and improve our customer
journey whether via our assisted sales tool Pin Point or by
improving stores, making them easier ta shap n, with, for
example, improved navigation, better signage, and enabling
custamers to interact with products before they buy Within our
recently refitted stores, the TV and audio category 1S set up to
resemble a lving room enabling customers to expenence the
full sensation of a large wall-mounted 4K television with
sumound speakers These joumeys are supported by product
specialists providing expert advice on the products’ features
and benefits

Our websites are an integral part of the customer shopping
joumey in recognition of how customer trends are evolving we
have made it easier for our colleagues, in particular within our
CurmysPCWorld stores, to access products and extended
ranges in store

Qur traming programmes, combined with cur proguct learming
centres and custormer joumeys, provide our colleagues with
the nght tools to understand customers’ needs and to provide
them with the complete solution to properly meet those needs
We will continue to improve the training of our colleagues and
the ways in which we can make them experts in the products
we sell For example they have recently undertaken a new
training programme focusing on sefing multi-play

Products

Combining our customer insight with cur market-leading
presence we can make sure we have the nght range of
products and services in our stores to suit custormners’ needs
Our scale and relationships with suppliers mean that we can
work with them to showcase the latest technology,
connectivity and products in our stores with areas dedicated
to key suppliers

In consumer electronics, own-brand products enable us to
offer customers greater choice and access to arange of
products at competitive prices We have defined a clear ‘good,
better, best’ brand range including Currys and PC World
Essentals, Logik, Wantit, Advent, Goy, and Sandstrem brands
We see particular opportunities n the area of accessones and
essentals with, for example, our own range of Sandstremn
cables In addstion, we continue to focus on the roll-out of our
kitchen furmiture brand, Epoq, in the Nordics

After-sales services and support

Our customners need help with ther products, whether i be
delvery and installation, help keeping their products up and
running or repar should things go wrong Our business in the
UK & Ireland sets the benchmark for our services infrastructure
under our Geek Squad and Knowhow brands, the latter of
which 1s also avalable across the Nordics

We operate the largest network of two-man delivenes in the
UK with an average of 50,000 delvenes per weegk enabling us
to provide custermers with the converience of next-day
delivery in a four-hour time slot or the option of a free delivery
at alater date We repair more than 1m handsets per year and
provige over 11m INsurance oOf Service agreemeants, carry out
approximately 500,000 computing set-ups per year and take
125,000 technical support calls each week

Our Geek Squad and Knowhow teams in stares, in our call
centres as well as field technicians, can prowide set-up and
upgrade services and online fix and backup services Our
market-leading range of help and support services ensure a
customer has the backing of expertise and support that keeps
therr technology up and running Our state-of-the-art repair
facility n Newark is able to repair and retum a laptop in seven
days Our network of field technicians offer white goods

repatr in a market we estimate to be worth around £700 rmifhion
a year

Through ownership of the service infrastructure we can ensure
the quality of service delivered to customers This, we believe,
provides us with a significant competitive advantage in
meeting the needs of our customers, as well as a revenue
stream not read)ly avallable to single channel online and mass
market competitors
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Our resources

+ Customers

+ People

+ Supphers

» Distnbution and logistics
+ Store portfolio

+ Intellectual property

+ Energy

+ Cash and capial

Customers

We are dnven to provide unparalleled expertise and services to
help customers and busmesses navigate the new digital era
and one of our key values 15 We put the cuslomer first, always

To deliver on this value and to ensure we continue to respond
to customers' needs, we must listen and respond effectively
to them We have comprehensive customer research
programmes spanning a vanety of tocls including exit surveys,
mystery shoppers and focus groups as well as effective data
gathenng through, for example, our ‘Happy or Not' tools
jaunched in our Blkjep business and now introduced to
CurmysPCWorld Within our Carphone Warehouse stores, Net
Promoter Scores (NPS) are integral to our intemal reward
system We are pleased that customer satisfaction scores
across the business are at record levels

Through this research, managed internally and reviewed daily,
weekly and monthly, we have developed a clear and detaited
understanding of what we are doing well and more importantly
of where we can target further improvements Customers tell
us that they need us to deliver a strong cormbination of ‘Value,
Choice and Service’ across all our shopping channels and it 1s
increasingly clear from their feedback that they recognise that
wa are daing this We will continue to deliver easier, more
exciting places to shop for customers whether in store, onhine
or a mutti-channel combination of both

Lstening to custormers extends o how we approach the sales
process i store Our unique training programmes combined
with our customer joumeys are designed 1o ensure customers
leave our stores with a complete sotution that 1s nght for them
Doing this 15 a key part of our ongoing strategy and defvery of
a sustainable business model, as well as enabling us to
differentiate our offer from compettors

By maintaining our absolute focus on the customer and
delivenng what they want in a retad envirorment that 1s
constantly evalving, we will continue to attract new
customers and retain existing ones

People

Dixons Carphone 15 an orgarusation spanning Europe, with
over 42,000 colleagues in more than 2,200 stores, offices, call
centres and distnbution centres and one of our key pnorities
has been to builld one culture, one wision and one future

Our core values support this

* We put the custorner first, always

» We stand together as one

= We act bravely, challenge convention and do the nght thing
+ We know everyone can make a difference

« We believe anything is possible

These values support a ‘culture of discovery' and face head-on
the changing environment in which we operate Qur values
support us in cultivating a high performance environment
where each employee performs to the best of their ability,
working together to achieve to therr fullest potential Our
people are key to our success and it 1s essential that
colleagues are innovative and creative, customer-focused

and great at buillding relationstups

We are focused on improving every possible aspect of the
shopping joumey We want our colleagues to become famous
for service and we want to retain customers for hife by having
exciting new stores, with the best range at great pnces and
prowiding excellent after-sales support and service We are
making excellent progress, however, we can continue to
make mprovernents to delight customers and to outpace

the competition

For turther detals an employee related matters please see
our Corporate Responsibiity Report on pages 3010 33

Suppliers

As market leader with an excellent reputation in the consumer
electronics markets we have excepticnal relatonships with
supplers

In a complex muiti-channel ervironment, supplers trust us
with their new product releases and stock allocations, as they
appreciate the supenor service and adwvice offered by our
stores and indeed our websites, as well as the exciting
environments offered by our transformed stores in which
customers can expeanence their brands and products

We work closely with supplers of all sees to help them delver
the nght product for custamers, through the forecasting and
planming stages to ensure we deliver the nght levels of stock
for customers at the nght ime  Both the mobile and electnical
retall markets are charactensed by a number of large global
manufacturers, who account for a large proportion of our sales
However, we also source products from a large number of
smaller suppliers We seek to mantain strong relationships
with all of these suppliers, not just to source the nght product
for customers, but also to ensure the Group can purchase

the appropnate level of stock on favourable terms While we
utilise the Group’s scale and buying power through an
ntemational buying team, we also mantain strong
relationshups at a local level
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Our resources

We contmue to refine our own-brand ranges to sutt alt budgets
and tastes Our most notable successes have been the launch
of our own Sandstrem cables brand alongside our Essentials
ranges as key entry level products n our ‘good, better, best’
tine-up These products are sourced by the Group's teams
based in the UK, Nordics and Hong Kong in coltaboration with
manufacturers in, for example, Asia

Distribution and logistics

The Group sees distnbution as ong of the keys to success

n mantaining highly competitive margins and delivenng
cutstanding, market-beatmg service to customers We operate
a centralised system of distnbution centres for each of the
regions tn which we operate This delivers significant
competitive advantages, ncluding reduced operating costs,
reduced supplier delivery costs, reduced stock volumes in
store, increased flexibiity as to where to delver and when,

and a more efficient home delivery network for both us and
our customers Dunng the year we consolidated our
distnbution and repair centres with the integration of the former
mobite phone faciity at Wednesbury into our Newark site

While continuing to reduce costs, we are also constantly
raising the bar, both in terms of successful delivery and
installation rates, but also the range and quality of services
we offer customers nationwide {n our Nordic operations
{Jonkoping, Sweden) and the UK (Newark), we operate two
of the largest distnbution centres of therr kind in Europe The
Jonképing ste is also expanding to Incorporate an up-to-date
automated ‘small box' operation In the UK alone we now
make 50,000 delivenes per week, including some 500,000
installations per year

Store portfolio

We operate a wide vanety of stores to suit the local customer
demographics We operate many high street locations, small,
very popular outlets in arport locations, and ‘megastores’ up
to 60,000 sq ft, In out-of-town locations

We constantly review our store portfolio to ensure we have
the nght store for customers in the most compettive locations
As part of this ongoing review and following the roll-out of
Carphone Warehouse SWAS, in the UK & Ireland we are
wmplementing our 3-m-1 stores across the ‘big box’ property
porticho and when complete we will have over 300
CurrysPCWortd Carphone Warehouse 3-in-1 stores

These stores allow us to offer the best of both worlds to
customers, attracting new footfall and often at a lower cost

In the Nordic region as well as Greece and Spain we also
operate a number of franchise stores This amangement allows
our brands to be present in a wider range of catchments, while
increasing the volume of purchases and therefore buying
power of the Group and reducing our capital requirements

Intellectual property

Within cur Connected World Services dmwision we have
developed our pioneenng muti-channel assisted sales tool
Pin Pont powered by honeyBee We are also utiising our
intellectual property to assist third parties, such as Samsung
and now Spnnt, in connected retaiing

In the UK & Ireland we operate through Carphone Warehouse,
Currys and PC World brands, in the Nordics through our
vanous Elkjep group brands, in Greece through Kotsovolos,
and in Spain through Phone House These brands are
extremely well established and respected in thewr markets The
Group aiso has two strong service businesses, Knowhow and
Geek Squad, aming to delight customers from end to end
while generating significant new business opportunities

As well as our retail and service brands outlined above, we also
sell a range of own brand products such as Sandstram, Gop,
Logik, Essentials, Advent and Epoq Each of these brands
have specific target markets defined in conjunction with our
customer research findings

Energy

Saving energy 1s good for the business, good for customers
and of course good for the environment See our Corporate
Responsitility Report on pages 33 to 35 for details of the
Group's environmental matters

Cash and capital

It remains the Group's policy to maintain a strong capital base
so as 1o maintan nvestor creditor and market confidence and
to sustain the future development of the business Through
careful cash management and with a focus on cost reduction
as well as efficient use of capital, management 1s focused

on ensunng we deliver a sustanable business with strong
cash generation

As a Group we need to make the nght choices as 1o how each
dwision utiises or preserves cash, whether it 1s in determiming
ranges and stock held in store, growing mobite share with
accompanymng working capital utiisation or managing retums
and related processes
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Key Performance Indicators

Financial and operationat

What we measure” Why we measure Qur parformance
Headline The ability to grow revenue 15 an important measure of a brand's appeal to 2015/16 201415
revenue** customers and its competitive position It s a key measure of the Group's £9.738m £9.750m
progress against our strategic prionty to continue to enhance and drive ! !
successful and sustanable retall business models in a multi-channe! world
Like-for- Like-for-like reverue enables the performance of the Group to be 2015/16 2014/15
ke revenue measured on a consistent year-on-year basis 5% 6%
growth
Market In line with the Group's strategy to be the leading specialist electnical and Market-leading
position mobile retailer in Europe, this 15 an important measure of how well positions n
customers are being engaged by the Group's brands in each market UK & Ireland
Retailing operations should be, or be capable of becoming, the number Nordics
one specialist electrical or mobile retailler in therr market
Greece
Headlne Continued growth of Headline EBIT enables the Group o invest in its 2015/16 201415
EBIT™ future and provide a return for shareholders It s a key measure of £468m £413m
progress agamnst our strategic prionty to continue to enhance and drnive
successful and sustainable retall business models in a multi-channel! world
Headline Continued growth of Headline profit before tax represents a measure of 2015/16 2014/15
proit before Group performance to external investors and stakeholders against our £447m £381m
tax** strategic prionties
Free cash The management of cash usage, n particular working capital employed in 2015/16 2014/15
flow** the business, optimises resources available for the Group to investin its £202m £89m
future growth and to generate shareholder value
Return on ROCE is a key measure of the efficiency of the capital Invested by the 2015/16 2014/15
Capital Group and the long-term value created for our stakeholders 249, 20%
Employed
(ROCE)
Shareholder

What we measure

Why we mensure

Qur parfarmance

Headlme basic
earnings per
share** (EPS)

The level of growth in EPS provides a suitable measure of the financial
health of the Group and its abitty to deliver returns to shareholders
each year

2015/16 2014/15
29 3p 255p

*  Definions of measurement lor Key Performance Indicators are given i the glossary and definions on pages 154 to 156
*  Headline performance measures are as defined in the Pedormance Review These have been reported on a pro forma basis as if the Merger
had occurred at the start of the comparatve penod
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Principal risks to achieving the Group’s objectives

The Group recogrises that taking nsks is an inherent part of doing business and that competitive advantage can be gamned
through eHfectively managing nsk The Group continues to develop robust nsk management processes, integrating nsk
management into business decision-making The Group's approach te nsk management is set out in the Corporate Govemance
Report on pages 44 to 46 The principal nsks and uncertainties, together with their potential impacts, are set out in the tables
below along with an rllustration of what s being done to miigate them

Strategic Repart

Specific nsks and potential impacts

Principal risk Specific fsks Polgnliat impacts
1 Dependence on « The Group s dependent on relationships with key suppiers Reduced revente and profitability
networks and key to source products on which avalability may be hmited . Detenorating cash flow
liers
suppi « Changes in MNO strategies in refation to the Group or more Reduced market share

generally, and / or thew performance, could matenally affect the
revenues and profits of the busmess.

Mergers between the MNOs could lead to a change in their
strategies and relationshups with the Group

2 Consumer envirgnment + Failure to respond with 2 business model that enables the - Reduced revenue and profitability
and sustainable business to compete aganst a broad range of competitors on « Detenorating cash flow
business model service, pnce and / or range n a changing economy

- Reduced market share

Failure to respond effectively to changes n the ndustry,
economic and / or competitor landscape

Failure to accommodate changes in consumer preferences
and behaviours

3 Greek exit from Possible exit of Greece from the Euro (Grext') could lead to a - Reduced revenue and profitability
the Euro detenoration in consumer confidence and disposable income + Detenorating cash flow
resulting it a significant impact on our Greek business, Kotsovolos

4 1T systems and « Faillure to invest adequately and appropnately in IT systerns and + Reduced revenue and profitability
wfrastructure infrastructure, or an inability to effectively integrate T assets Detenorating cash flow
across the Group constrans the Group's abiity 1o grow and / or

« Loss of competitive advantage
Restncted growth and adaptability

adapt Quickly

A kay system becomes unavaslable for @ penod of tme

Reputational damage
|
5 Intormation secunty + Major loss of customer, colleague, or business * Reputatonal damage
sensitive data + Financial penalties
Vulnerabihity to attack, malware, and assocrated cyber nsks + Reduced revenue and profitability
owing 1o under-nvestment in people, systems and . Det 1 hfl
satequarding processes etenorating cash flow

* Loss of competitive agvantage

20 Dixona Carphona ple Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16



Example mitigating actions and related strategic pnonties

Strategic Repont

Expmple mitigating actions Change in nsk In 2015/16

+ Mufti-year commercial agreements are in place with all the maor MNOs, which closely align interests
and dnve value for both parties

+ Continuing to leverage the scate of operations to strengthen refationships wath key suppliers and This nsk has remained stable
maintain a good supply of scarce products over 2015/16

» Strategic and busmess planning takes into account varying economic scenancs, with ongoing
monitonng by finance and serior executives

+ Close scrutiny of product performance, trading results competitor activity and market share This nsk s unchanged as the nature
« Use of customer insight / advocacy to monitor success of mtiatives and actions and challengsas in our business
« Conbnued focus on dnving €os! tmprovements through cost-efficiency imbatives ;T?;T::;ram consisient with
* Ongaing evolution of our multi-channet propositon
+  Diflerentiation from compebitors through strategic partner relationships mnovative propositions, and
mgh quality cuslomer service
* Working to leverage expertise and scale to bulld partnerships with other retalers and businesses
through Connected World Services
* Development of consumer services
« A number of exit scenanes have been modelled in order to understand and mitigate the potentia
impact on the Group's business
+ Rewview of loca! funding arrangements including factonng of debtor receivables The threat of imminent Grexit has
» Reduchon in credit nsk exposure by tightereng control over customer credit amangements been averted Political instability and

economic uncertainty remain in
Greece but the siftuation 1s percewved
to be stabilising and our local
business continues to perform well
This nsk has decreased n hkebhood
but will remain on our nsk register
under a watching bnef

+ Swraificant nvestment beng made in [T systems and infrastructure across the Group, supported by

ngorous testing processes
» Post-merger IT transtormation to align T nfrastructure to future needs of the business This nsk has remained stable
- Indidual system recovery plans in place in the event of failure which are tested regulary, with full over 201516

recovery infrastructure availabte for cntecal systems
*+ Long-term partnerships with ‘tier 1" gpplication and infrastructure providers established

- Implementation of a UK&I information Secunty Improvement Plan
+ Investment in information secunty safeguards, 1T secunty controls, monitonng, in-house expertise

and resources Qur overall information secunty
- Committee compnsing senior management i UKB), set up with responsibibty for oversight, position has been hardened in
co-ordination and monitonng of information secunty pobcy and nsk response 1o increases in extemnal
* Recrutment of a Chief Information Secunty Cificer threals We continue fo undertake
significant management effort and
+ Ongoing training and awareness programmes for employees investment to reduce this nsk
+ Ongoing programme of penetration testing BXpOSUTe
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Principal risks to achieving the Group’s objectives

Specific nsks and potental impacts

Principal risk Speafic risky Porgnual impacts
6 Financial Conduct + Falure to manage the business of the Group in comphanice with = Reputational damage
f::glh;:‘tgnl‘FCA') FCA segulation 1o which the Group s subject i a numder of a1eas . Financial penalties
U including the mobile msurance operations of The Carphone
- es and profitabil
Warehouse Limited and the consumer credit actwities of DSG Reduced revenu P Y
Retail Luruted > Detenoraung cash flow
+ Customer compensation
7 Colleague retention « The organisatonal structure and related accountabilities - Reputatonal damage
and capability resinct the abilty to run the business effectively and adap! - Reduced revenue and profitabiity
to market change
« Detenorating cash fiow
« Falure to attract, develop and retain quahty and depth of "9
nacessary leadership and management talent Loss of competive advantage
« Matunng of iong term incentive schemes may ncrease nsk
of higher tumover in sen:or Management population
8 Busingss continuity < Amaor incident impacts the Group's ability to trade and business  +  Reduced revenue and profitability

plans are not effective
and major incident
response s inadecuate

continuity plansg are not effective resultting In an inadequate
incident response

Detenorating cash flow
Aeputational damage
Lass of competitive advantage

9 Fraud -

Payment card fraud

Manipulation or misusa of Electromic Point of Sale system and / or
other payment systems

Customer false identty and other ‘no intention to pay’ trauds

m taking out network contracts

Reduced revenue and profitatxhty
Reputational damage

10 Health and safety .

Failure to effectively protect customers and / or colleagues from
njury or loss of ife

Employee / customer inury or loss of life
Reputatwonal damage
Financial penalties

11 Impact of Brexit .

Ecomomic uncertainty and impact an consumer confidence caused
by the decision of the UK to leave the European Union {(‘Brexit’)
Further adverse exchange rale volatility

Longer term changes in tax, regulation and cther frameworks that
may impact our ability to operate across our European busimnesses

Reduced revenue and profitabihity
Detenorating cash flow
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Example mitigating actions and related strategic pnonties

Example miligating actons.

Changs i rigk in 201516

.

Board oversight and nsk management structures actively monitor compliance

Sentor management perform oversight co ordinaton and momnitonng of govemance, ensunng
regulatory compliance and adherance to policy and monitoring of mitigating actions

Internal committees, including a decicated FCA complance committee, and control structures to
ensure appropnate comphance (e g undertaking quality assurance procedures for samples of mobale
phona sales) and to react swiltly should 1ssues anse

Ongoing Investment in tha complance team

Continuous review of the operation and effectiveness of comphance standards and ¢ontrols with the
development of control improverment plans where requied

New trairing programmes for colleagues implemented across the retail estate

Swatagic Report

This nsk has increased over
2015/16 due to the expansion

of the FCA's regulatory regime
into consumer credit and a general
increase In regulatory focus across
our operations

Ongotng review to enswe appropnate and effective roles responsibiliies, and accountabihites
Defined and standardised performance management frameworks in place, with talent and succession
plans maintained and reward aligned to attract and relain the best talent

Store structures which prowde a clear career path for colleagues retaining and developng the best
retail talent

Bonus plans which include components retating to both business and personal performance
Continued improvements in the quality of training courses and development programmes with
specialist focus on core business areas

Development of appropnate succession planning, as se1 oul o the Norminatons Cormmittee Repon
on pages 55 to 56

This nsk has remained stable
over 201516

Business continutly and crisis management plans in place and tested for key business locations
Disaster recovery plans in place and tested for key T sysiemns and data centres

Crnsis team appointed to manage response to significant events

Major nsks insured

This nsk has remained stable
over 2015/16

Fraud prevention and detection conirols

Real-time transaction monitonng

24/7 fraud and loss prevention leams

Customer identity venfication and credit checks for network contracts

Liarson with banks, card providers and MNOs 1o dentify and mibigate opportunities for fraud
Reportng and oversight by the Audit Committee

Whistle-blowing amangements

This nsk has remaned stable |
over 2015/16

Single Group health and safety policy

Health and safety manager and team located across business units and markets
Comprehensive set of policies and standards supporting continued improvement

Risk assessment programme covenng retail, support centres, distnbution and home services
Health and safety training and devetopment framework

Health and safety inspection programme

Audtt programme including factory audits for awn brand products and third-party supply chains

I
|
A comprehensive Lntemal review {
of health and safety processes I
after the Merger has resulted na

reassessment of the nsk We continue

to develop and implement policies,

procedures and practices 1o mitigate

this nsk

Long-term credit facilikes in place
Foreign exchange hedging to mitigate impact of cumency fluctuation
Long-term contingency planning to address wider requiatory and legislatve changes

New nsk
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Performance review

Highlights: 12 months to 30 Apnl 2016"
« Group hke-for-Iike revenue* up 5% (UK & Ireland up 6% and Nordics up 4%)
« Strong profit performance
~ Headline PBT" of £447 milkon (2014/15 £381 milkon}, up over 17%
— Headlne basic EPS™M™ 20 3p (2014/15 25 5p)
— Total statutory profit of £161 miftion (2014/15 £97 million) after Non-Headline!” charges of £176 million
(2014115 £188 mullion) which include a loss from discontinued operations of £18 milon (201415 £114 mithon})
« Fres cash flows™ of £202 milhon (2014/15 £89 milkon) and net debt broadly flat year-on-year at £267 milhon

Final dwidend of 6 50p (2014/15 6 00p) proposed, taking total dividends for the year to 9 75p (2014/15 8 50p), up 15%
year-on-year
+ Spnnt joint venture in the US expected to contribute $40 million - $50 mullion of annual EBIT 1o the Group by 2019/20

+ honeyBee platform second major clent signed

Headhne results*®

Headline revenuo™ Headline profit / (loss)f"
2015716 201415 wr::::;"' Like for-ike' 2015/16 2014/15
Note Cmallion E£milion % change % change Lrullion Eradiion
UK & lrefand 5 6,404 6,314 2% 6% 365 305
Nordics 6) 2,632 2,709 6% 4% 79 86
Southemn Europe " 550 606 {5)% 4% 17 15
Connected World Services ® 152 21 26% N/A 7 7
Group 9,738 9,750 3% 5% 468 413
Net finance costs 21 (32)
Profit before tax 447 381
Tax {110) {88)
Profit after tax 337 293

*Baais of preparation - pro forma informahon

On 6 August 2014 an all-share Merger of Carphone Warehouse and Dixons Retail took place The pnor period information in the hghiights and
performance review sections refers, unless otherwise stated, to pro forma Headine™ mformation for continuing businesses, reflecting the results
of both Garphone Warehouse 2nd Dixons Retail throughout the comparative penods as o the Merger had occurmed at the start of the
comparative penod

Foltowing the Mergar, the Group changed its year end to be the Saturday closest to 30 Apnl The 2014715 financial year as disclosed in the
2014715 annual report and accounts therefore compnsed the 13 months to 2 May 2015 for the Carphone Warehouse business In this
Annual Report and Accounts, the pro forma pror penod results of the Carphone Warehouse business have been restated 10 exclude the
resuits of the five weeks' trading to 3 May 2014 to enable a better year-on-year companson

A reconciliation from statutory to pro forma financial information 1s prowded on pages 151 to 152

Notes

{1} Headline results exclude amortisation of acquisition intangibles, Merger integration and transaction costs, property ratenaksaton costs,
acquisiion-related costs and other one-off, non-recuming items, net mierest on defined benefit pension schemes and discontinued
operations (compnsing Virgin Mobile France and Phone House operations m Germany, Netherands and Portugall Such excluded tems are
described as 'Non-Headiine* For further detals see notes 4 and 25 to the financial statements

2) Proforma EPS for the peniod ended 2 May 2015 has been calculated assuming the number of shares ex:sting at 2 May 2015, adjusted for
the number of shares held by the Group ESOTS, were n existence for the entire financial pencd

(3) Change inlocal currency revenue reflects total revenues on a constant currency and pencd bass

{4) Like-for-hike salas are defined in the glossary and defiritions on pages 154 to 156

{5} UK & Ireland compnses aperations in the UK and Ireland and the Dixons Travel business

{6) Nordics compnses operations in Norway, Sweden Finland, Denmark and Ieeland

{7} Southem Europe compnses operations 1 Spain and Greece

{8} Connected Werld Services compnses the Group's B2B operation which leverages the specialist skills, operating processes and technology
of the Group to provide managed services to third parties looking to develop their own connected world solutions

(9} Free Cash Flow compnses cash generated from / {ulilised by) conlinuing operations before special pens:ion cantnbutions, less net finance
expense, less income tax paid and net capital expenditure
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Pro forma Headline resuits

The performance review below refers, unless otherwise stated,
to pro forma Headhne information for continuing businesses
The basis for the preparation of this information s descnbed
on page 24

Group

Group Headline revenue was up 3% on a local currency basis
but broadly flat in Sterling terms at £9,738 rmullion (2014/15
£9,750 mition) Like-for-ike revenue growth was 5%, reflecting
strong growth n cur UK & Ireland, Nordic and Greek
businesses The difference between the total revenue growth
on a local cunrency basis and ike-for-like 1s predomuinantly

due 1o a reduction in stores n the UK dunng the year and a
decision to reduce low-margin wholesale actvity The Group
has continued to grow market share, despite operating ina
highlty competitive marketplace

Head!ine EBIT was up 13% to £4568 million {2014/15 £413
millon} dnven by the strong operating performance in the
UK & Ireland and the delivery of synergy benefits refated
to the Merger Headline profit before tax was £447 milkon
{2014/15 £381 mdiion) reflecting 17% growth from the
improved EBIT and a lower interest charge year-on-year
followsng the redemption of the bonds previously held by
Dixons Retail in August 2014

Integration of the two businesses 1S now largely complete with
a single head office in each of the countries where Carphone
and Dixons overtapped, one logistics and repair centre in the
UK and 276 Carphone Warehouse SWAS now open

UK & lreland

Revenue tn the UK & Ireland increased by 1% to £6,404 million
(2014/15 £6,314 milion) Like-for-like revenue for the year was
up 6% reflecting mobile phone market share gains along with
good growth in electricals The difference between the total
revenue growth and like-for-like predormnantly reflects a
reduction in stores This revenue growth combined with cost
and synergy savings has resufted in Headline EBIT increasing
20% to £365 million The business has continued 1o gain
market share helping to dnve sales and EBIT Our purchase

of Smplifydigital - the UK's largest and fastest growng
multi-channel switching platform - leaves the businass
well-positioned to benefit from growth in the multi-play market

The electncals business has delivered a very solid result with
growth in the sale of white goods offsetting weaker demand in
computing Television sales perfformed well, especially given
the World Cup last year

The mobile business performed extremely well dunng the year
Post-pay volumes and market share have grown year on year,
with the business benefiting from additional SWAS stores, the
performance of our 1D mobile operations, and market share
gans following the closure of Phones 4uin the pnior year

in January 2016 we launched a programme to roll out our
3.n-1 store concept S0 as to create the store estate of the
future This will involve mergmg the remaining PC World and
Cumrys stores and inserting a Carphone Warehouse m stores
that have not yet got ong This programme will reduce our

store estate by 134 but will significantly improve the store
expenence for our customers and colleagues, and we expect
the impact on sales o be neutral or better Given that the
programme will be implemented dunng 2016/17, we expect
that the benefit to 2016/17 eamings will be modest, but
thereafter this actvity will coninbute approximately £30 million
of tncremental EBITDA

Al the start of the year the Group launched D, a new mobile
network focused on providing users with mcreased contract
flexibility, greater access to free data roarming and
competitively pnced 4G tanffs The performance of iD in the
UK has been very positive and the business now has an active
customer base of over 335,000 subscnbers

Nordies

The Nordic business has performed well in a challenging
economic environment, delivering 6% growth on a local
currency basis However, revenue in Sterling was down 3% to
£2,632 millon {2014/15 £2,709 million) predominantly due to
the devaluation of the Norwegian Krona relative to Sterling

Like-for-like revenue was up 4% desprte the challengng
commercial environment and some aggressive competitive
prncng The growth n like-for-like revenue was dnven by white
goods, mebiles and laptops, offsetting weakness in PCs and
lablets We have continued to focus on ensunng competitiva
pncing aganst pure players, albeit with some margin impact

In local currency, our Nordic business delivered record
eamings but, due to the adverse movement in foreign
exchange, both from translation of local currency results
into Sterling, as well as margin pressure due to increased
buying costs, Nordic Headline EBIT was £79 million
(2014/15 £86 mulhon}

The Merger has continued to benefit the Nordics with the
launch of Elkjep Phonehouse stores in Norway, and the
integration of Phone House Sweden into ElGiganten The
extension of the Jonkoping warehouse to create Europe's
most advanced small products distnbution centre Is also
progressing weil

In November 2015 InfoCare, a services and repair business,
was acquired i order to further the Group’s services strategy
This business has now been successfully integrated into the
wider Nordics business The Epoq kichen business also
continues to delver very encouraging results with strong
revanue growth dnving market share and applance sales

Southern Europe

Southemn Europe had strong underlying results with like-for-like
revenue up 4%, largely driven by the busingss in Greece which
continues to perform extremely well in the face of a challenging
ervironment The Greek business benefited from strong
growth in white goods and tablets, wiuch more than offset
some weakness in TV and laptops following the end of a
government laptop promction in the prior year Whilst post-pay
volumes were down in Spain we continue to pivot the model in
ling with the market to offer multi-play, ssm-cnly and handset
cnly, whilst successfully retaining our market share
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Strategic Report

Performance review

Revenue on a local curency basis was down 5%, though

up In Greece despite the Greek business reducing volumes

in the low margn whalesale business The Spanish business
continued to shift its store mix to franchise and away from
owned stores, with owned stores down 52 to 249 but with an
ncrease in franchise stores from 198 to 248 Southemn Europe
has reported a year-on-year 9% deciine in Headhne revenue
to £550 million (2014/15 £606 mullion) reflecting the factors
above and a weaker Euro for much of the financial year

Southem Europe Headline EBIT was £17 milion
(2014/15 £15 milion), up 13%

Connected World Services

Connected World Services ('CWS") has continued to grow,
delvenng revenue of £152 million, up from €121 milion in the
pnor year We are announcing new developments in three of
the distinct business areas within CWS - connected retailing,
technology platform and support & services

In connected retaling, following the success of the tnal stores
we have agreed 10 roll out up 1o 500 stores with Spnint in the
US, including ¢ 150 in the year ahead Separately we continue
to expand on our consultancy agreement with Sprint and
deliver significant benefits to both parties, including operating
27 of Spnnt's own stores in Miami and Dallas The joint venture
continues to go from strength to strength and we expect it to
contnbute $40 million - $50 mallion to the Group's annual EBIT
by 2019/20

Within our technology platform business, we have reached
agreement with Sprint to roll out honeyBee across the entire
Sprint estate in the US

In support and services, we am to be the UK's largest
third-party provider of mobile phone insurance We have
agreed a new third-party mobile insurance contract in the UK
with EE, we have extended an existing contract with RBS and
we have entered into a significant new distnbution agreement
with TalkTalk to support the sales and distnbution of mobile,
TV and broadband connectivity

Wae rematn very excited about CWS's prospects and continue
to invest 1n building the team and infrastructure to support the
growth potential of this business CWS's result for the year of
£7 million (2014715 £7 rmillion) 1s after a £4 rmillion share of
losses from the joint venture ansing on the Spont venture and
15 a result that we consider satisfactory and in Iine with
expectations

Net finance costs

Headline net finance costs were £21 million (2014/15 £32
mitlion) The reduction in financing costs was pnmanly due to
the redemption of the bonds previousty held by Dixons Retail
on 21 August 2014 and the Group's new revolving credit
facility meurnng a lower rate of interest

Tax

The Headline sffective tax rate for the full year s 25%

(201415 23%) The rate s higher than the UK statutory rate of
20% due mamly to higher statutory rates in the Nordics, certain
non-deductible items mainty in the UK and a reduction in the

value of UK-related deferred tax assets due to the forthcoming
reductions in the UK statutory tax rates

Cash and movement on net funds

The pnot penod nformation provided below 1s on a pro forma
bass and aggregates the net funds / (debt) and cash flows of
the Group and Dixons Retail, as though Dixons Retanl had been
100% owned by the Group throughout the pnor perod, to
enable a complete understanding of cash flows

Free Cash Flow - pro forma basis
201518 201415

Emillion Tmillion
Headline EBIT 468 413
Depreciation and amortisation 137 137
Working capital (76} (159)
Capital expenditure {221) (182)
Taxation (56} (62)
Interest {31) {(46)
Other items 24 4
Free cash flow before restructuning
itemns - continuing operations 245 105
Restructunng costs {49) (16}
Free Cash Flow 202 89

Free Cash Flow before restructuring was an inflow of

£245 rullion (2014/15 €105 milon), an increase of 133%

The Group expenenced a working capital outfiow of £76 million
(2014715 £159 millior), being an improvement on the previous
year which included a non-recurnng unwind of certain supplier
funding arrangements

Capital expenditure m the penod was £221 millkon

{2014/15 £182 milhon), lower than anticipated, reflecting tight
management of capex spend The year-on-year ncrease
reflected spend on Carphone Warehouse SWAS, investment in
IT platforms and continued development in both our retad and
Connected World Services businesses We continue to keep
tight management of our capex spend as well as other
integration activities

The reduction in interest reflects the pnor year ncluding
interest paid on the bonds prewiously held by Dixons Retail
until August 2014 and the Group's new revolving credit facility
ncumng a lower interest rate

Restructuring costs in both the current year and pnor year
relate to Merger integration costs and primanly reflect
employee severance and incentive costs, property costs
associated with the integration process and professional fees
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Funding - pro forma basis

200516 201415

Income statement - continuing operations

2015716 2014n5

£million £mBlon Emliron £mikon
Free Cash Flow - pro forma basis 202 89 Revenue 9,738 8,255
Dividends (1086) {52) EBIT 304 324
Merger transaction costs - (90} Net finance costs {41) (37}
Acquisitions and disposals inciuding Profit before tax 263 287
discontinued cperations 82) 2 1ax (84) (76)
Penston contributions (35) (28} Profit after tax 179 211
Other dems 14 ~_. Basic EPS 156p 22 0p
Movement in net funds / (debt) —
pro forma basis n 9) Diluted EPS 151p 212p
O;l;enlng net funds / (debt) - pro forma 260 181 Revenue tncreased 18% to £9,738 million reflecting the
asis (260) (81) inclusion of a full 12 months' eamings from Dixons Retad in the
Closing net (debt) (267) {260)  cument year (pnor penod results from 6 August 2014 to 2 May

(1) Opening net debt in the current penad reflects the consolidated
net debt of the Group at 2 May 2015 including net funds
recognised withun assets held for sale of £53 milicn Opening net
debt in the comparative reflects nel debt for Carphone Warehouss
at 29 March 2014 and {or Dixons Relail at 30 Aprl 2014

At 30 Apnl 2016 the Group had net debt of £267 millicn,
broadly flat year-on-year to net debt of £260 mullion in the
comparative period Free cash flow was an inflow of
£202 milkon {2014/15 €89 million) for the reasons
descnbed above

Merger transaction costs in the previous year reflected
professional and banking fees, the cash cost of share option
exercises as a result of the Merger and the cost of redeeming
the bonds previously held by Dixons Retal Net cash cutflows
from acquisitions and disposals in the current year were

£82 milhon pnmanly compnsing the final deferred payment for
the CPW Europe Acquisitron, the acquisiions of Smplfydigital
and InfoCare, and discontinued operations

The increase in pension contnbutions reflects the agreed
contnbutian profile following the 2013 tnenmal valuation

On 8 October 2015 the Group signed a new multi-cumrency
revolving credit facility for £800 mithon, which matures in
October 2020 and replaced the multi-currency term and
revolving credit faciity which was previously in place

Statutory results

The explanation of the Group's results presented above ison a
pro forma Headliine basis for the comparative penod Group
results as reported in the financial information are prepared on
a statutory basis, with the comparative penod consolidating
the results of Dixons Retail from 6 August 2014 These results
are summansed below

2015) offset by the additional month trading for the Carphone
Warehouse businesses in the prior perod

Profit before tax reduced from £287 million to £263 milhon n
the current penod, targety due to non-Headline costs incured
in the current year in refation to the Merger and property
rationalisation costs, which are explained later in this report

Net finance costs have increased due to the inclusion of a full
12 months of Bxons Retall, resulting in higher finance lease
and pension-related interest

The tax charge increased from £76 million to £84 million
reflecting certain non-deductible non-Headline items in the
cumrent year

Basic EPS has reduced from 22 Op to 15 6p for the pertod due
to the lower profit after tax and the increase in the number of
shares of the Group as part of the Merger

Non-Headhine tems

Statutory profit before tax of £263 millon {2014/15 £287
millon) Includes Mon-Headline charges of £184 million
(2014715 £89 milllon) These charges are analysed below and
are reporied on a statutory basis with the Dixons Retail
business only conscldated from completion of the Merger on
6 August 2014

2015186 201415

Emillon tmillign

Merger-related costs {52) (41)

Amortsation of acquisiion intangibles {40) {(35)
Property rationalisation costs {70) -
Acquisition-related costs (6) -

Net penston interest (16) {13}

{184) {89)

Costs incurred in relation to the Merger relate to integration
costs pnmanly being professional fees, employee severance
and property costs assocrated with the integration process
(2014/15 £32 million) In addition, duning 2014/15 transaction
costs of €9 mithon were incurred, predorminantly reflecting
banlng and professional fees Merger-related costs also
includes the wnte-off of £4 miflion deferved facility fees which
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were incurred as a result of the Merger and the financing
required to facitate the Merger at short notice

The charge for the amortisation of acquisition intangibles was
£40 rmillion {2014/15 £35 rmilhon) with the curent penocd
including a tull 12 months of amortisation of ntangible assets
recognised as a result of the Merger (2014/1 5 penod from

6 August 2014 1o 2 May 2015} The pror perod charge also
includes amortisation for 13 months for those intangibles
recognised as a result of the CPW Europe Acquistion whilst
the cumrent penod reflects a 12 month penod

As explained on page 25, the Group has initated a
recrganisation of #s property portfolio to put it into its
fong-term state The costs associated with this programme
relate to committed property exit Costs, asset wnte-downs and
operational costs associated with the 3-in-1 store concept

roll out across the UK & Ireland

Acquisition-related costs in the pencd relate to professional
fees incurred in the cument year as a result of the acquisition
of Simplifydigital n the UK and InfoCare i the Nordics and the
revaluation of deferred consideration payable to the former
shareholders of the Epog kitchen business in the Nordics
following a reassessment of the hikely final payment to be
made on the back of recent trading performance

Net pension interest was £16 million reflecting the charge
incurred in relation to the Dixens Retall UK pension scheme
The current penod charge reflects a full 12 months whilst the
pnor penod charge refated to that incurred from the date of
Merger to the 2 May 2015 penod end

Discontinued operations

As reported at 2 May 2015, Virgin Mobile France and the
Group’s retail operations n Germany, the Netherdands and
Portugal were treated as discontinued operations following the
decision to ext these businesses The assets and habilities
associated with Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal were
recognised as held for sale at 2 May 2015 The sale of
operations in Germany was completed on 5 May 2015, the
Netherlands on 30 June 2015 and Portugal on 31 August 2015
Virgin Mobxle France was sold on 4 December 2014 in the
provious financal year

A loss of £18 millien (201415 £114 mullion) has been
recogrised dunng the year in relation to the disposal of these
operations

Batance sheet

20n516 2014115

Emillon Emikon
Goodwill 3,054 2,989
Other fixed assets 906 852
Working capitat (361) {387}
Net debt {267) (313)
Tax, pension & other {472) 378}

2,860 2,763

The movement in gooawill s due to the acquisiion of
Simphfydigital and InfoCare, and the retranslation of cumency
denomunated balances largely in the Nordics Fixed assets

have Increased, with the higher capital expenditure dunng the
year exceeding amortisation and depreciation Working capital
has stayed fiat, whilst net debt has decreased with posttive
cash fiows dunng the year as descnbed below Other net
labilities {tax, pension & other} have increased following the
disposal of assets held for sale (pnmanly in relation to Phone
House Germany}

Cash flow statement
201518 201415
frmllien Smillcn
EBIT 304 324
Depreciation and amorhsation 177 149
Working capital {14} {377)
Other operating cash flows (73) (53)
Cash flows from operating activities 394 43
Acquisitions (59) 322
Capital expenditure (221} (166)
Other investing cash flows 24 20
Cash flows from investing actvities (256) 176
Pwidends paid {108) (52)
Other financing cash flows (11) (290)
Cash flows from financing actwities {117 (342)
Cash flows from continuing operations 21 {123)
Cash flows from discontinued
operations 32 3
53 {120)

The statutory EBIT for the Group has reduced for the reasons
explained above Depreciation and amortisation have
ncreased with the prior penod only including mine months

of Dixons Retall Working capital has stayed relatively flat
year-on-year whiist the outflow in the pnor penod was due to
tming 1ssues associated with the change of year end and the
day an which month end fell, as well as a permanent unwind
of certain extended supplier payment terms

Acquisition cash inflows in the comparative penod reflects
cash acquired through the Dixons Retal Merger whulst
cash outflows in the curmrent year compnse the final CPW
Europe Acquisition deferred payment and the acquisiions
of Simplitydigital and infoCare The increase in capital
expenditure reflects both a full 12 months of Dixons Retail
and an increase in underlying spend

The reduction in financing outflows 1s due to the pnor penod
including the pay down of ioans and borrowings of Dixons
Retail soon after the Merger whilst borrowings have remaimed
relatively flat year-on-year in the current penod Cash inflows
from discontinued cperations largely relates to consideration
on the disposal of Phone House Germany
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Comprehensive income / changes in equrty

Total equity of the Group has increased from £2,763 million to
£2,860 millicn pnmanly reflecting the total statutory profit of
£161 milion, the gain on retranslation of overseas operations
of £66 milon and the payment of dividends of £106 million

Other matters

Penstons

The IAS 19 accounting deficit of the defined benefit section

of the UK pension scheme of Dixons Retall amounted o

£472 million at 30 Apnl 2016 compared to £486 million at

2 May 2015 Contnbutions during the period under the

terms of the deficit reduction ptan amounted to £35 mithon
(2014/15 £28 milion} The deficit has decreased largely as a
result of the contnbutions made to the scheme dunng the year

Dwvidends

The Board declared an intenm dvidend of 3 25p per share, up
from 2 50p per share last year The intenm dividend was pard
on 22 January 2016

We are proposing a finat dividend of § S0p per share, taking
the total dwvidend for the year to 9 75p per share, a 15%
increase on the previous year (2014/15 8 50p) The final
dividend is subject to shareholder approval at the Company's
forthcomning Annual General Meeting The ex-dwidend date is
25 August 2016, with a record date of 26 August 2016 and an
intended final dividend payment date of 23 September 2016

Going concem

A review of the Group’s business activiies, together with the
factors likely to affect s future development, performance and
posttion, are set out wathin this Strategie Report, including the
nsk management section The financial position of the Group,
its cash flows, hquidity position and borrowing facibties are
shown in the balance sheet, cash flow statement and
accompanying notes to the Group financial statements

The directors have reviewed the future cash and profit
forecasts of the Group, which they consider to be based on
prudent assumptions Based on these forecasts, the directors
consider that it 1s appropnate to prepare ihe Group financiat
staternents on the gong concem basis

Viability statement

In accordance with provision C 2 2 of the UK Corporate
Govemnance Code 2014, the Directors have assessed the
viabiity of the Group over a penod longer than the 12 months
covered by the going concem provision noted above

The Board concluded that a penod of three years was
appropnate for this assessment as it 1s consistent with the
penod of focus of the annual strategic plan and reflects a
pertod of greater certainty over forecasting assumptions

In assessing the viability of the Group, the Directors have
considered the Group's current position and prospects, nsk
appetite, and those prncipal nsks and mitigating actions as
descnbed on pages 20 to 23 of the Strategic Report

The strategic plan considers the forecast revenue,

EBITDA, working capital, cash fiows and funding requirements
on a business by business basts as well as the available
barrowing facdities to the Group over the assessment penod
and the financial covenants with which those facilities must
comply The strategic plan has been subject to robust stress
testing, modelling the impact of a combination of severe but
plausible adverse scenanos based on those pnncipal nsks
facing the Group

Based on the results of this analysis, the directors have an
expectation that the Company will be able to continue in
operation and meet its llabilities as they fall due over the
three-year penod of therr assessment In doing so, it1s
recognised that such future assessments are subject to

a level of uncertainty and as such, future outcomes cannot
be guaranteed or predicted with certamnty

Humphrey Singer
Group Finance Director
28 Junae 2016
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Corporate Responsibility

Dixons Carphone 1s committed to high standards of corporate and social responsibility (CSR') across the Group The table below
provides an overview of our key corporate and social responsibility panciples and their interaction with our business mode!

At Dixons Carphone we

« Simpity the mobile, technology and elecincal word

+ Make the potentral of connected technology accessible and affordable for everyone
+ Provide unparalleled expertise and service to help nawigate the new digital era

Business Products Multi-channel Support
model Work with supphers to showcase Provide customers with seamless Set the benchmark for support, gaintng
the latest technology, connectivity | engagerment and support, whether a signiicant competitive advantage in
and products onling, n persaon or a combpination meeting the needs
of the two of our custormars
CSR ambition Understand how technology can be used to tackle social issues, then leverage our skills, expenence and position
dnven by to support communities, connected homes and the farmibes within them, by helping to ensure occupants feel
insights properly equipped, sate and confident to explore the connected world
CSR modet Innovate Coliaborate Invest

Deliver transformative change

Collaborate with stakehoiders

Invest n initiatives directly or indirectly

through inncvation as partners

which benefit the communities in
which we operate

CSR impacts Peopte

Connected community Environment

Supply chain

CGSR Creats a great place 1o

talent and ensunng
opportumties for
employees to grow ther
careers, adopt healther
Itestyles and engage
with good causes

Make a positive impact as Strive for a sustamable
principles work, attracting the best a valued member of the
community while building wastage angd optimise
rand loyalty and trust efficiency value chain

Operalg an ethical
business, valsng nghts
and prospenty across our

envirgnment, minsmise

We are committed to building a sustainable, responsible
and ethical bustness We histen to customers, shareholders,
employees and wider communities to understand ther
expectahons and ensure they are reflected in our business
decisions We believe good sustainability practices make
sound business sense, not only to benefit the environment,
stakeholders and the commurities In which we operate,
but to achieve our strategic pnorities

Cur approach to corporate responsibiity means taking
business decisions guided by our values and code of ethics

People

Our people are cur endunng advantage and we invest in
ensunng we attract the best talent, that they reman engaged,
high-performing and are able to delver a great custorner
expenence at all imes We remain focused on embedding our
combined values through existing ways of working and in
2015/16 we introduced the You're Electnc recognition scheme
across the entire estate, using vanous channels to recogrise
great performance and behaviours aligned to our values

We continue to make good progress integrating our teams and
harmonising our tools and processes to create a consistent
expenence for every colleague while creating exciting
opportunhes that encourage themn to grow therr careers with
us through different roles, brands and functions

Engaging our colleagues

We know an engaged workforce delivers a great customer
expenence, which supports strong financial results This 1s why
our key aim 15 10 communicate openly and honestly with
colleagues to give them a voice while cultivating pnde in
working for Dixons Carphone In 2015/16 we launched a
combined colleague engagement survey across the Group,
administered by an external provider Colleagues use this
balanced scorecard to tell us how they feel about working for
Dixons Carphone and therr feedback s used to develop
targeted mitiatives to help us monitor performance, make

the nght decisions, recognise success and ensure our
company remains a great place to work New communication
platforms have been launched in the UK & Ireland 1o ensure we
provide modem toals with an emphasis on collaboration and
peer-to-peer communication Further roll-outs are planned for
2016/17 We will continue to produce Connected, a hard copy
magazine for cur 42,000 employees This communication
consistently receves positive feedback from colleagues and in
September 2015 it received an industry award for Best New
Publication from the Institute of Intemal Communications
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Investing in colleague expertise

To help our people grow therr careers at Dixons Carphone and
develop the skills needed to perform wellin therr role and help
to grow our business, we provide formal traning, on-the-job
expenence and management coaching We have a leaming
strategy to support our business strategy and all new
colleagues have a 90-day plan to set themn up for success In
ther role Colleagues have regular one-to-ones and a formal
review twice a year with therr manager to discuss their current
performance and consider future development and career
plans Across Dixons Carphone over 200,000 leaming hours
were recorded last year with over BD% of this leaming
completed digitally All trairing 1s designed to support us in
becoming trusted experts for our customers We also run
talent and leadership development programmes to develop
high achievers and to improve leadership skills across our
management population

Employee benefits

Qur employee benefits packages are regularly reviewed to
rematn attractive and conducwe to the recruitment and
retention of talented individuals Colleagues are encouraged to
participate In our SAYE scheme to build a persanal stake in the
business We work to achieve high standards in employment
practices and have a comprehensive suite of employment
policies and procedures, which we regularly review These
policies include guidance on beng family-fnendly through to
colleague dispute managermnent, ethical conduct, dversity and
equal opportunities

Health and wellbeing

Through the promotion of employee wellbemg, we am to
create a truly happier, healthier and more productive
workforce, at the same time as reducing time off through
sickness and ensunng optimurm Jevels of energy and resilence

Healthy lving 1s encouraged through a number of iniiatives
and faciities On-site gyms are available in many of our mamn
support centres along with restaurants offenng a range of
foods, which are reviewed regularly to ensure they offer a
healthy, balanced menu Our Employee Assistance
Programme, which s available 24/7 to all our employees, offers
arange of nformation about 1ssues such as stress and
nutrition A number of products and services are also avalable
to support employees, such as private medical insurance,
dental nsurance and a Health Cash Plan These products are
available at special corporate rates to employees and
subsidised rates for close family members

In 2016/17 wa are participating in Mercer's Britain's Fitest
Workplace survey and will use the resutting data to spot wider
health nsks to our employees as well as identify actions to
reduce absence rates and increase employee engagement

Average to Awesome

This UK wellbeing imitiative focused on transforming 12
employees’ overall attitude to health and fitness With the
support of a specialised personal trainer, tallored nutntion
plans and the latest fitness technology, we recorded their
combined weight loss at 78 3kg over the 12-week penod
They were each given a Fitbit Surge to record traming
performance and overall activity levels and Fitbit Ana scales
to monitor werght, body fat and BMI between official
wemgh-ins The participants developed a strong bond and
have contnued positive changes to therr lifestyle habits
Many now run regularly as part of the:r new heaithy regime
and are taking on new personal challenges and events as
a direct result of this iIntiative We are repeating this
programme in 2016 with a new intake of colleagues

Equal opportunities

We are committed to equality of opportunity across afl of our
employment practces throughout the Group We strve to
prevent unlawful discnmination in the workplace on the
grounds of sex, race, disability, sexual onentation, religion or
rehgious belief, age, mamage and civil partnership, gender
reassignment, pregnancy and matemity We promote an
honest and open environment and encourage colleagues with
concerns o report Issues to us either directly through kne
managers or via an independent, confidential integnty hne

Disability

We encourage applications from individuals with disabilities
who ¢an do the job and candidates will be considered for each
role they apply for Every effort 1s made to retain disabled

colleagues in our employment, including making any reasonable
readjustments to their jobs, workplace or environment

Diversity

We value the benefits a diverse workplace brings, including,
but not restncted to, gender diversity and we recognise the
imporiance diversity plays in achieving the nght mix of skills,
knowledge and expenence our orgarusation needs to reach s
potental Statistics for the UK, Ireland, Nordics, Greece and
Spain are as follows

All employeas Senior managers Dyrectony

Number “ Number % Number %

Male 29,175 69 74 74 10 77
Female 12,902 31 26 26 3 23

Connected community

Every decision we make 1s dnven by insights and our ambition
to provide unparalleled expertise and services to help
customers and businesses nawigate the digital era, while
building brand loyalty and trust

We aim 1o be a responsible member of every community we
do business in whether 11's by match-funding employee
tundraising, community initatives or chanty partnerships, we
will implement new ideas to make a positive impact locally
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Charity partnership

Wa set aut to further consolidate our Corporate Responsibility
programme, as well as our lecal and in-store chantable
actvities through the support of a single chanty partner

In December 2015, the long-term chanty partner of Carphone
Warehouse, Get Connected, merged with YouthNet to create
the UK's largest support service for young people, The Mix
{registered chanty number 1048995) Just as Dixons Carphone
matches customers with the best equipment and services for
their needs, The Mix supports the physical and mental
wellbeing of young people under 25 across the UK, whatever
their 1ssue, through the technology of therr choice

Our continuing support of The Mix played a significant role in
their menger, propefling us into a new era of the partnership,
helping to dnve the chanty forward so they can recruit
hundreds of new volunteers and provide thousands more
hours of support to young people through new channels

In 2015/16 we gave a total of £447,390 1o this free, confidential
support service, which offers young people help 24/7, 365
days a year through phone, text, web, social media and
counselling The Mix connects them with experts and peers

to talk about everything ncluding homelessness, finding a job,
maoney management, mental wellbeing, relationship 1ssues and
drug use

Dixons Carphone Race to the Stones

Our sponsorship of the UK's biggest ultra-marathon receved
a European Sponsorship Award for Employee Engagement
and won Best Endurance Event at The UK Running Awards
On 11-12 July 2015 over 2,000 public participants ran,
trekked or walked 100km along the ancient Ridgeway Over
230 employees sigred up to get fit, rasing over £68,000 for
Get Connected {now The Mix) and prometing the work of our
chanty partner Overall, this event has raised over £500,000
for a vanety of good causes We continue our investment in
Race to the Stones in 2016

Royal support

In April 2016 we were delighted to announce Pnnces Willam,
Harry and The Duchess of Comwall chose to support our
chanty partner The Mix as part of ther 'Heads Together'
campagn, which aims 1o raise awareness of, and change,
the negative perception of menta! health conditions n the
UK In 2016/17 we will work with the Royal Foundation to
promete this tugh profile campaign through in-store
activities and employee participation in events such

as the London Marathon

Techknowledge for Schools (T4S)

We continued our support for thes registered chanty, nvesting a
total of £207,000 to help furd the largest ndependent research
programme i the world nto the use of one-to-one technology
to transform education In February 2016, the decision was
made 1o close T4S after trustees became confident that major
issues around implementing technelogy into schools had been
defined, the real benefits had been wlentified and valuable
insights into successhully deploying technology to transform
leaming outcomes were gained and made publically available
Dunng the two years the chanty was in operation it worked with
over 45 UK secondary schools using one-to-one devices,
carned out comprehensive in-depth qualtative research and
analysis, recorded 440 online interviews with teachers, hosted
40 focus groups with students, parents and teachers, fitmed 60
hours of ethnographic observation, and interviewed over 12,000
pupils online and 40 teacher leaders face to face Our body of
research has been made available to relevant stakeholders
including the House of Lords Digital Skills Select Committee to
support the case for better technology provision for all schools
across the country

As well as providing gifis-in-kind, office and helpline
accommodanon for The Mix, our support has directly funded
investrent in a new volunteenng programme called Digial
Connectors, enabling the chanty to recruit and train volunteers
remotely, substantially increasing the hours of support they are
able to give, opening up employee volunteenng opportunities
as well as flexible opportunities for young people looking to
develop skills In 2015/16, The Mix trained 99 Digital
Connectors volunteers, who have already supported over
3,000 young people across the UK The Mix will continue 1o
build on this success, expand their volunteer programme and
help more young people in need

Our support has also enabled the development and launch of
an online counseling service, which has to date provided over
1,000 hours of counselling to under 25s Feedback about how
the counseting has helped has been cverwhelmingly positive

Project BluPoint

We are proud to be at the forefront of tech innovation,
dentifying technology for good and being a catalyst for
transformative change In May 2016 we invested in a project
to progress findings from our work with Techknowledge for
Schools, which highlighted that schools need reliable, quick
and affordable access to trusted educational content
BluPoint is the name given to a solar-powered device which
transmints digital content to areas without rehable or
affordable connectivity, on any handset using Wi-Fi, FM
Radio or Bluetooth Between July and October 2016, ten
employees will visit Durban in South Afnca, where we operate
a contact centre, to tnal and evaluate BluPoint in resource-
starved schools thereby empowenng focal communities with
free ntemet access to educational tools and services  Project
BluPoint 1s being run in collaboration with its inventor,

Dr Mike Santer, Technology Adviser to the Bill Gates
Foundation, and his team
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The Dixons Carphone Foundation
(‘Foundation')

This fundraising account was estabhished under the Chanties
Aid Foundation {registered charrty number 268369) for the
benefit of the chanty or chanties selected by Qixons Carphone
and approved by the Chanhes Aid Foundatron This account
was set up post-Merger to deliver our ambition of improving
ives through technology and faciitates employee
rmatch-funding applications and one-off donations to
emergencies and disaster funds

In July 2015, senior Dixons Carphone executives took to the
tenmis courts for & charity tennis toumament at The National
Tenrs Centre rarsing £62,781 for the Foundation The
Foundation s also funded through our handset recycling ‘zerd
value’ Take Back scheme In 2015/16 we donated £161,725
through the Chanties Aid Foundation to a vanety of causes
including Techknowledge for Schools and Get Connected

The DSG intemational Foundation 1s a chanty in its own nght,
registered with the Chanties Commission Within 2015/16,
£75,000 was transacted through this Foundatian as part of
our fundraising commitment to Children in Need For 2016/17
we will continue to operate charntable activities through our
fundraising account established under the Chanties Aid
Foundation

Other charitable support

We support other chanties and local causes by match-funding
the amount of money an employes raises for therr chosen
chanty by up to £100 or £300 for a team fundraising for the
same event In addition, many colleagues raised thousands of
pounds via a vanety of fundraising events such as the London
Marathon, football toumarnents and fun days Dunng 2015/16
Dixons Carphene ernployees also donated £42 542 through
Give As You Eam, benefiting a wide range of local and
naticnal causes

Quiside the UK, Elkjop continues to support the Red Cross
Water for Life (Vann for Livet) project and donated
NOK 287,000 {£23,528) to this chanty dunng 2015/16

Environment

We are fully comimutted to meeting our environmental
responsthilities and limiting the impact of our operations in a
way that 15 both practically and economucally feasibte We are
working towards best practice sustainability with mimmal
waste and optimal efficiency

Energy management

In 2015/16 we combined the reporting platforms and energy
management processes of the legacy Dixons Retal and
Carphone Warehouse businesses Our energy consurmption
monitonng piatfonm reports the half-hourly electnicity data for
all our stores in the UK This allows us to monitor our sites
accurately, minimise wastage and optimise our efficient use
of power Supporting contracts have also merged to ensure
our meter operator (MOP/DA/DC) and bureau services are
aligned across both the Dixons Retay and Camphone
Warehouse estates

Stratogic Raport

As with previous years, our energy efficiency programme
continues to utiise intemal funding for energy efficiency
projects We continue to explore new technologies and
advanced strategies to assist in our programme of energy
reduction and through 2015/16 a further £1 3 muliion has
been nvested n new energy efficiency mbiatives

LED hghting has featured heavily in our 2015/16 energy
efficiency programme and 1s delivenng excellent results
through energy savings and improvements to our shopping
environment 19 stores and offices in two distnbution centres
were converted to LED ighting dunng 2015/16 along with

our Retal Support Centre in Acton and one of two buildings
at our Newark Distnbution Centre LED lighting 15 the standard
technology adopted in all new stores

Energy efficiency projects have been completed in an addtionat
12 stores to further optimise our energy usage which inctude
fine adjustments to temperature set-paints, tuned heating and
hghting strategies, and the installation of ighting controls

The resuiting reduction in our energy consumption from the
above inthatives will be approximately 4, 300 mwh per annum,
reducing our carbon emissions by over 2,200 tonnes of CO2
in the next year

In collaboration with our landlords, roof-mounted Solar
Photovoltac (PV} installations have been successfully
completed at two large retad locations in Coventry and
Southampton and our water leak detection programme
continues through consumption analysis to highlight
iregulanties and ensures optmum efficiency

Energy efficiency mbative

Dixons Carphone is delightad to have been once agan
selected to participate in the Department of Energy & Climate
Change - EDR (Energy Demand Reduction) pilot scheme, |
phase 2 Similar to phase 1, this initiative 1s inked to the large |
scale roll-out of energy-efficient LED lighting to our second |
750,000 sq ft national distnbution centre bullding in Newark }
and represents our fargest investment in a single energy |
efficency project to date Completon 1s expected by
September 2016
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Carbon management and legis!ation

Dunng phase 2, year 2 of the Carbon Reduction Commiment
{'CRC") energy efficiency scheme, Dixons Carphone's
combined reported emissions have reduced over 15% aganst
the 2014/15 CRC year which represents a reduction in excess
of 20,000 tonnes of CO; emissIONs

Dixans Carphone merged its reporting against the CRC,
energy efficiency scheme for the 2015/16 CRC vear under
Dixons Carphone ple, registration number CRC8030144
The Dixons Retall plc CRG account, registration number
CRC8584817, was selected for and successfully passed
a compliance audit dunng 2015/16 pnor 1o closure of

this account

Carbon Disclosure Project (‘COP’)

We plan to submit our response to the COP Climate Change
Information Disclosure questionnaire for 2015/16 by the
30 June 2016 deadiine

EU Directive 2012127/EU, Articie 8 (Energy Efficiency)

Thus EU Directive was transposed into UK & Insh fegisiation as
the ‘Energy Savings Opportunity Scheme' and the ‘Energy
Audit Scheme' respectively Dixons Carphone complied with
the requirements of this new legistation n advance cf the
December 2015 deadline

Mandatory Greenhouse Gas (‘GHG')
reporting

This section provides the emission data and supporting
mformation required by The Companies Act 2006 {Strategic
Report and Directors’ Report) Regulations 2013, Part 7
Disclosures Conceming Greenhouse Gas Emissions

This report covers the intemational operations of the Group,
includiing the UK & Ireland, the Nordics and Southem Europe
Operational control has been used to determine orgamsational
boundary All scope one and two emissions are included
except where noted

2015/16 2014115 201445
Tannes of wcrease/  Tonmesof  Tonnas of
Category / spurce of COw  {decrsase) COm COx
emlisslons emitted™* % amiled™  pmutted™
Ernissions from
combustien of
fuel® 20,614 43% 19,760 21,077
Emissions from
operation
of any facility™ 2,797 (236)% 3661 3,680
Ermissions from
purchase
of efectncity 109,534 (14 2)% 127,607 130,819

132,945 (120)% 151,028 155,576

2015/18 20ta15 2014115

Tannes Tonnes Tonnes

of COe o1 CO ot GO

amitted par  amitted por  eMittad per

1000sqtt  1000sqhk 1000zqft

of Roor of tioor ol Noor
arept® areatats area">24

Dixons Retal intensity
measure 5.76 573 573

Carphone Warehouse

intensity measure 1375 1741 1770

Dixons Carphone intensity
measure 6 36 - -

(1a) Exclusions compnse franchises as they do not fall directly under
the Group's operational control, emissions from Camphane
Warehouse's divested retai oparations in Germany and the
Nethertands The divested operations have been excluded from
2015/16 GHG reporting numbers and a restated number (with the
same exclusions} has been prowded for 2014/15 for campartson
on a like-for-hke basis

{1b} Tennes of COze emitied as reported in last year's (2014/15) report,
including Germany and the Netherlands

(2) Overall floor area of the Dixons Garphone business is estimated to
be 20,889,357 sq ft This 15 splt between the Dixons Retail
business which 15 estimated to be 19,304,134 sq f (20,659,929 sq
# restated for 2014/15) and the overall floor area of the Carphone
Warehouse business 1s estmated to be 1,585,223 sq ft (2,106,753
sq ft estimated for 2014/15) The calculations use the
methodology set out in Defra’s updated greenhouse gas reporting
guidance Enwvironmental Reporting Guidelines (ref PE 13944),
1ssued In June 2013

(3 Refrigerant data from the Wednesbury Carphone Warehouse site
was not included as the data was not avalable (aithcugh this s
estimated 1o be less than 1% of total emssions for the Group)

(4 The overall floor area of the Dixons fetal and the Carphong
Warehouse businesses as reported in 2014/15 was found to bein
efror owing 1o 1ssues in data collection and data relability These
ssues have been addressed and the intensity figures for 2014115
have been restated using the comected floor area

Ethical sourcing

Many of our electncal products are sourced through major
intermational brands, which have therr own strong ethrcal and
environmenrtal policies in place The Group operates its own
Ethical Sourcing Policy based on the Social Accountability
8000 and the FTSE4Good cntena and takes nto account the
recent introduction of the Modermn Slavery Act We work
closely with organisations such as the Supplier Ethical Data
Exchange {‘Sedex’) and the Bntish Retarl Consortum to ensure
our policies and procedures remain relevant

We have our own social and ethical auditing team and audit
suppliers of our own brand progucts, prior to selection, against
stnct trading terms and operating procedures Included withuin
these terms are minimum standards in respect of health and
safety, wages, working hours, equal opportunities, freedom of
assocation, collective bargaining and disciphnary procedures
It 1s also against our terms of operation to employ any forced
or child tabour Once the audits are complete, suppliers are
rated on a traffic ight basis Green status on an audtt indicates
that a supplier meets or exceeds all of our standards Amber
status indicates that some of the standards required have not
been fully met Red status means that some significant failures
were identified against our Ettwcal Sourcing Policy standards
Suppliers are approved If they reach enther green or amber
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status in our audits Once suppliers have been approved they
remain subject to regutar checks and audits and thewr status
may be adjusted accordingly These suppher audits are camed
out with a view to assisting them in improving therr working
practices and we work with factones where failures have been
idenufied Wherever we can, we wark with the supplier 1o make
improvements, where this is not possible or no improvements
are made, they will not be approved as a suppler, or will be
delisted as appropnate Dunng the year under review, 21
supphers were classified as red, failled to make improvements
and therefore the Group did not approve thern to supply our
branded products or they were delisted

The results of ethical supply chain audits camed out dunng the
penod under review are

De'isted /
Total Not
Red Amber Green audits approved

Audit status 26 97 - 123

Waste and recycling

We strive to delver continuous improvements to our recycling
and sustainabiity programme  All recyclate from our stores is
now backhauled to our national recycling facility at Newark
Across our estate, our 168 customer service centre depots have
standardised equipment to deliver consistent grades of
cardboard, plastic and expanded polystyrene to our recyclers
1n order to ensure we vtilise the transport to a rnaximum and
obtan the best value we can achieve for our matenal Qur
volumes increased by 126 tonnes since 2014/15 Working with
our recyclers we have been able ta delwer to the hierarchy of
waste requirements to provice single stream matenals for
recycling, thus prowiding high-quahty raw matenals into
manufactunng processes preventing the need for further virgin
matenals to be purchased

Waste Electrical and Electronic
Equipment (‘WEEE')

We provide access for chanties and re-use compantes to our
16 customer service centre depots across the estate where
selected white goods units are picked for potential re-use

This year 67,000 units were re-used in the third sector,
providing local communities across the UK with affordable
products  Alongside the social benefit, this intsative saved
around 7,000 tonnes of CO: For the 1 1 million urits that
cannot be re-used, which equates to around 55,000 tonnes,
these are recycled and sorted into the varous grades of metal /
other matenals to be manufactured into new products

This Strategic Report was approved by the Board and signed
on its behalf by

L

2f)

Sebashan James Humphrey Singer
Group Cloaf Executve Group Finance Drecior
28 June 2016 28 June 2016
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Corporate Governance

Board of Directors

Sir Charles Dunstone
Chairman N

Ser Charles Dunstone is the Charman of Dixons Carphone and the
Norminations Committee He 15 the founder of Carphone Warehouse
and was chairman of Carphone Warehouse from 28 January 2010 He
was chief executive officer of Carphone Warehouse from 1989 to 2010
where he led its growth to become one of Europe’s largest independent
telecommunications retalers Sir Charles was also appeinted chagman
of TalkTalk pic in 2010 He was previously non-executive director of
Daily Mall and General Trus! plc and Independent Maedia Distnbution plc
{now Independent Media Distnbution Limited) Sir Charles was
chairman of The Pnnce's Trust fram 2009 to 2015, having been a
member of its Council since 2000 Sir Charles 15 a pariner in Freston
Road Investments LLP and also chairman of Royal Museums
Greenwich and BAR Racing

Sebastan James
Group Chsef Executive

Sebastan James was appointed Group Chief Executive of Oixans
Camhone on 6 August 2014 following the merger of Dixons Retal wath
Carphone Warehouse He joined Drxons in Apni 2008 and held varous
roles, Including group operations director, prior ta his appaintment as
group cheel executive in February 2012 Before joining Dixons,
Sebastan was chief executrve officer of Synergy Insurance Services
Umtted ang was strategy director at Mothercare pic He started his
career at The Boston Consulting Group Sebastian i also a non-
exacutive director of Direct Line Insurance Group plc and trustee of the
charittes Save the Chudren and Techknowledge for Schools

Humphrey Singer
Group Finance Director

Humphrey Singer was apponted Group Finance Drector of Dixons
Carphone on 6 August 2014 following the merger of Dixons Retail with
Carphone Warehouse He was appointed group finance director of
Dixons in September 2011, hawng oined ts board i July 2011 Swnce
jeining Dixons in 2007, he has hetd a number of finance roles, namely
finance director of Cunys, group financial controller, and finance
director of the UK & lrelarkd division Prior to poining Dxons, he held a
number of finance roles at Cadbury Schweppes pic and Coca-Cola
Enterpnses UK Limited, including finance director at the latter
Humphrey 15 also a non-executive director of Taylor wimpey pic

Kate Bickerstafte
Chief Executive, UK & Irefand

Katie Bickerstaffe was appointed an Exegutiva Director of Dixons
Carphone on 6 August 2014 following the merger of Dixons Retail with
Carphone Wareghouse She retained her responsibiiities as Chuaf
Executive of UK & Iretand for the Dixons business on merger and from
1 May 2015 assumed responsitility for the whole UK & Ireland division
Katie joined the Dixons board on 20 February 2012 and was the chiet
executive of UK & Ireland for Dixons She joned Dixons as director of
marketng people and property in June 2008 In addion to her
executive position she is also non execulive director of Scottish and
Southem Energy pic Previcusly Katie was managing director of Kwik
Save Lmuted and group retall director and group HR director at
Somerfield plc Her earlier career included soles at Dyscn umited,
PepsiCo Inc and Urnilever PLG

Andrew Hamson
Deputy Chief Executive

Andrew Harrfson was appointed Deputy Chief Executive of Dixons
Carphone on 6 August 2014 following the merger of Dixons Retad with
Carphons Warehouse Before thus, Andrew had been with Carphone
warehouse since 1995 and became a pi¢ board member in 2005 a role
he held unti! the formation of the joint venture with Best Buy in 2008
Andrew played key roles in establishing the TalkTalk business and In
expanding the Best Buy Mobile aperation in the US Andrew also
relained responsibility for both the Carphone Warehouse and Phone
House operations and in 2010 ha was appointed chief execulive officer
of the Best Buy Europe joint venture Following the conclusion of the
joint venture in 2013, Andrew became group chief executive of
Carphone Warehouse Andrew is also a non-executive director of
Ocado Group PLC and a trustee of Techknowledge for Schools

Key

A Audit Committee
N Nominatons Committee
R femuneration Commuttee

Graham Stapleton
Chief Executive,
Connecled World Services

Graham Staplstan was appointed an Executive Diractor of Dixons
Campbhone on § August 2014 fafiowing the merger of Dixong Retal with
Carphone Warehouse Graham 1s Cive! Executive of Connected Word
Services and manages its relationship with Sprint Corporation He was
previously chief executrve officer of UK & Irefand for Carphone
Warehouse He joimed Carphone Warehouse in 2005 and has held a
vanety of board pasitions i both the UK and Europe Grahamn is also
a trustee at the chidren's chanty Make A-Wish Previously Graham
worked for Kingfisher plc and Marks and Spencer pic
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Lord Livingston of Parkhead
Deputy Chasman N A

Lord Liwingston of Parikhead joined the Board as Deputy Charman and
Non-Executve Director on 16 December 2015 He 1s Chaiman of the
Remuneraton Committee and a mernber of the Normenations
Committee He prevtously held the position of chief executive officer at
8T Group plc from 2008 to 2013, pnor to that he was chief executive
officer of BT Retal and group cheef financial officer of BT He s a
Chartered Accountant and previously held the position of chie! financial
officer of Dixons between 1996 and 2002, having served in a number of
roles over more than a decade with the company Pnor to that he held
vanous roles within 31 Group, Bank of Amenca and Arthur Andersen
From 2013 to 2015, Lord Livingston was Minister of State for Trade
and Investment He was also non-executive director of Hilton Group plc
and Freeserva pic He is currently chainman of Man Group pic, a8
nan-executive director of Celtic pic and Belmond Lid, and a trustee

of Jewish Care

Tony DeNunzio CBE
Senior Independent Owector N R

Tony DeNunzio CBE joined the Board as a Non-Executive Director on
15 December 2015 Tony 15 Senor Independent Cirector ane a mernber
of both the Nominations Committee and the Remuneration Committee
He held the posiion of president and chief executive officer of
Asda/Walmarl UK from 2002 to 2005, having premgusly served as chief
financial officer of Asda PLC He started hus career in the fast-moving
consumer goods sector with financial positions in Unilever ple, L'Oréal
and PepsiCo In¢ He was also previously non-executive director of
Alliance Boots GmbH, chaiman of Maxeda Retal Group BV, and
deputy chairman and senior independent director of MFI Fumiture
Group pic (now Howden Jomnery Group pic) He has also been chairman
of the advisory board of Manchester Business School and was awarded
a GBE for services to retail in 2005 Tony 1s non-executive chairman of
Pets at Home Group Plic, non-executive director of PnmaPnx SL and
senior adviser at Kohiberg, Kravis Roberts 8 CoLP

Andrea Gisle Joosen
Independent Non-Executive Director N R

Andrea Gisle Joosen was appointed as a Non-Executive Director of
Dixens Carphone on 6 August 2014 foliowing the merger of Dixons
Retall with Carphone Warehouse Andrea joined Dixons as a non-
executive director on 1 March 2013 She 1s currently chaiman of
Teknikmagasinat AB and a non-executive director of ICA Gruppen AB,
James Hard e Industnes plc, Mr Green 8 Co AB and BillerudKorsnas
AB Former roles includa non-executive director of Lighthouse Group,
chief executve of Boxer TV Access AB in Sweden and managing
director (Nordic region) of Panasonic, Chantelle AB and Twenteth
Century Fox Her early career involved several senior marketng roles
with Procter & Gamble and Johnson & Johaison

Tim How
independent Non-Executive Director R

Tim How was appointed as a Non-Executive Drector of Dixons
Camphone on 6 August 2014 fallowing the merger of Dixons Retall with
Carphone Warehouse Tim joined Dixons as a non-executive director on

8 September 2009 and became senior independent director on 9 May
2012 He holds a vanety of external board positions inciuding chaiman
of Webum Enterpnses Limited, semsor independent director of
Henderson Group plc and the Norfolk and Norwich University Hosprtals
NHS Foundation Trust, and chaiman of Roys (Wroxham) Limited
Former roies include charman of Rayner and Keeler bmited and Enotna
Wine Group Limited, and non-executive director of Peabody Capital

plc Tim served as chuef execulive of Majestic Wine pic, where he led
the management buy-out of the business and subsequent Altemative
Investment Market (AIM) flotation Pnor to this, he was managing
director of Bejam Group pic

Jock Lennox
Independent Non-Executive Director A

Jock Lennox was appointed as a Non-Executive Qurector of Dixons
Camphang on 6 August 2014 following the merger of Cixons Retall with
Carphone Warehouse and 1s Chairman of the Audit Commuttee Jock
joned Dixons Retal as a non-executive director on 10 January 2012
He 18 a Chartered Accountant and worked for over 30 years {20 years
as a partner} for EY {formerty Emst & Young) in the UK and globally He
rabred from EY in 2009 and has subsequently acted as a non-executive
director of a number of companies Hea was also a council member of
the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland He i3 currently
senor independent drector of Oxford Instruments pic and Hill & Smith
Holdings PLC, & non-executive director of A8.J Mucklow Group plc and
EnQuest ptc and a trustee of the Tall Ships Youth Trust

Baroness Morgan of Huyton
Independent Non-Executive Director A

Baroness Morgan of Huyton is a Non-Executive Director of Dixans
Carphone and joined Carphone Warehouse as a non-executive director
on 28 January 2010 She was a non-execultive director of Carphone
Warehouse from 2005 to 2010, prior to the demerger with TalkTalk
From 2001 1o 2005, she was director of govemmant relabons at

10 Downing Streat Pror to this Baroness Morgan was political
secretary to the Pnme Minister from 1997 to 2001 and was appomnted
Minister for Women and Equalites in 2001 In 2008, she was appainted
as a board member of the Olympic Detvery Authonty She was
previously chair of Cfsted and a member of the adwsory commitiee of
Virgin Group Holdings Limited She is currently an adwisor to the board
of the children’s chanty ARK and a non-executrve director of
Countryside Properties PLC

Gernry Murphy
Independent Non-Executive Director A

Gerry Murphy 1s a Non-Executive Director of Dixons Carphone and
joined Carphone Warehouse as a non-exaeculive diector on 2 Apnl
2014 He s a former Detoitte LLP partner and was leader of its
Professional Practices Group with direct industry expenence n
consumer business, retall and technology, media and
telecommumications He was a member of the Delotte board and
charman of s audit commuttee for a nurmber of years and also
chaiman of the Audit & Assurance Facully of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales Gerry was appointed as a non-
executive board member of the Department of Health on 1 August 2014
and a non executive director of Capital 8 Counties Properties PLC on
i March 2015
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Cerporats Governance

Corporate Governance Report

Chairman's introduction

| have great pleasure (n presenting my introduction to the
Corporate Governance section of the Annual Report and
Accounts 2015/16 We are now well into the amalgamation

of our businesses and are fully aware of our responsibility in
ensunng our corporate govermance practices and procedures
are 'fit for purpose’ under the new structure | set out below
how the Company has embraced good corporate govemance
practice and how wa will use this to form a stable foundation
far the building of shareholder value

Corporate govemance

Good corporate govenance (5 at the heart of any well-run
business We have reviewed and updated our Group policies
and procedures to comply with best practice Qur Board
policies, such as diversity, ime commitment, the role
descnptions of the Chamman, Graup Chief Executive and
Senior Independent Cirector, external appointments and
extemal advice are reviewed and refreshed annuatly The
Board has reviewed and adopted our practices against the
2014 UK Corporate Govenance Code (the "Code’), bnnging
the business'’s policies and practices into ahgnment

Changes to the Board

On 16 Decemnber 2015 Lorg Livingston of Parkhead |oined the
Board as Deputy Charman and Tony DeNunzio CBE as Senior
independent Director Roger Taylor and John Gildersleeve
stepped down at the same time, and the Board would ke to
take this opportunity to thank them warmiy for their advice and
service to the Board and the business as a whole Lord
Livingston arxd Tony DeNunzio passess considerable
experience ganed throughout therr business cargers and will
undoubtedly make valuable contnbutions

Roate and composition of the Board

The members of the Board are as set out on pages 36 to 37
of this Report

The Nominations Committee reviews each year the
composition of the Board, inciuding the independence and
commitment to the Company shown by the nen-executive
directors dunng the year That review also includes gender,
professional and intemationa! diversisty The Board has three
femmale directors, one of whorm is not based in the UK and who
provides strong support on matters relating to the European
business environment

After this year’s review It was agan concluded that the Board

As part of the annual reviews, the non-executive directors were
asked to confirm that they continue to have enough time to
dedicate to Company business and all have formally done so
As a unitary Board the directors acknowledge therr joint
responsibility for the business's success We have clearty
differentiated the roles between executive management
runring the business and our non-executives, who provide the
appropnate level of scrutiny and oversight In this way, the
directors work together to challenge as well as support each
other, with the aim being effective decision-making, leadership
and accountabiity for all aspects of the business

Induction

The directors have continued to widen their knowledge of the
business as a whole through formal presentations, visils to
stores and facilities, and informal discussions  Lord Livingston
and Tony DeNunzio participated in tailored induction
programmes upon joning the Board, including meebngs with
key company executives

Board evaluation

In 2016 the tnennial extemal Board evaluation was camed out
on behalf of the Company by NJMD Corporate Services
Lmited, an independent consultancy, which has no connection
to Dixons Carphone The evaluation involved an in-depth
review of the Board's actvities, the directors’ interaction and
ther effectiveness in carrying out therr roles Further
informatron can be found on pages 43 and 56

Committee structure

The main commitiees of the Board are the Audit, Nominations
and Remuneraton committees Each has a dedicated secbon
in this Report Beneath Board level there are further
management level committees which report back to the
Board as necessary '

Conclusion

We possess a strong, balanced and diverse Board supported
by sound policies and procedures This provides us with a
good platform to grasp the opportunities that the future will
bnng My fellow directors and | ook forward 10 meeting you at
this year's Annual General Mesting m September

rtes Dunst
possessed the necessary skills and expenence to discharge s g;:,:anes unstone
duties fully and to challenge managernent effectively 28 June 2016
The Board and Committees Structure
I Dixens Carphone Board J
]
[ | ]
Audit Committese* I I Nommnations Commuttee? I | Remuneration Commuttee® _I

1 Audit Committee pages 50 to 54
@ 2 Nominatons Committee pages 55 to 56
&3 3 Remureration Cammittes pages 57 to 81
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Corporate Governance statement

The Board confirms that throughout the year ended 30 Apnl
2018 and as at the date of this Annual Report and Accounts,
the Company has, except 1o the extent stated below, been in
comphance with the Code

The Company did not have a Senor independent Director
{'SiD") after the resignation of John Allan on 17 February 2015
The Board undertook a thorough selection and search process
for the most appropnate candidate and the Company was fully
comphant following Tony DeNunzio's appointment as the SID
from 16 December 2015

This Report, together with the Directars' Report and the
reports from the Audit, Nominations and Remuneralion
commuittees together provide detaids of how the Company has
apphed the pnnciples and comphed wath the provistons of the
Code dunng the year The Code can be obtaned from the
Financial Reporting Councit's website, www fre org uk

Board responsibilities

The ovemding responsibiity of the Board 1s 1o prowide clear,
entrepreneunial and responsibie teadershup to the Group within
a framework of efficient and effective controls so as to allow
the key issues and nsks facing the business to be assessed
and managed

Composition of the Board

As at 30 Apnt 2016 and as at the date of approval of this
Annuai Report and Accounts, the Board compnses 13
members the Chaimnan, five executive directors and seven
non-executive directors, each of whom is determined by the
Board to be independent in character and judgement and who
provide effective challenge to the Board and the business
These directors are Tony DeNunzio, Andrea Gisle Joosen,
Tim How, Jock Lennox, Lord Livingston of Parkhead,
Baroness Morgan of Huyton and Gerry Murphy More than
half the directars, excluding the Chaiman, are therefore
considered to be independent in accordance with the Code

The Board recognises that since 2005 Baroness Morgan has
been a non-executive director of Carphone Warehouse
Accordingly her independent status was subjected to further
and specific scrutiny The Board does not believe her length of
tenure affects her ndependence, having evidenced her
commitment and independent stance throughout her dealings
with the business and her fellow directors

At last year’s annual general meeting Gerry Murphy was
re-elected as director with less than 90% of the votes cast,
due, pnncipally, to a perceved lack of ndependence The
Board, whilst taking into account shareholders' concems,
considers that no 'matenal husiness relationship” existed
between Gerry Murphy and the Company from the date of his
ceasing to be an audit pariner to Carphone Warehouse in 2011
and accordingly, the Board continues to consder him to be
independent

In accordance with the Code, each director will stand for
elechon or re-election at the Company's Annual General
Meeting Brographical information 1s shown on pages 36 to 37

The division of responsibility between the Charrman and the
Group Chief Executive is formally defined, set out in wnting
and ts reviewed by the Board on an annual basis, as it was in
March 2016 The Chaiman i1s responsible for the overall
operation, leadership and govemnance of the Board The Group
Chief Executive 1s responstble for the executive management
of the Group's business and for implementing the Group's
strategic and commercial objectives

The role of the SID 15 to support the Chairman and be availlable
to any shareholders who feel they are unabile to raise is3ues
with the Chaimnan directly With the addition of Tony DeNunzio
as SID, the Board has a strong complement of independent
non-executive directors available for shareholders to contact
with any questions they may have Under the cleardy-defined
role of the SID, set out m wnting and revtewed annually by the
Board, the SID also discusses, with the Chairman, the results
of the latter's performance review
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Carporate Governance

Corporate Governance Report

Board topics considered throughout the financral year 2015/16

2015 September 2016
May - Annua! General Meeting January
* Three-year plan - {1 trading statement + Chnstmas trading update

+ Budgetary approval
+ Property rationahsation
« Banking facilities

Appontment of Company Secretary

Data Protection and Information
Secunty policies review
Anti-bnbery, Gifts and Hospitality,
and Health and Safety policies

Three-year plan

Investor relations activities
Talent review and Successton
planning update

« Intemal Board effectiveness review approval + FCA regulatory updates
+ Corporate governance update « Financial Conduet Authorty (FCA') March
June regulatory updates + Shareholder communications

» Q4 trading statement

= Risk management review

= Spnnt partnership

- Competition law update

« Nordic strategy session

July

+ Final dividend approval

+ Prelminary announcement and

Annual Report and Accounts
approval

- Group strategic Initiatives

- Banking facilities

+ Group policies approval

» Corporate govemance update

Reserved matters

There are documented schedules of matters reserved for the

Board and matters detegated to commuitees of the Board The

-

Brokers' update

October

.

Banking and treasury matters
Board Schedule 2016
UK & Ireland strategy sesston

December

-

intenm dividend approval

Interim announcement approval
Appointments of Deputy Chairrman
and Senior Independent Director
and resignations of Non-Executwe
Directors

Audit and Nominations committees
terms of reference

Cyber secunty and IT roadmap
FCA regulatory updates

Treasury transactions

Risk management and nsk appetite
review

Insurance review

Financial Cnme Policy approval
Schedule of Matters reserved

for the Board

Remuneration Committee Terms
of Reference

Treasury transactions

Chairman's responsibilities

+ manage the Board,

formal Schedule of Matters reserved for the Board was last - represent the interests of the shareholders,
reviewed 1n March 2016 and includes

.

approval of published financial statements and

+ approve Group strategy, its )implementation and the

performance and profitability of the Group,

dividend palicy, - seek new business development opportunties,
+ declaration of intenm and recommendation of + effectively charr Board, Nominations Commuttee
final dmdends, and shareholder meetings,

« approval of budget and Group strategy and objectves,

+ appomntment and remuneration of directors, Company
Secretary and other senior executives,

+ approval of major acquisitions and disposals,
+ approval of authonty leve!s for expendrture,
« approval of Group policies,

+ approva! of reasury / mtemal control and nsk
management policies, and

+ approval of shareholder communications

+ ensure Board effectiveness in his ole,
+ ensure clear and effective runming of the committees,

« promote, with the Company Secretary, the highest
standards of corporate govemance,

faciitate effective contnbutions of the non-executive
directors,

» ensure constructive relations between the executive
and non-executive directors, and

. oversee the process of nduction, development and
performance evaluation and succession planning of
the Board
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Group Chief Executive's responsibilities

« formulate the Group strategy and direction (with the
Chairman) and develop Group objectives,

deliver Group profitability,

« provide leadership to the Group and semior management
and ensure effective performance and succession,

« ensure Group policies and procedures conform to a high
standard,

+ review the effectiveness of the Group's organisational
structure,

« dentify acquisiton and disposal opportunities and other
opportunities cutside core activities,

* Oversee management SuCCessIon,

« manage Group nsk profile and ensure intemal controls
and nsk mitigation measures are in place,

represent the Company in the City, with government
departments, key stakeholders and any other relevant
Institutions,

» oversee the establishment of operational and support
functions including finance, human resources, nsk
management and contro! functions, and

« set standards of performance throughout the Group

Semor Independent Director’s (‘SID'} responsibiities

+ be avaiable to commumcate with shareholders,

« apprase the performance of the Chairman annually
with the Board,

- oversee an orderly succession for the position of
Charman,

« support the Chairman in the performance of his duties,
and

« work with the Chairman, other drrectors and
shareholders 1o resolve significant issues and to mantain
Board and Company stability in penods of stress

Board attendance

The Board attended eight scheduled meetings as well as
two strategy sessions and two unscheduled mestings
dunng the penod under review The Board has met once
since the year end

Member \ppoi
Sir Charfes Dunstone Bof8
Sebastian James Bof8
Katie Bickerstaffe 8of8
Tony DeNunzic CBE" 16 Dec 2015 20f2
Andrea Gisle Joosen 8of8
Andrew Harnson 8of8
Twn How 8of8
Jock Lennox 8of8
Lord Livingston of 16 Dec 2015 20f2
Parkhead™"
Baroness Morgan 8of8
of Huyton
Gerry Murphy 8ol
Humphrey Singer Bof8
Graham Stapleton® 7of8
Former Directors
John Gildersleevel® 16 Dec 2015 6of6
Roger Taylor® 16 Dec 2015 6ofb

(1) Tony DeNunzio and Lord Livingston attended both Board
meetings followang ther appointments

{2) Graham Stapleton was unable to attend one meeting due
to prior business commitments in the US

(3} John Gildersieeve and Roger Taylor attended all Board
meetings pror to therr resignations
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Committee members

There are three main Board committees Audit, Nomnatons and Remuneration The committees are provided with sufficient
resources via the Company Secretary and, where necessary, have direct access to ndependent professional advisors to

undertake therr duties

Authit Norninations Remunaration
{pagas 5010 54) (pages 55 10 56) (pages 57 to 81)

Sir Charles Dunstone

Lord Livingston of Parkhead™
Tony DeNunzio CBE
Andrea Gisle Joosen

Tim How

Jock Lennox

Baroness Morgan of Huyton
Gerry Murphy

Former Directors

John Gildersleeve®

Roger Taylor

T2 T 0
X0

=

C - Chairman M - Member

(V) Lord Livingston was appointed Charman of the Remuneration Committes upon his appaintment to the Board on 16 Decermber 2015
{2) .John Gidersleeve was Chairman of the Remuneration Commitiee until his resignation on 16 December 2015

Board governance matters

The Chairman 1s responsible for ensunng that all directors are
properly bnefed on i1ssues ansing at Board meetings and that
they have full and timely access to relevant nformation The
Company uses an electronic board paper system which
enables the safe and secure dissemination of quality
information to the Board All Board papers are sentouton a
timely basis with sufficient mformatian for the directors to be
abla to discharge their duties The format, content and timety
production of Board papers Is a continually evalving process to
ensure relevance and ¢lanty of communication Formal
minutes of the Board and commitiee meetings are prepared by
the Company Secretary and approved by the Board and
committees at therr next meeting

The Chairman meets regularly with all the non-executive
directors, usually on an evening pnor to a Board meeting when
board dinners are held This proviles the opportunity to
discuss, amongst other matters, corporate strategy and
business performance

The Board holds meetings at a vanety of the Group's locations,
including overseas, to assist all Board members in gaming a
deeper understanding of the bustness This also provides
senior management across the Group with the opportunity to
meet the Board This year, Board meetings were held m
Newark in Nottinghamshire as well as in Norway and Greece
Visiting our vanous operational locations alsc enables the
Board to meet other members of the team, and to wisit stores
throughout the business’s portfolio

New directors appointed to the Board receive a personal
induction programme, together with guidance and traning
appropnate 1o ther level of previous expenence Each director
15 gven the opporturity to meet with senior management and
store colleagues and to visit the Group's srtes both in the UK
and overseas This enables famiiansation with the businesses,
operations, systems and markets in which the Group operates
New directors are also encouraged to meet with the Group's
auditor and advisors As newly apponted Non-Executive
Cirectors, both Lord Livingston and Tony DeNunzio were given
indimdual induction programmes talored to therr specific roles,
as Deputy Chairman and Senior Independent Director
respectively, and also as members of the Nominations and
Remuneration committees

The Board receives updates on corporate governance best
practice as appropnate throughout the year
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Succession planning

Last year succession planning was identified as an area whers
greater focus was required This was addressed by the
refreshing of the Board and appointment of two new members,
and planning continues for the futwe In seelung an eptimal
balance of skills, expenence, independence and knowledge
requrred at Board tevel, the drectors endeavour to satisty
themselves that adequate plans are in place to ensure an
orderly successton of appointments to the Board and senior
management The Board reviewed in detall succession plans
for senior management at the meeting in January 2016

Performance evaluation

The Code recommends that the performance of the Board be
reviewed extemnally every three years Last year the Company
Secretary facilitated an mtemaf evatuation of Board
performance and that of the Audit, Nominations and
Remuneration committees NJMD Corporate Services Limited
('NJMD'} was engaged to camy out the external review exercise
which commenced in October 2015 NJMD has no other
connection with the Company

The review examined the level of skills, knowledge and
expanence of the Board which invoived all drectors
responding to self-evaluation questionnares NJMD prepared
a discussion guide which formned the basis for open,
confidential and unatinbutable conversations with each of the
directors The resuits of both the self-evaluation questionnatres
and discussions were collated intc a comprehensive report
NJMD submitted the draft report 1o the Chairman and the
Company Secretary which was then presented 1o the Board
for consideration at its May 2016 meeting

The report addressed all matiers relating to the performance of
the Board which included, but were not imited to, the roles of
the executive and non-executive directors, the Board, Board
committees, the Charrman, preparation for and performance at
meetings, the effectiveness of each director, leadership, culture
and corporate govemance

Tony DeNunzio led the Non-Executive Directors, in the
absence of the Chamman, in their annual appraisal of the
Chaman's perfoomance He then discussed the results of that
review with the Chasman The Board s agan of the opinion
that the Chairman had no other significant commitments
dunng the year that adversely affected his performance m tes
role, his effectiveness in leading the Board was not impaired
and that he cultivated an atmosphere for positive, challenging
and constructive debate

Following the resutts of the evaluation, the Board confirms that
all directors continue to be effective and demonstrate a
commitrnent to the role, Including having time to attend all
necessary meehngs and to carmy out other appropnate duties

The conciusion of the report was that no major areas for action
were wdentified The man points were, that whilst there was

+ evidence of a high degree of directar satisfaction with the
effectiveness of the Board and with the Chairman, and

+ asuitable mix of skills, including FTSE 100 directonal
expenence, along with financial, retal, operational
management and marketing skills,

the Board could modify some of is practices to increase their
effectiveness

Recommendations included actively refreshing the Board’s
govemance, complance and company knowledge through
more frequent traning sessions from extemal adwvisors and
in-house briefings from senor management The Board has set
aside ime on the current Board agenda as appropnate for
these training and brefing sessions to occur It was further
recommended that the Board more reqularly reviews the
longer-term optimal balance of the Board, including placing
even more emphasis on diversity, especially regarding age

and ethnicity

Capital and constitutional disclosures

Information on the Company's share capital and constitution
required to be mcluded in this Corporate Govemnance
statement 1s contained tin the Directors’ Report on page 48
Such information 1s incorporated into this Corporate
Govemance statement by reference and 1s

deemed to be part of it

Dixans Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16 43

Corporate Governance




Corporste Govarnance

Corporate Governance Report

Risk and internal controls

Committed to effective risk management

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s system of
intemnal control and for reviewing its effectiveness

Effective nsk management requires collective responsibiity
and engagement across the entire business Dixons
Carphone's semor management team, operating through the
Group Risk & Compliance Committee, are accountable for

- dentfying, mitigating and managing nsk in therr areas of
responsibility, and

« implementing and montonng controls which are designed
to miigate the nsks to which therr area of the business 1s
exposed The controls by ther nature are designed 1o
manage rather than eliminate nsk and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance aganst material
misstatement or loss

System of nsk management and intermnal control

The system s built on the pillars of effective govemance, nsk
management, intemal control and assurance These are more
fully descnbed below

Govermnance

+ The Board and its vanous committees have defined financial

authonties and operational responsibilities, which are
designed to enable effective decision-making and
orgarisational control

The Board has agreed a nsk appehte that provides the
reference point against which to benchmark nsk
management reviews and nsk mitigation actvity within the

.

organisation The nsk appetite defines the boundanes within

wiich nsk-based decision-making can occur and outhnes
the expectations for the operation of the control
environment

+ An organisation and management structure operates across

the business to enable the delivery of products and services
to our customers and operational contro! of business
activities 1n accordance with the nsk appetite

Annual strategic planning and budgeting processes

Defined delegation of authonttes that cascades throughout
the Group

A Group policy framework contains the core complance
polictes which all employees are required to observe

+ Compliance policy owners are responsible for managing and

improving standards in their respective areas of
accountability across all our operations

« A system of quarterly business reviews covenng financial
and operational reporting by each business unit which
involves companson of actual results with the onginal
budget and the updating of a full year forecast

= Annual objective setting and performance reviews

Risk management

+ A nsk management policy and framework outlines the

principles and approach to nsk management within the
business

The Group Director of Risk facitates and manages the nsk
management policy and framework throughout the Group

A formal nsk identification process takes place to evaluate
and manage the significant nsks faced by the Group n
accordance with the requirements of the Code and Financial
Reporting Council Guidance on Risk Management and
Intemal Control Risk 1s broadly identified against strategic,
operational, technological, financial, people, regulatory and
hazard / external categones Details of the pnncipal nsks
and examples of mtigating actions can be found on pages
20 to 23 of the Strategic Report

A Group nsk register, which identifies the nsks faced by
each of the businesses, including regulated business, thewr
potential impact and hkethood of occumence {assessed ona
gross and net bas:s), together with an evaluaton of the key
controls and management processes established to mikigate
these nsks Each of the Group’s business units also
maintains a nsk register Action plans are determined to
enhance nsk mibgation if required

The Group Risk & Comphance Committee reports to the
Audit Committee and meets quarterly to review the
management of nsk ansing out of the Group's actvities and
to monitor the status of key nsks and actions at Group and
business unit level

Each of the Group's business unis has a nsk committee
which identifies risk in accordance with the Group Risk
Management Framework These commuittees meet to
consider nsk and intemal contrel matters for their respective
areas of responsibility

Intermal control

-

A mernmum control environment which defines detailed
financial, supplier funding, purchasing, payroll, capital
expenditure, treasury, B2B, information systems, stock
management, merchandise revenue and service revenue
controls to be applied by all business operations

Each business unit operates a control environment to satisfy
legal, regulatory, Group and customer requirements

Processes exists that govem the way in which we
operate our retail, wholesale, logistics, distnbution and
service operations The operation of these processes
provides assurance on the standard of our customer and
service delivery
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Assurance

» Annual minimum control questionnares, which require
aftestation that conirols are being operated, are completed
by all Dixons Carphone operations

» An ongoing programme of control improvement 15 underway
n each business unit to enhance control operatien as the
unit evolves

= Annternal audit function provides the Audit Committee with
an independent assessment of the Group's system of
intemal control, through reviewing haw effectively key nsks
are being managed, and assists management in the effective
discharge of ts responsibihies by carying out independent
appraisals and making recommendations for smprovernent

= Certain aspects of the Group’s activities are also subject to
regulatory control by extemnal bodies such as the FCA

+ The operation of a 24/7 whistleblowing hothne to enable
reporting of breaches of ethical or polrcy requirements

» Extemnal audit conducts statutory audits across our
operations

Statement on nsk management and intemnal control

The system of nsk management and intemal control descnbed
in this Report was in place and effective throughaut the pencd
under review and up to the date of approval of the Annual
Report and Accounts 2015/16

The effectiveness of these systemns s regutarly momtored and
reviewed by the Audit Committee and the systems refined as
necessary to meet changes in the Group’s business and
associated risks

The Audit Commitiee ts supported by the intemal audit
function which provides an independent opimion on the
operation of controls through the delivery of its audd
programme The system of nsk management and internal
control can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance aganst matenal errors, losses, fraud or breaches of
faws and regulations

The Board has camed out a robust assessment of the pnncipat
nsks facing the Company, including those that would threaten
its business mode!, future performance, solvency or iguidity A
descnption of these nsks, together with details of how they are
managed or mitigated, 1s set out on pages 20 to 23 The Board
also monitored the Company's system of nsk management
and intemal contral and has, at least once a year, conducted a
review of therr effectveness The review covered all matenal
controls dunng the year and up to the date of the approval of
the Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16 which was approved
by the Audit Commuttee and the Board

Board

- Defines Dixons Carphone nsk appetite
= Reviews and approves the business nsk profile

* Responsible for nsk management and intemal control

i

i

Audit Committee Group Risk & Compliance Executive Committee
e - Reviews the eHfectiveness Committee « Accountable for the
° of nsk management and + Reviews Group and business implementation of the nsk
‘£ intemal control unit nsk profiles management process and the
e + Approves the annual intemal 1+ Monitors the management gfrﬂﬂ'eftme mtemal conitrol
3 and external audit plans of key nsks VI
g + Considers the intemal audit + Consders new and
© reviews across the Group emerging nsks
>
w
wn
J

Y

Supported by

b

Group Director
of Risk

Intemal audit

Busminess unit nsk committees
and champions
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Risk appetite

Dixons Carphone faces a broad range of nsks reflecting the
business environment in which it operates and the nsks ansing
fram the Dixons Carphone business envronment and
operating mode! can be sgnificant Successful financial
performance for the business 1s achieved by managing these
nsks through inteligent decision-making and an effective
control environment that details the processes and controls
required to mitigate nsk

Dixons Carphone’s general nisk appetite s a balanced one
that aflows taking measured nsk as it pursues iis strategic
objectwes whilst aming to manage and minirmise nsk In its
operations Dixons Carphone recognises that it 1s not possible
or necessanly desirable to eliminate all of the nsks inherent in
its actvities Acceptance of some nsk 15 often necessary to
foster nnovation and growth within its business practices

Internal audit

The Group has an intemal audit department which conducts
reviews of selected business processes each year The ntemal
audit programme for 2015/16 consisted of reviews across a
range of areas documented and priontised in the Group's
internal audit plan, which was prepared takng nto account the
principat nsks across the Group and approved with input from
management and the Audit Committee The plan Is designed
each year 1o test the robustness of mitigating contrals and
ensure procedures are designed and operating effectively Part
of the approval process of this plan involves the Audtt
Comrmitlee's consideration of aignment of the ptan with the
principal nsks faced by the Group

The Audit Committee Chairman receives and reviews all
reports from the internal audit department detailing its matenal
findings from testing performed and any recommendations for
improvement The Audit Committee recerves a summary of
these reports at each meeting, with the full reports avalable to
all members on request The internal audrt team track and
report on the progress and implementation of action plans
agreed with management, and follow-up procedures are
performed ance these actions and additional controls have
been put in place to ensure that the new controls and / or
procedures have been inplemented effectivety

The Audit Committes considered the effectiveness of the
intemal audit department through holding discussions with
managemen!, considenng the quality of reports submitted, the
timetiness of the clearance of action pomnts and the perceved
impartialty of the audit team niself The Committee concluded
that the ntemal audit department has in all respects been
effective dunng the penod under review

Authorisation of conflicts of interest

The Company has procedures n place o dentify, authonse
and manage conflicts of interest, and these procedures have
operated effectively Potential conflicts are approved by the
Board, or by two independent directors if authonsation 1s
needed quickly, and then reported to the main Board atits
next megting A register of directors’ conflicts 15 maintained

Communication with investors

The Board supports the Intatives set out 1n the Code and the
Stewardship Code and actvely encourages engagement with
major institutional nvestors and other stakeholders It beleves
that it 1s important to explain business developments and
financial resuits to the Company's shareholders and to
understand shareholder concems The pnncipal communication
mecha used to impart nformation to shareholders are news
releases (including results announcements), nvestor
presentations and company publications

The Group Chiet Executive has pancipal responsibility for
investor relations He 1s supported by a dedicated investor
relations department that, amongst other matters, organises
presentations for analysts and institutional investors There

s a full programme of regular dialogue with major mstitutional
shareholders and potential shareholders as well as sell-side
analysts In March 2016, a capital markets day was held and
attended by analysts and msttutional investors that focused on
future plans for our consumer services offenngs to be tralled in
summer 2016 In all such dialogue, care 15 taken to ensure that
no pnce-sensive information 1s released

The Chairman ensures that the Board receives updates on
investor relatons matters at each Board meeting The Board
also receives penodic reports on investors’ views of the
perfermance of the Company The Chairman and non-
axecutive directors are available to meet with major
shareholders if such meetings are required, and the Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee commuricates with major
shareholders on matters of remuneration and has conducted
varnous remuneration consultations More information on the
remuneration consultations can be found in the Remuneration
Report on pages 57 to 81

The Company 15 committed to fostenng effective
communication with all of its members, be they institutienal
nvestors, pnvate or employee shareholders The Company
communicates formaily to its members when s full year and
half year results are published These results are posted on the
nvestor relations part of the corporate website, as are other
extemal announcements and press releases

The annual general meeting is an important medium by which
the Company communicates with shareholders, at which an
account of the progress of the business aver the last year,
along with a review of current issues facing the business i1s
given Sharehotders are encouraged to ask questions and

the directors, ncluding the Chairmen of the Board committees,
are in attendance to answer them In accordance with the
Cade, formal notification of the Company's annual general
meeting 15 sent to shareholders at least 20 working days in
advance of the meetng

Further financial and business information 1s avallable on the
Group's corporate website, www dixonscarphone com

Sir Charfes Dunstono
Charman
26 Juna 2016
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As required by Rute 7 2 1 of the UK Listing Authonty's
Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTR's) the Corporate
Govemance staterment is set out on page 39 of this Annual
Report and Accounts All information detalled in the
Corperate Govemnance statement is incorporated by
reference into this Directors’ Report and 15 deemed to form
part of this Directors’ Report

Disclosure and Transparency Rules

For the purposes of DTR 4 1 5R(2) and DTR 4 1 8, this
Directors’ Report and the Strategic Report on pages 2 to 35
compnse the management report

Employee involvement

The Group ptaces sigrificant ermphasis on its employees’
nvolvement at all levels of the organisation Employees are
kept informed of 1ssues affecting the Group through formal
and informal meetings and through the Group’s intemat
publications The management team regularly communicates
matters of current interest and concem with employees
Further information on employee engagement s included

in the Corporate Responsibiity report on pages 30 to 35
Details of the employees’ involvement in the Group's share
plans are contamed in the Remuneration Report

Employment of disabled people

The business 1s committed to providing equal opportunities in
recruitment, traning and development, and promoton We
encourage applications from individuals with disabilties who
can do the job effectively and candidates will be considered
tor each role they apply for All efforts are made to retain
disabled colleagues in our employment including making any
reaspnable readjustments to their roles Every endeavour 15
made to find suitable altemative employment and to retrain
any employee who becomes disabled while serving the Group

Information on greenhouse
gas emissions

The information on greenhouse gas ermissions that the
Company s requved to disclose 1s set out in the Corporate
Responsibility report on page 34 This information is
incorporated o this Directors’ Report by reference and

15 deemed to form part of this report

Donations

No political donations were made during the penod by
the Group

Directors

Lord Lwvingston of Parkhead and Tony DeNunzio CBE were
apponted directors on 16 December 2015 On the same
date, John Gildersleeve and Roger Taylor both resigned

as directors

The names, biographtes and dates of appontment of the
cument Board of directors are provided on pages 36 to 37

With regard to the appomntment and replacernent of dwectors,
the Company 15 govemed by its Articles of Association
(‘Articles’), the UK Corporate Govemance Code (the ‘Code’),
the Companies Act 2006 (the ‘Act’) and related legisiation

The Articles themselves may be amended by special
resolution of the shareholders The Board has the power to
appoint new directors to fifi a vacancy as long as the total
number of directors shall not exceed the maxmumof 15 as
set out in the Articles Any director appointed by the Board
will be appointed until the next annual general meeting where
they shall stand for election by sharehalders

In line with best practice and the Cade, the Company has
determined that all directors will retire and offer themselves
for election or re-election at the 2016 Annual General
Meeting The Remuneration Report provides details of
apphcable service agreements for executve directors and
terms of appointment for non-executive directors Alt the
directors proposed by the Board for etther election or
re-electron are being unanimously recommended for ther
skills, expenence and contribution they can bnng to the
Board This recommendation foliows an independent
performance evaluation of the Board as a whole and the
contribution of Indwidual drectars

Dunng the year, no director had any matenal interest in any
contract of signficance to the Group's business Their
interests, including those of any connected persons, in the
shares of the Company are outlned in the Remuneration
Report

Subject 1o the Company’s Articles, the Act and any directions
given by the Company by special resolution, the business of
the Company will be managed by the Board which may
exercise all the powers of the Company, whether relating to
the management of the business of the Company or not

The matters reserved for the Board are detailed in a specific
schedute, which 1s reviewed annually and details are provided
in the Corporate Govemance Report
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Directors’ indemnities and insurance

The Company has made qualfying third party indemnrty
provisions {as defined in the Act) for the benefit of ts directors
durng the year, these provisions reman in force at the date of

this report

In accordance with the Articles, and to the extent permitted
by law, the Company may indemnfy its directors out of its
own funds to cover iabities incurred as a resuit of their
office The Group holds Drectors’ and Officers’ Liabiity
Insurance cover for any claim brought against directors or
officers for wrongful acts in connechion with their posstions
The msurance provided does not extend to claims ansing
trom fraud or dishonesty

Information required by Listing
Rule 9.8.4R

Detatls of long-term incentive schemes as required by Listing
Rule 9 4.3R are located i the Directors’ Rermuneration
Report on pages 57 to 81 Detaits of dvidends warved by
shareholders are given on page 49 of this Orectors’ Repont
There 15 no further information required to be disclosed under
Listing Rule 9 8 4R

Directors’ responsibilities

The directors' responsibilities for the financial statements
contaned within this Annual Report and Accounts and the
directors' confirmations required under DTR 4 1 12 are set
out on page B2

Capital structure

The Company's only class of share 1s ordinary shares Details
of the movements in 1ssued share caprtal duning the year are
provided in note 22 to the Group financial statements The
voting nghts of Dixons Carphone shares are identical, with
each share camying the nght to one vote Dixons Carphone
holds no shares in treasury

Details of employee share schemes are provided in note 5 to
the Group financral statements On 30 Apnl 2016 the
Carphone Warehouse Employee Share Ownership Trust
{‘ESOT") held 625,623 shares (2015 791,100 shares) and the
Dixens Retail pic ESOT held 123,451 shares {2015 151,829
shares) The Carphone Warehouse ESCT did not make any
market purchases of the Company’s shares, and the Dixons
Retail pic ESOT made market purchases of 1,914,308 shares
dunng the year under review

Restrictions on transfer of securities
of the Company

There are no specific restnctions on the size of a holding nor
on the transfer of shares, which are both govemed by the
general provisions of the Articles and prevalling tegislation
The directors are not aware of any agreements between
hotders of the Company's shares that may result in
restnctions on the transfer of secunties or on voting rghts

No person has any special nghts of control over the
Company's share capital and all issued shares are fully pard

Change of control - significant
agreements

All of the Company’s share mcentive scheme rules contain
provisions which may cause options and awards granted
under these schemes 1o vest and become exercisable in the
event of a change of controt

The Group’s man commitied borrowing facilty has a change
of control clause whereby the parhcipating banks can require
the Company to repay all outstanding amounts under the
facility agreement in the event of a change of control The
Company 18 not aware of any other significant agreements,
such as commercial contracts and property lease
arangements etc, 1o which it 15 party, that take effect, alter or
terrmunate upon a change of control in the Company

Furthermore, the directors are not aware of any agreements
between the Company and its directors or employees that
prowvide for compensation for loss of office or employment
that occurs in the event of a takeover bid

Significant shareholdings

At 30 April 2016, pursuant to Chapter 5 of the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules of the Financial Conduct Authonty, the
shareholders with 3% or more in the voting nghts of the
Company are

Parcantage of
Name Numbér of shares shara capital
Standard Life 87,016,585 582%
BlackRock 64,226,251 5 58%
Lansdowne Partners 57,675,527 501%
D P J Ross 55,738,699 4 84%
AXA Group 42,555,710 370%
Capital Group 41,116,000 357%
Legal & General 37,370,496 325%
Investment
Management

At 28 June 2016, no change in these shareholdings had
been notfied

Directors’ interests in the Company's shares and the
movernents thereof are detailed in the Annual Remuneration
Report on pages 69 to 81
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Dividend

The Board has proposed a final dwvidend for the year ended
30 Apnl 2016 Details of this and other dividends paid for the
year are as follows

Year ended Year ended

30 Apnl 2018 2 May 2015

Intenm dmvidend 325p 2 50p
Final dvidend 6 50p 6 Q0p
Total dividends 9 75p 850p

The nght to receawve any dividend has been waived by the
trustees of the Company’s ESOTs over a combined hoiding of
749,074 shares

Issue of shares

In accordance with section 551 of the Act, shareholders can
authonse the directors to allot shares in the Company up to
one third of the 1ssued share capital of the Company
Accordingly, at the 2015 annual general meeting shareholders
approved a resolution to give the directors authority to aliot
shares up to an aggregate nominal value of £383,820 The
directors have no present intention to 1ssue ordinary shares,
other than pursuant to cbligations under employee share
schernes This resolution remains valid until the conclusion of
this year’s Annual General Meeting

Authonty was given by the shareholders at the 2015 annual
general meeting to purchase a maomurn of 38,382,000
shares, such authonty remaining valid for 15 months or until
the conclusion of the Company's Annual General Meeting n
2016 The authonty was not exercised dunng the penod or
pnor to the date of this Report The Company will seek the
usual renewal of this authonty at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting but has no current intention to make

such purchases

Use of financial instruments

information about the use of financial Instruments 15 given in
note 26 to the Group financral statements

Auditor

Each director at the date of approval of this Annual Report
and Accounts confirns that

+ so far as the director 15 aware, there 15 no retevant audit
information of which the Company’s auditor s unaware,
and

- the director has taken all the steps that he / she ought to
have taken as a director in order to make himself / herself
aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company’s auditor 1s aware of that information

This confirmation 1s given and should be interpreted in
accordance with the provistons of section 418 of the Act

Delortte LLP have expressed therr willingness to continue in
office as auditor and a resolution to re-appoint them will be
proposed al the forthcorming Annual General Meeting

Certain information required to be included in this Directors’
Report may be found within the Strategic Report

By Order of the Board

oo 0L

Nigel Paterson
Comparny Secreta
28 June 2016

)
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Audit Committee Report

Chairman’s statement
Introduction

| am pleased to present the report of the Audit Committee for
the year ended 30 Apnl 2016 In this covenng letter | set out
our key areas of activity in delivenng on our objective of
ensunng that Dixons Carphone’s financial reporting and nsk
management systems of intemal control are effectve and
appropnate

Building on the actwity and reporting of the Merger in
2014/15, this year the Committee has focused on overseeing
the bedding-down of reporting in the complex regulatory
and govemance environment in which the Group operates
This has entailed ensuring that the assurance activities
encompass, In proportionate measure, non-regulated and
regulated operations, the intermational footpnnt and the

nsk profile of the Group We have also considered the

terms of reference and workings of the Group Risk &
Complance Commuttee

New reporting requirements

Tne Commuttee considered the Group's response to and
conformance with the new requirements of the 2014 UK
Corporate Govemance Code (the ‘Code’} and the Financial
Reporting Council { FRC') Guidance on Risk Management,
Intemal Control and Related Finanoial and Business Reporting
In particutar this includes adopting the langer-term viability
statement for the first trne Management recommended a
three-year viability penod to align with the Group's strategic
planning and forecasting process together with sensitivities
and assumptions based around the pnncipal nsks and related
mibgatng actions The Commuttee concluded that the
approach was appropnate and recommended adoption of the
viability staternent by the Board

Key activities
The Commuttee’s work, camed out dunng the year, included

s fully considenng the requirerments of the Code and sis
apphcation to the Annual Repont and Accounts 2015/16,
Including complying with new provisions relating to the
robust assessment of risks and the viability statement,

« considenng significant accounting and reporting
judgements, including the appropnateness of the Group's
gong concem poshon,

+ considenng and recommending that the Annua! Report and
Accounts 2015/16, when taken as a whole, are farr,
balanced and understandable,

« reviewing the effectiveness of the nsk management system
and intemal controts, operated by management,

+ consdenng and approving the viability statement, more
nformation on which can be found on page 29, and the
assessment and chaltenging of the anatysis performed by
management to reach the condibons underpinning i,

« recewving presentatons and subsequent updates from
management on such matters as succession planning and
talent management, businesses regulated by the Financial
Gonduct Authonty (FCA") and T strategy, and

considering the robustness of the online services
nformation secunty environment, which was the subject of
a cyber-attack in August 2015 and the appropnateness of
the immediate actions taken to secure the impacted
systems and additional secunty measures putin place to
help prevent further attacks

Looking ahead

As the Group continues 1o develop new business areas in
line with its strategy and business plans, we expect the
Committee to remain busy

The work programme will be responsive to the changing
nsk profile, the developing business model, the regulatory
envirpnment, and the changing shape of the systemns
{including IT) architecture The nsk assessment has been
diligently prepared by the Group's management at all levels
We are mingful of the need to remain vigilant as we know
that not all nsks can be eliminated in the chatlenging
environment 1IN which we operate

1 will be in attendance at the forthcoming Anrual General
Meeting and will be available to talk to you then Inthe
meantime f you have any guestions please do get n touch

Jock Lennox
Chaiman of the Audnt Committee
28 June 2016
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Members

In comphance with the Code, the Committee continues to
consist exclusively of independent non-executive directors,
who, along with therr attendance at scheduled meetings,
are set out In the table below Biographical details on each
member can be found on pages 36 to 37

Meetings

The Commitiee mat four scheduled times during the penod
under review Since the year end there has been two further
meetings All ehgible members attended each of the
meetings dunng which they were a member of the
Commuttee The Group Chief Executive, Group Finance
Director, Group Director of Intemal Audd, other senior
management and representatives of the Company's
extemal auditor (Deloite LLP) attended the refevant
Committee meetings by invitation

‘Scheduled

Current members Meatings
Jock Lennox {Chairman) 40f4
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 404
Gerry Murphy 40f4d

The Board continues to be satisfied that the Chaimnan of the
Committee, a member of the Institute of Chartered
Accountants of Scotland, meets the requirement for recent
and relevant financial expenence The Company Secretary
acts as Secretary to the Committee and attends all meetings
The Committee's deliberations are reported by its Chaimnan to
the following Board meeting and the minutes of each meeting
are crrculated to all members of the Board following approval

In order to allow discussion of pnvate matters, which the
auditor may wish to raise, at each meeting, discussion may
be held between the Committee members and the external
auditor without the presence of management if appropnate, a
discussion may be held between Committee members, the
extemal auditor and the Group Director of Intemal Audit

In undertaking its duties the Committee has access o the
services of the Group Drrector of Internal Audit, the Group
Finance Director, the Company Secretary, and ther respective
teams, as well as external professional advice as necessary In
addit:on the Chaman meets with the external audior cutside
of formal meetings and without management present

External advice

The Board makes funds avaitable to the Committee to enable
it to take independent legal, accounting or other advice when
the Committee believes it necessary to do so

Responsibilities

The Committee assists the Board in fulfiling its oversight
responsibilities by acting independently from the executive
directors There 1s an annual schedule of items which are
shared out amongst the meetings dunng the year to ensure
the Commuttee covers fully those items withen its Terms of

Reference These ferns are supplemented throughout the
year as key matters anse

The Committee has the following pnncipal dubes

« monitonng the integnty of the intenm statement and annual
report and accounts and any formal announcements
relating to the Group’s financial performance,

« considenng recommendation of the extermal auditor's
appomntment 10 the shareholders in general meeting and
approve thewr remuneration,

+ reviewing the results and conclusions of work performed by
the extemat auditor,

= reviewing significant financial reporting jJudgements,

+ reviewing the Group's financial controls and intemal control
and nsk management sysiems,

» momnitonng and reviewing the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal audit function,

* reviewing and monitonng the relationship with the extemal
auditor, including their independence, cbjectvity,
effectiveness and terms of engagement,

considenng whistleblowing arrangements by which
employees may raise concems about possible
improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other
matters,

.

considenng the major findings of intemal iInvestigations,

advising the Board on whether, as a whole, the annual
report and accounts are farr, balanced and understandable,

- considenng the going concern statement,

considenng and reviewing the statement of the Company's
viability over a specified penod,

+ any specific topics as defined by the Board, and

- refermng matters to the Board which, in its opinion, should
be addressed at a meeting of the Board

The Terms of Reference of the Committee were last reviewed
and adopted by the Board in June 2016 and are available on
the Group’s carporate website, www dixonscarphone com

Key matters considered during
the year

Accounting and financal reporting matters

The Committee 1s responsible for monitonng the integnty of
the Intenm Statement and Annuat Report and Accounts in
conjunction with both sentor management and the external
auditor Dunng the year ended 30 Apnl 2016, consideration
was given to the following matters

+ the suitability and applicauon of the Group's accounting
policies and prachces,

« areas where ssgnificant levels of judgement have been
apphed or significant itemns have been discussed with the
extemnal auditor,

+ updated accounting and corporate govermnance regulations,
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« Group nsk register managernent and nsk appetite, - whether the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a

+ intemal control effectiveness and control matunty,

« the wiability statement and its alignment with the
business strategy and long-temm plan,

+ financial integrataan and succession planning,
« FCA and regulatory compliance,
+ data protection and information secunty, and

whole, are farr, balanced and understandable and provide
sufficient information necessary for shareholders and other
users of the accounts to assess the Group's positien and
performance, business moded and strategy

To assist with discharging these responsibilities, the
Committee considers documents prepared by management
and intemal audit and reports receved from the extemal
auditor on the outcomes of thewr annual audit and intenm
review procedures

The Committee received reporis and recommendations from management and the external auditor setting out the significant
accounting ssues and judgements applicable to the following key areas These were discussed and chalfenged, where
appropnate, by the Committee Following debate, the Committee concurred with management’s conclusions

Matters of significance and
areas of judgement

How the issue was addressed by the Commuttee

Ravenue recogrition

Revenue recogniion 1s considered 10 be a antical accounting policy and the judgements are setoutin
note 1s) of the Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16 Key components of judgement are largely in
retation to the recognition of network commission recaivable

The Committee reviewed management’s assessment of these pohcies with reference to contractual
terms, the Group's histonca) expenence of customer behaviour and infarmation recenved from MNOs
Particular attention was paid to the consistency of apphcation of the underlying assumptions used and
the sensitvity to the camying value of ongoing network receivables recagnised to changes n key
assumptions as presented in note 26 in the Group financial statements The camying value of ongoing
network commussion recevables at the batance sheet date was £904 milhon

Provisions

The Committee has considered the underlying judgements and estimates taken by management in the
recogniion and valuation of property rationalisation prowisions as disclosed m note 2010 the Group
financtal statemeants

In addition the Commuttee has continued to review the judgernents taken i relation to discontinued
operations of the Group, being the Phone House operations 1n Germany, France, the Netherlands and
Portugal The Committee assessed the likelihood of remaining nsks matenalising and considered the
appropnateness of associated provisions

Suppher funding

A number of arangements exist relating to suppher funding across the Group, including promotionat
support and volume rebates The Commuttee has continued to challenge and debate with management ils
approach to suppher funding, and its recognition and accounting treatment in addition the Comemittee
continues to momitar the effectiveness of the controls in place to mitigate the nsk of matenal russtatement
of supplier funding recognition no major 1ssues were noted Further information in relation to supplher
funding can be found m note 1s} n the Group financial statements

Inventory provisioning

Inventory is a significant balance for the Group, as set out in note 1s] 1 the Group financial staterments
and contains managenal judgement for such iterns as obsolescence and shnnkage As part of the
general Committee procedures managenal pdgement was assessed and no ma;or 1ssues noted

Impairment testing of goodwill and
ntangible assats

The Group has sigmficant goodwll of £3,054 mdlion and acquisition intangbles of £348 rmllon, following
the Merger and the CPW Europe Acquisiton The Committee constdered the judgements made and the
methodology used in assessing the supportabiiity of the year end balances and assessment for any
potential imparrment A sensitvity analysis was then reviewed regarding the impact of a reasonably
posstble change i the key assumptions These assumpiions are set outin note 9 1n the Group

financtal statements.

Taxation

The Group operates across multiple tax junsdictions The complex nature of tax legislation in certain
jnsdictions can necessitate the use of judgement In addition, managerment also uses assumplions and
judgements to assess the Lkelihcod of utilisation of avalable tax losses

The Committee reviewed the judgements and assumphions concerning any significant provisions,
including progress made on matters being discussed with fax authonities and where appicabla advice
provided by external adwsors The total prowistons recogmised at the batance sheet date amounted to
£54 milhon
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Matters of sugnificance and
areas of judgement

How the 1ssue was addressed by the Commuttes

Fair, balanced and understandable

In ensunng that the Group's reporting 1s far balanced and understandabie the Commuttee raviewed the
classification of items between Headhine and Non-Headhne, including consideration of the £184 mitiion
pre-tax Non-Headine charges disclosed in note 4 in the Group financial statements This assessment
considered whether iterns fell within the Group's defirtion of Non-Headline as well as the consistency of
treatment of such tems year on year

In addiion the Commuitiee gave due consideration to the integnty and sufficiency of information disclosed
in the Annual Report and Accounts 2015716 along wath other relevant matters 1o ensure that it explans
the Group's posiion performance business model and strategy This included an assessment of
narrative reporting o ensure consistency with the financal reporting section and appropnate balance and
prominence of statulory and non-statutory performance measures The Commxttee concurred that the
measures used and disclosures provided were appraopnate to prowide users of the Annual Raport and
Accounts 2015/16 with a meaningful assessment of the performance of the undertying operations of the
Group and the Board was advised of this conctusion

Gomng concem

The Comrmttee was presented by management with an assessment of the Group's future cash forecasts
and profit projactions, available facdiies, facility headroom, banling covenants and the results of a
sensitivity analysts The Commattee discussed the assessment with management and was satisfied that
the going concem basis of preparation continues to be appropnate for the Group and advised the Board
accordingly The going concemn statement 1s set out an page 29

Viabihty statement

In addition to thase factors assessed by the Committee in consideration of the going concemn

assessmenl discussed above, the Committee alsc noted the new requirement to produce aviabilty
statement in this year's Annual Report and Accounts Management presented a report that considered
the appropnateness of the three-year bme penod under assessment noling the consistency betwean thig
penod and the penod of focus of the annual strategic planning process The report included Stress
testing of the strategic three-year plan with reference to those pnncipal nsks and mitgatng actions as
descnbed on pages 20 lo 23 to the Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16 The Committee concurred
with management’s conclusions that the viability statement disclosed on page 29 of the Annual Report
and Accounts 201516 15 appropnate The Board was adwvised accordingly

Risk management and mntemal control

The Committee 15 responsibie for reviewing the Group's
ntemal contro! and nsk rmanagement systems In order to
discharge its responsibilities in this area the Committee
reviewed the following key items

» the assessment of the Group's response to information
secunty and data protection nsks,

« the Group's responsibilities relating to those aspects of the
Group that are regulated,

+ the Group-developed financial and IT controls framework
and its subsequent assessment by intemal audtt,

- common control themes identified throughout the business,
and where themes were dentified, ensunng subseguent
action has been taken to miumise the nsk,

- the annual Audit Committee agenda, and

+ the new govemance and nsk management framewoik,
including a definition of nsk appetite by nsk category and
pnncipal nsk, put in place throughout the Group

Internal audit

Dunng the period the following sigmificant nsk areas of the
business were inctuded within intemal audtt reviews

- information secunty and data protection,

« regulatory complance,

+ [T resikence, integnty and disaster recovery,
+ business continuity management, and

+ relatwonships with networks

In addition, as part of the three-year roling assurance
programme, audits were performed over the following financual
processes 1o provide assurance to the Committee that controls
were operating within these areas

+ network revenue and commiIssIOns,
« supplier fundmng,

+ treasury, and

« capital expenditure

Whilst considenng any significant issues ansing from the
results of the audits shown above, the Commuttee also formally
reviewed the effectiveness of ntemat audit and the adequacy
of its resources

External audr

The extemnal auditor 1s appointed by shareholders to provide
an opson on the Annual Report and Accounts and certain
disclosures prepared by Group management Deloitte LLP
acted as the external auditor to the Group throughout the year
The Committes 1s responsible for oversight of the extemnal
auditor, including approving the annual audd plan and all
associated audit fees

The key matters in refaton to external audit that were
considered by the Committee were

» The annual audit plan including the appropnateness of the
key nsks dentified and matenality levels applied

= The annual audit fee and fees for non-audit services which
are set out in note 3 to the Annual Report and Accounts
2015/16, with due regard to the balance between audit and
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non-audit fees and the policy for approval of non-audit fees
paid to the Group’s auditor

« The effectiveness of the extemal auditor Feedback on the
effectiveness of the audt process in addressing areas of
key audit nsk was obtained from members of the Committee
and regular attendees, members of the finance team and
semor management within the businesses via a specifically
desgned questonnaire The responses were then
considered by the Committee in conjunction with the
outputs recewved and responsiveness of the auditor dunng
the audt process The results showed a positive view of the
audtt process and of Delostte LLP as the external auditor,
specifically in relation to the high quality and integrity of the
team, the constructive relationship and the effectiveness
of the communication Following due consideraton the
Committee continues to be satisfied with the quality and
effectiveness of the audit

+ Significant issues and areas of udgement ansing from
reports from the external auditor These areas were set
out n the raports from the extemal auditor and discussed
with the Committee The Committee concluded that the
judgements taken and assumptions made by managernment
were all far and reasonable

Provision of non-audit services
provided by the external auditor

The Committee's adoption of a revised policy on auditor
independence last year had further restncted non-audt
services, and Iimited services provided by the exteral auditor
1o audit and certain specific audt-related services (pnmanly
those related to the role of reporting accountant and audst
reports on financial information provided by the Group) All
non-audit fee proposals are subject to pre-approval and must
be submitted 1o the Group Financial Controller Where
assignments are expected to generate fees of over £100,000,
pnor approval must be obtained from the Committee

Dunng the penod under review, the non-audd services
performed by the external auditor primarly arose from the
finalisation of tax services relating to dscontinued operations,
ntenm financial review procedures and the requirement in
Greek taw for the external audrtor of the company to provide
non-audit services The Committee has reviewed the services
performed by the external auditor dunng the year and 1s
satisfied that these services did not prejudice the extemal
auditor’s independence and that it was appropnate for them
to perform these services

Tha level of non-audit fees paid to the external auditor, which
was approved by the Committee 15 set out in note 3 of the
Group’s financial statements and amounted to £0 4 milkon
compared with £1 5 milion of audit fees The non-audit fees
as a percentage of audt fees was 28% This s considerably
lovser than in 2014/15 as a result of ene-off, Merger-related
fees last year and the new, more restncted pohicy goverming
the use of Delotte LLP for non-audit services

Consideration of auditor appointment
and independence

The Committee continues 1o consider the appropnateness of
the re-appointment of the extemal audtor, including rotation
of the audit partner Deloitte LLP has been the Company’s
extemnal auditor since August 2002, pnor to Carphone
Warehouse's demerger from TalkTalk Deloitte LLP was also
the external auditor of Dixons Retad The lead audit partner,
John Adam, has now completed his five-year term and must
be succeeded by a different partner, in accordance with best
practice and the Auditing Practices Board Ethical Standards
We would Ike to take this opportunity to thank John for his
valuable nput and guidance and welcome Stephen Gnggs as
his successor

The Company’s policy is 1o comply with the UK Corporate
Govemance Code, mtroduced by the FRC, to put the extemal
audit out to tender at least once every ten years In accordance
with the Competiton and Markets Authonty { CMA') Statutary
Audit Services Order, which 18 designed to align with
provisions of the EU Regulations on extemal audit tender and
rotation, and current gudance the Company 1s required to
conduct a competitive audit tender by June 2023 This wilibe
the latest penod that Deloitte LLP may remain as auditor The
Committee will continue to evaluate annually the performance
of the auditor, in particular at each five-year rotation of the lead
audtt partner, and will recommend a tender for this sernce if
the circumstances so warrant

In accordance with International Standards on Auditing

{UK and treland) 260 and Ethical Standard 1 issued by the
Accounting Practices Board, and as a matter of best practice,
at year end Deloitte LLP formally confirmed to the Board its
independence as auditor of the Company

In determining whether to recommend the auditor for
re-appointment this year, the Committee considered the

firm's ntermal control procedures, the most recent audit
eHectiveness review, the tenure of the lead audit partner and
the ngorous assessment of the replacement lead audnt partner,
and thereby affirmed that the audd processes are effective and
that the appropnate independence continues to be met
Accordingly, the Company confirms that t comphed with the
prowisions of the CMA Statutory Audit Services Order for the
financial year under review and the Committee concluded that
it was in the best interests of the Company's shareholders to
reappoint Deloitte LLP as the ndependent auditor of the
Company The Committee’s recommendation, that a resoiution
to re-appoint Deloitte LLP be proposed at this year's Annual
General Meeting, was accepted and endorsed by the Board

Jock Lennox
Chaxmnan of the Audit Commitiee
28 June 2016
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Nominations Committee Report

Chairman’s overview

The Nominations Committee has an important role in the
Dixons Carphone govemnance structure, evatuating the skills
required to lead the business effectively and ensunng the nght
talent and expenence 1s avalable In order to ensure continuity
of purpose and effective leadership, it 1$ important to ensure
succession planning cbhigations are met

The Committee regularly reviews s obligabons under
govermnance gurdelines, the last review was in March 20186,
which included an appraisal of Board experience and
composition, diversity, tme commitments of each director,
director independence and a review of the Committee’s Terms
of Reference

©On 16 December 2015 the leadership of the business was
significantly strengthened by the appomntment of Lord
Livingston of Parkhead as Deputy Charman and Tony
DelNunzic CBE as Senior Independent Director Lord
Livingston and Tony DeNunzio are both members of the
Nominations and Remuneralion committees Lord Livingston
also assumed the position of Charrman of the Remuneration
Commuttee, on the same date John Gildersleeve and Roger
Taylor resigned as directors of the Company

More information about the Nominations Commuttee and its
position in the Company's governance framework is shown on
the nght

Sir Chartes Dunstone
Charman of the Nominations Commiites
28 June 2016

Meetings

+ The Norminations Commmuttee meets as and when requtred
and at least twice a year

+ The Nominations Committee met three times dunng the
penod under review

Committee membership and attendance

The members of the Nomimatons Commuitiee are shown in
the tabie below along with therr attendance at scheduled
meetings for the penod under review Biographical details
on each member can be found on pages 36 to 37

Scheduled
Current members Meetings
Sir Charles Dunstone {Chairman) Jof3
Lord Livingston of Parkhead™ 10f1
Tony DeNunzic CBE™ 1of1
Andrea Gisle Joosen® 20f3
Former member
John Gildersleeve® 20f2

(1) Lord Livingston and Tony DeNunzio attended the one meeling
hetd following their appointment on 16 December 2015

(2) Andrea Gisle Joosen did not attend one meeting dueto a
scheduling conflict

(3) John Gildersleeve artended both meetngs prior to his
resignation on 16 December 2015

The majonty of the members are independent NEDs as
required by the UK Comorate Governance Code (the
‘Code’}) Other members of the Board or semor
management may be invited to attend meetings at the
request of the Chaimman

The Company Secrelary acts as Secretary to the Committee
The Committee's deliberations are reported by its Charman at
the following Board meeting and the minutes of each meeting
are circulated to all members of the Board following approval

Responsibilities
The pnncipal duttes of the Nominations Committee are to

» raview the structure, size and composition of the Board, and
recommend changes as necessary,

- ilentify, evaluate and nominate candidates to fill vacancies
on the Board,

review the leadership requirements with a view to ensunng
the continued atility of the organisation to compete
effectively and be responsible for succession planning,

- carry out a forrma! selection process of candidates,

- evaluate the skills, knowledge and expenence of the Board
ncluding reviewing the results of any Board performance
evaluation,
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« consder other commitments of directors relative to the time
required for them to fulfil therr dutes, and

« make recommendations to the Board regarding the
continuation i office of a director upon the expiry of any
specified terms of appointment

The Committee's Terms of Reference are reviewed annually
The last review was in March 2016 and the Terms of Reterence
were subsequently approved by the Board The Committee's
Terms of Reference are availlable on the Group's corporate
website, www dixonscarphone com

Key matters considered

in addition to the pnncipal duties noted above, the Committee
also considered the appontrments of Lord Livngston and Tony
DeNunzwo, and the resignations of John Gildersleeve and
Roger Taylor

The Committee also considers these matters penodically

« an evaluation of the size, composition and structure of the
Beard and its committees,

= the Company's diversity policy,

- time commitments of the directors,

- the extemal appomntments policy,

- the Commitiea's performance and Terms of Reference, and

- areview of the role descnptions of the Chaiman, Senior
Independent Director and the Group Chiet Executive

Board evaluation

Dunng 2015/16 the trienmal Board evaluation was undertaken
by an independent company, NJMD Corporate Services
Limited The review included the Board and the Audi,
Norminations and Remuneraton commuttees and exarmined all
aspects of the Board's procedures and actvities Further
detalls of the evaluation process can be found on page 43

Appointments to the Board

The Commuttee has a formal, ngorous and transparent
procedure for the appomntment of new directors Appaintments
are made to the Board based on objective critena and with due
regard to the benefits of diversity and the leadership needs of
the Company External search consultancies are retained when
recrutting non-executive directors

An independent global search firm, JCA Associates, was
apponted Candidate profiles were developed mdicating the
skills, knowledge and experience required for each role, taking
nto account the Board's existing composition and skl sets
The Commuttee, led by the Chairman, undertook a thorough
search and selection process for the most appropnate
candidates A wice range of hugh calibre candidates was
conswered for the roles of Deputy Chaiman and Servor
Independent Director The Comrmittee and Board confirmed
both Lord Livingston's and Tony DeNunzio's independence
upon appomntment and were unanimous in ther decisions (o
appotnt them

Succession planning

The business requires a lalented Board with appropniate
expenence and expertise This year, the Board has placed
further emphas:s on succession planning with two new
appontments in December 2015 The Board considers no
additional appointment is necessary at this time but is mindful
of Baroness Morgan's tenure Board succession and
composition will remain a prionty, as the Board 1S CONSCIOUS
that it must look further and wider for the leaders of the future
In secunng the long-term prospenty of the business, the Board
must look deeper into the pool of talent that currently exists
within the crganisation, identfying new talent and casting the
net wider, with a longer horizan, for potential directors with the
appropriate skill-sets 10 meet the demands of an ever more
complex business environment

Diversity

The Board recognises the importance of diversity in achieving
the nght mix of skills, knowledge and expenence to help the
organisation reach its full potential The Board acknowledges
the October 2015 Women on Boards Davies Review (Review’)
which recommends a voluntary target of 33% to be achieved
by 2020 Currently 23% of the Board, and 17% of the Group
Executive team, are female

Whilst noting the recommendations of the Review, the Board
does not establish targets on gender balance as it believes that
candidates should be appointed on ment Our Board supports
the benefits of greater diversity, which 1s not just gender-
specific but also encompasses age, ethmcity, background and
dwersity of thought The Board 1s conscious of the need 1o give
weight to these factors in future appointments More
mformation on employee diversity can be found on page 31

In performing its annual review the Board also looked at other
aspects of dversity relevant to the Group With a large
proportion of the business in the Nordics, we have a Swedish
Non-Executive Director on the Board to prowide knowledge of
these intermational markets

Re-election

All directors will present themselves for election or re-election
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting Each of the
directors 1s being unammously recommended by the other
members of the Board due to their expenence, knowledge and
wider management and mdustry expenence, continued
effectiveness and commutment to therr role
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Remuneration Report

Chairman’s statement

On behalf of the Board., | am pleased to present the 2015/16
Dwrectors’ Remuneration Repont which sets out cur phifosophy
and proposed future policy for directors’ remuneration, together
with the activibes of the Commuttee for this financial year ended
30 Apni 2016

Policy review

The integration has gone well and the strong performance of this
year validates the bnnging together of the two businesses Qur
focus now con developing our Connected World Services and
Knowhow businesses, complementing our core retail and
serices offenng, bnngs with it exciting opportunities, supporting
long-term eamings growth Against this backgrouna, over the last
few months, the Committee has been reviewing the Group's
approach to exegutive remuneration and following consuitation
with our major shareholders I1s proposing a new long term incentive
ptan and will be seeking approval for this new plan from
shareholders at the AGM in September this year

The current long term plan {the ‘Share Plan’) has been a key
element of the policy to date seelng to Incentivise management
to deliver supenor shareholder returns through the Merger and
integration of our two businesses The performance of the Share
Plan will be measured in July 2017 when, subject to performance
60% of the sharas will vest, with the remaining 40%5 vestng

12 months later

The Committee had previously indicated that 1t would not seek to
atther make new awards under the Share Plan, or introduce a new
plan, until awards under the current plan had fully vested in 2018
However, on taking over the role as Chairman of the Commuttee,
we reviewed 1ssues around the recruitment and development of
management in our business and came to the clear view that
having no long term scheme in place that would follow on from the
existing scheme would be detnmental to the business and our
shareholders We also felt that the Company had now reached the
stage that it was appropnate to move to a more standard
annualised award of performance shares These will be based on
EPS growth and relative TSR and 1s a matenal change in the way
the Committee 1s seeking to operata directors’ (and other sentor
executives'} remuneration in the Company

We have consulted with our major sharehclders and reflected their
feedback into the design of the proposed Remuneration Policy
The details of the new long term incentive plan arg in the Policy
saction of this Report, but in summary are

« an annual award of performance shares, with a normal
maximum grant of 275% of base salary, with the ability to make
awards of up to 375% of base salary In exceptional
circumstances, € g recruitment,

+ three-year vesting penod, with a subsequent two-year holding
penod of any net of tax vested shares for executive directors

« for 2016/17, performance measured equally against relative
TSR, using the FTSE 51-150 peer group and adjusted EPS
over the three year penod, and

» robust withholding and recovery provisions, as with the
Share Plan

Proposed award levels for executive directors are set cuton
page 71 and will, subject to shareholder approval, be granted
shortly after the AGM in September 2016

The Commuttee recogrises that proposing a common salary
multiple for the long term incentive plan award to all executive
directors 1s relatively unusua, but this 1s reflective of the close

working relationship and contributions of the executive director
team, which have been key 10 the success of the Group

Whilst relative TSR and adjusted EPS have been chosen as the
performance measures for the awards to be made in 2016/17, the
Committee will retain the discretion to introduce a third measure in
future years, if appropnate, 1o enhance focus on a particular aspect
of business performance In the event that the Commitiee decrded
to do this, major shareholders would be consulted and also the
TSR component would not be weighted less than 40%, to ensure
ongong focus on shareholder value creation

We have also been very mindful of the current environment in
axecutive remuneration, base pay increases for 2016 baing in Ine
with those for the wider workforce and no other changes are
proposed to the Remuneration Policy other than

+ tha removal of the abilily to pay a retention bonus {0 executive
drrectors under the loss of office provisions, and

+ capping of any fong term incentive plan award on recruitment
to 375% of base salary, in ine with exceptional awards under
the new long term plan

In conclusion, the Committee believes that the introduction of the
new long term incentive plan and its design are nght for the Group
as it moves into a post-Merger operating environment It s akigned
to our overall aim to have a remuneration policy which promotes
the long-term success of the business through the attrachon and
retenton of executives who have the ahility, expenence and
dedication to deliver outstanding retums for our shareholders The
Committee 1s also very aware that much of the Group's success Is
down to the dedication and hard work of all our employees and we
are delighted with the ongoing success of the Dixons Carphone
Sharesave plan, in which we now have 25% of our UK & Ireland
workiorce participating

The proposed new Remuneration Policy as set outin this
Annua Report and Accounts will be put to shareholders for
a binding vote at the AGM on 8 September 2016, where
shareholders will be asked to approve the policy for a period
of three years

Pay and performance for 2015/16

As set out (n the Strategic Report this has been a year of strong
financial and operational performance Headlne pro forma EBIT
increased by 13%, average net debt was ahead of target and there
were improvements in ROCE, customer net promoter and
employee engagement scores This must be considered a very
strong performance in a difficult and competiive market The
Committee approved annual bonus payments of 68 4% of base
salary (73 7% of maximum opportunity) for the executive directors,
which reflected the strong performance, but also the stretching
nature of the targets set by the Committee

Full details of the performance targets and actual performance
assessed are provided in the Annual Bemuneraton Report
on page 76

| SE——

tan Lvingston
Charman of the Remuneraton Committes
28 June 2016
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Remuneration Report - Remuneration Policy

Introduction

The purpose of this Report 1s to inform shareholders of the
Company's directors’ remuneration for the pencd ended
30 Aprl 2016 and the Remuneration Policy for subsequent
years This Report is divided into two sections

« the Remuneration Polcy, and
« the Annual Remuneration Report

The current remuneration policy was approved by shareholders
at the annual general meeting on 10 September 2015
Following several proposed changes to the Policy, a new
authonty will be sought from shareholders ina tinding vote

at the Annual General Meeting on 8 September 2016 and the
new Policy will be effective from that date The Annual
Remuneration Report will also be put to an advisory vote

at the Annual General Meeting

The role of the Remuneration Committee {the ‘Commitiee’)
15 to determine on behatf of the Board a remuneration policy
for executive directors and sersor management which
promotes the long-term success of the business through the
attraction and retention of executives who have the ability,
expenence and dedication to dehiver outstanding retums for
our shareholders

The Committee has adopted the principles of good govemance
relating to directors’ remuneration as enshnned in section D of
the Corporate Govemance Code (the ‘Code’} and has complied
with those pnnciples in the year under review

These reports have been prepared by the Committee on behalf
of the Board n accordance with the Comparues Act 2006,
Sehedule 8 to the Large and Medium-sized Comparves and
Groups (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (as
amended) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct
Authonty The Remuneration Policy {which 1s not subject to
audit) details the role of the Committee, the pnnciples of
remuneration and other matters The Annual Remungraton
Report {elements of which are audited) details the directors’
and former directors’ fixed and vanable pay, share awards,
share options and pension arangements

Remuneration Policy -
unaudited information

Remuneraton Committee objectives

The Board has delegated to the Commuttee responsibility for
determining policy in relation to the remuneration packages
for executive directors and other senior management This
delegation includes therr terms and conditions of employment
in addition to the operation of the Group's share-based
employee incentve schemes The Commuttee has clearty
defined Terms of Reference which are available on the
Company's corporate website

Remuneraton strategy

Put simply, our aimn 1S to generate supenor retums for our
shareholders and the key 1o achieving this s our people
Our remuneratian strategy 1s therefore designed to motivale
high-performing people to deliver our business strategy

The objectives of our remuneration strategy are to
« attract, motate and retain high quality talent,

+ be transparent and align the interests of serior management
and executive directors with those of shareholders, by
encouraging management to have a significant personal
stake in the long-term success of the business,

« waight remuneration to vanable pay that ncentivises
outperformance particularly over the long term whilst
discouraging inappropriate nsk-taking,

. ensure that supenor rewards are only paid for exceptional
performance agamst challenging targets,

- apply policies consistently across the Group to promote
alignment and teamwork,

- recogmse the importance of delivenng across a balanced set
of metncs to ensure the nght behaviours are adopted and
the long-term heatlth of the business 1s protected, and

» avoid rewarding failure
In developing its policy the Committee has regard to

- the performance, roles and responsibilities of each executive
director or member of semor management,

+ arrangements which apply below semor management levels,
including average base salary ncreases across the
workforee,

- information and surveys from internal and independent
sources,

« the economic envirenment and financial performance of the
Company, and

- good corporate governance practice
Guidelines on responsible investment disclosure

In ing with the Investment Association Guidelines on
responsible imvestment disclosure, the Committee 15 sabisfied
that the incentive structure and targets for executive directors
do not raise any environmental, social or governance risks by
inadvertently motivating iresponsible or reckless behaviour
The Committee considers that no element of the remuneration
package will encourage inappropnate nsk-taking by any
member of senior management
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Remuneration Policy table

The indwidual elements of the remuneration packages offered to executive directors are summansed in the following table

Base salary {fixed pay)

= Pumose and link to strategy

+ Operaton

+ Maxtmum opportunity

« Performance assessment / largets

To aid the recruitment, retention and motivation of hugh-performing people

To reflect therr skills, expenence and importance {o the business

Normally reviewed annually

The review reflects a range of factors including ment levels, intemal relativity, extemal
market data and cost Qur overall policy, having due regard to the factors noted, is
nomnally to target salanes up to the mid-market level

Salares for new appointments as executive directors will be set in accordance with the
Recrutment Pohcy set out on pages 65 to 66 of this Remuneration Policy

The Committee takes into consideration the impact of base salary increases on the
package as a whole, as other elements of pay {such as pension contnbutions) are
generally based on a percentage of salary

Ordinanly, increases for executive directors will be in ine with increases across the
Group Increases beyond thase granted across the Group may be awarded in certan
circumstances such as changes in responsibiities, progression in the role and segruficant
increases in the size, complexity or value of the Group

Salary levels for current directors are shown in the Annual Remuneration Report
Salanes are normally reviewed annually by the Committee at the appropnate meeting

having due regard to the individual’s expenence, performance and added value to
the business

Benefits (fixed pay)

+ Purpose and hnk to strategy

* Qperation

* Maximum opportunity

+ Performance assessment / targels

In ine with the Company's strategy to keep remuneration weighted to vanable pay that
incentivises outperformance, a modest range of benefits 1s provided

Benefils may vary based on the personal choices of the director

Prowision of relocation or other related assistance may be prowvided to support the
appointment or relocation of a director

Executive directors are entitled to a combination of benefits which include, but are not
hmited to

« car aliowance,

= pnvate medwcal cover,

+ long-term incapacity cover,

+ Iife assurance,

* holday and sick pay, and

» arange of voluntary benefits ncluding the purchase of additional hohdays

Executive directors will be ehgible for other benefits which are introduced for the wider
workforce on broadly swnilar terms

Any reasonable business-related expenses (including the tax thereon) can be
retmbursed if determined o be a taxable benefit

Should an executive director be recnuited from or be based in a non-UK location,
benefits may be determined by those typically provided in the normal country of
residence and / or reflect local market legisiation

Relocation or other related assistance could include, but s not imited to, removal and
other refocation costs, tax equalisation, tax advice and accemmaodation costs

The cost to the Group of prowiding such benefits will vary from year to year in
accordance with the cost of providing such benefits, which 1s kept under regular review

Not applicable
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Pension (fixed pay)

« Purpose and Imk to strategy

» Operation

» Maamum opporturity

- Performance assessment / targets

A pension is provided whuch s consistent with that provided to managers across the
Group and in line with our strategy to keep remuneration weighted to varable pay that
ncentivises outperformance

Defined contnbution plans are offered to all employees A defined benefit pension plan
continues n operation for Dixons® longer-serving employees, which s now closed to
new participants and future accrual

Executive directors may choose to recewve a cash allowance in heu of pension
contributions

Normal company pension contnbution of up to 10% of base salary, which can be taken
in whole or In part as a cash allowance in lieu of pension However a greater contrbution
of up to 20% may be made where necessary {0 recruit or retamn an executive director

Not applicable

Annual performance bonus (vanable pay)

« Purpose and link to strategy

« Operation

+ Maximum opportunity

+ Performance assessment / targets

Annual performance bonuses are in place to ncentivise the delvery of stretching,
near-term business targets based on our business strategy

These bonuses provide a strong link between reward and performance and dnve the
creation of further shareholder value

The pnneiples and approach are consistently apphed across the Group ensuring
ahgnment to a common vision and strategy

They are based on a balanced approach ensurning appropnate behaviours are adopted
and encouraging a longer-term focus

Bonus payments are determined after the year end and subject to 8 mimmum profit
threshold being achieved before payment s due

For threshold level of performance a bonus of up to 25% of base salary 1s payable A
shding scale detenmines payment between the rminmum and maximum bonus payable

The annual bonus is typically paid in July 7 August in cash and 1s non-pensionatle,
based on the audited performance over the previous financial year

The annual bonus can instead be settled in shares or a mixture of cash and shares
which could be deferred, at the dhscretion of the Remuneration Commuttee

Performance 1s reviewed by the Commuttee using 1ts judgement where necessary to
assess the achevement of targets The Committee retains the discretion to adjust
downwards bonus payments where achieverment of targets would result n a payment
of a borus at a level which would not be consistent with the interests of the Company
and its shareholders

Recovery and withholding provisions apply for matenal misstatement, misconduct and
reputational damage enabling performance adjustments and / or recovery of sums
already paid These provisions will apply for up to three years after payment

Maximum annual bonus patential for all executive directors 1s 125% of base salary
No bonus is payable if the mimmumn profit threshold 15 not achieved

All measures and targets are reviewed and set by the Committee at the beginning of
the financial year with a view to supporting the achievement of the Group strategy

The bonus scherne has targets based on a balanced scorecard The balanced
scorecard may include both financial and non-financial measures, such as employee,
customer and strategic measures The weighting of measures will be determined by the
Committee each year Financial measures (such as profit and cash} will represent the
majonty of the bonus opportunity, with other measures representing the balance
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Long term incentive scheme (vanable pay) Long Term Incentive Plan (‘LTIP')

+ Purpose and hnk to strategy

+ Operation

« Maximum opportunity

« Performance assessment / targets

Long term incentive schemes are transparent and dermonstrably aligned with the
interests of shareholders over the long term

The LTIP 1s designed to reward and retain executives over the longer term whilst aligning
an mdividual’s interests with those of shareholders and in tum delivenng significant
shareholder value

Discretionary awards of nil-pnced options or conditional share awards are granted over
Dixons Carphone plc shares

Awards will be granted annually and will usuatly vest after three years subject to
continued service and the achievement of performance conditions

The level of vesting 1s dependent on achievermnent of performance targets, usually over
a three year penod

The post-tax number of share awards vesting will be subject to a further two year
holding perod, during which they cannot be solg, unless in exceptional circumstances
and with the Committee's permission

Dwidend equivalents may be accrued on the shares eamed from any award

Awards will be subyject to recovery and withholding prowisions for matenal misstatement,
misconduct and reputational damage enabling perforrance adiustments and / or
recovery of sums already paid These provisions will apply for up to three years

after vesting

f employment ceases dunng the vesting penod, awards will ardinarly lapse i full,
unless the Committee exercises its discretion

The Committee has the discretion in certain circumstances to grant and / or setile
an award in cash For the executive directors this would only be used in exceptional
cirrcumstances

In the event of a change of control, any unvested awards will vest immediately, subject
to satisfaction of performance conditicns and reduction on a time-apportioned basis

Grants under the LTIP are subject to overall ditution hmits

Subject to approval at the forthcoming AGM, the normal maximum grant per partcipant
m any financiat year will be a market value of 275% of base salary, with up to 375%
n exceptional circurnstances, € g recrutment

More detals on the proposed award levels for executive directors in 2016 are set out
in the Annual Remuneration Report on page 71

Performance targets are reviewed by the Committee prior to each grant and are set
ta reflect the key pnonties of the business at that time

The Committee determunes the metncs from a range of measures, including but not
limited to, market-based performance measures such as TSR and the intemal financial
metnes such as EPS The Commitiee retains the flexibiity to introduce new measures in
the future if considered appropnate given the busness context, although TSR will not be
weighted any less than 40% of the total award Matenal changes will be subject to
consultabion with major shareholders

The proposed metncs for awards will be set out in the Annual Remuneration Report
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All employee share plans

« Pumpose and link to strategy

+ Operation

+ Maximum opportunity

+ Performance assessment / targets

Encourages employees to make a long-term nvestment in the Cornpany’s shares and
therefore be aligned to the long-term success of the Company

Execulive drectors are eligible to participate in any all employee share plans operated
by the Company which have been approved by shareholders on the same terms as
other eligible employees

Currently share options are granted under the Dixons Carphone HMRC approved SAYE
scheme, subject to three- or five-year vesting penods

Participants can save up to £500 per month for either three or five years, and in retum
receive a share option granted at up to 20% discount to the market pnce at the time of
the inwitation

The Committee reserves the nght to increase this savings imit for future schemes in
accordance with the statutory imits in place from tme to tme

The SAYE scheme 1s not subject to any performance conditions

Share ownership gudselines

+ Purpose and link to strategy

» Operation

« Maximurn opportunity

= Performance assessment / targets

Provides close alignment between the longer-term interests of executive directors
and shareholders in terms of the Company's long-tenm success

The Company requires executive directors to retan a certain percentage of base
salary in the Company's shares Executive directors have a five-year penod to reach
these hmits

The shares which count tawards this requirement are beneficially-owned shares (both
directly and indirectly)

Not apphcable

The Company reguires all execuitive directors to retain 200% of base satary in the
Company's shares

Detalls of the directors’ shareholdings are shown in the table on page 80,
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Non-executive directors and Chairman / Deputy Chairman fees

* Purpose and ink to strategy

+ Operation

+ Maximumn opportunity

To provide a competitive fee for the performance of non-executive director duties,
sufficient to attract high calibre individuals to the role

The fees are set to align with the duties undertaken, taking into account market rates,
and are nomrnally reviewed on an annual basis Factors taken into consideration nclude
the expected tme commitment and specific expenence

Additional fees are payabte for acting as the Senor Independent Director or for acting
as Chair of any Board committee, and for membership of a Board Cormmittee

Non-executive directors do not participate in the annual performance bonus or the long
term incentive plans or pension arrangements

Any reasonable business-related expenses {Including the tax thereon} can be
reimbursed f determined to be a taxable benefit

For matenal, unexpected increases in tme commitments, the Board may pay extra fees
on a pro-rated basis to reflect addihonal workload

Aggregate annual hrmit of £2,000,000 imposed by the Articles of Association for
directors’ fees (not including fees in relation to any executive office or Chairman, Deputy
Chaiman, Senior independent Director or Commitiee Charr fees)

+ Performance assessment / targets  Not apphicable

Notes

{1) The following matenal changes have been made to the Remuneration Policy in ocder to align the pay of executive directors following a

review of long term incentives

no further awards to be made under the Share Plan descnbed in more detall on page 78,

= introduce a new Long Term Incentive Plan with maxumum award fevels of 275% of salary in nomal circumstances and 375% n exceptional
circumstances, an addibonat two-year ho!ding penod and the inclusion of damdend equivalents on vested long term incentive awards,

» removal of the ability to pay a retention bonus to executive directors under the loss of office prowisions, and

+ capping of any long term incentive plan award an recruitment to 375% of base salary, in line with excepbonal awards under the new Long

Term Incentive Plan

() The Commuttee intends to honour ail commutrmants previously provided 1o executive directors and current employees, including the terms
ang conditions of outstanding long lerm Incentives such as those previously approved by shareholders under the Dixons Carphone Share
Ptan or Share Option Plan Oetails of these awards far executive diwectors are set out on page 78

(3) Market-pnced options will not be granted to executive directors
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fliustration of Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Policy scenario chart below tustrates the level and mux of po

tential total remuneration the curent executive

directors could receve under the Remuneration Policy at three levels of performance minimum, target and maxmmum

Remuneration Policy scenario chart

Notes

M
@

@

Fixed pay 1s based on the basic salary payable as at the start of the current year, taxable benefits and pension contributions

Annual vanable pay represents the annual bonus entitlement No bonus 1s assumed at the minmum pedormance level Targel performance
assumes a payment of 75% of salary (i @ 60% of maximum) and maximum performance a payment of 125% of base salary

Long termn incentivés relate to the Long Term Incentive Plan, wn which it 1s proposed the executve dectors participate These are illustrative
armounts and the actual outcomas may differ depending on share pace growth No awards vest at the minimum performance level Tanget
performance assumes a vestng of 151% of salary (e 55% of maximum award) and maximum performance vesting of 275% of satary
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Remuneration Committee discretions

The Committee operates the annual benus plan, long term
incentive and alt employee plans in accordance with their
respective rules, the Listing Rules and HMRC nutes {or
overseas equivalent) where relevant The Committee retains
discretion, consistent with market practice, over a number of
areas relating to the operation and administration of these
plans These include but are not imited to

» enttlement to participate in the plan,
+ when awards or payments are to be made,

+ sze of award and / or payment (within the rules of the plans
and the approved policy),

+ deterrmination of a good leaver for incentive plan purposes
and the appropriate treatment based on the nules of each

plan,

= discretion as to the measurement of performance conditions
and pro-rating in the event of a change of control,

+ any adjustment to awards or performance conditions for
significant events or exceptional circumstances, and

- the application of recovery and withholding prowvisions

Shareholder and employee consultation

The Comrmuttee has a policy to consuit with its major
shareholders when making any significant changes to the
Remuneration Policy of the Company Any feedback receved
15 taken into consideration when determiming future policy For
example, in contemplation of a new long term ncentive policy
a consultation took place with majar shareholders to explan
the Committee’s proposed approach Following constructive
feedback, the Committee determined to put a cap on the level
of award under the Company's Long Term Incentwe Plan in
exceptional crreumstances, such as recruitment

The Committee also takes into consideration remuneration
guidance 1ssued by large investor bodies in addmon to the
prnciples of good govemance retating to directors’
remuneration as set out n the Code

Whilst employees are not formally consulted on executive
remuneration, a number of them are shareholders and as such
are able to exercise ther influence We also monitor our
employee discussion boards and employae forums to ensure
employee feedback in general 1s considered n all our strategy
executon The Company also conducts regular employee
surveys throughout the business The Commuttee 1s kept
informed of general employment conditions across the Group,
including the annual pay review outcomes

Remuneration policy for the wider workforce

Dixons Carphone employs a large number of people across
different countries QOur reward framework :s structured around
a set of common pnnciples with adjustments made to suit the
needs of the different businesses and employee groups
Reward packages differ for a vanety of reasons including the
wmpact on the business, local practice, custom and legislation

In determurung salary ncreases to apply across the wider
workforce, the Company takes into conswleration Company
performance and other market metncs as necessary When
settmg the policy for executive directors the Committee takes

into consideration salary increases throughout the Company,
as a whole

Discreticnary share plans are extended to both senior
management and other key members of the workforce,

as the Company feels that it 1Is important to incentvise and
retain these employees over the longer-term in order for the
Company to continue to grow

The Company encourages wide employee share ownership,
and as such the Group's UK & Insh employees who meet the
eligibility cntena are also invited to jom the Company's UK &
Ireland approved SAYE

Recrutment or promotion policy

Cn appointment or promotion, base salary levels will be set
taking into account a range of factors ncluding market levels,
expenence, intemal refativities and cost If an individual s
apponted on a base salary below the desired market
positrorung, the Committee retains the discretion to re-align
base salary over one to three years, contingent on individual
performance, which may resuit 1n a higher rate of annualised
increase above ordinary levels If the Committee intends to
rety on this discretion, it will be noted in the first remuneration
report following an individual's appointment Other elements
of annual remuneration will be in line with the policy set cut in
the Remuneration Policy table As such, vanable remuneration
will be capped as set out in the Policy table

The following exceptions will apply

« in the event that an intemal appointment 1s made or an
executive director joins as a result of a transfer of an
undertaking, merger, reconstructian or similar
recrganisation, the Committee retans the discretion to
continue with existing remuneration provisions, ncluding
pension contnbutions and the prowvision of benefits,

+ as deemed necessary and appropnate to secure an
appointment, the Committee retains the discretion to
make addional payments linked to relocation (including
any tax thereon),

« for an overseas appointment, the Committee will have
discretion to offer cost-effective benefits and pension
provisions whuch refiect local market practice and
relevant legislation,

» the Committee may set alternative performance conditions
for the remainder of the inial annual bonus performance
penad, taking into account the circumstances and tming
of the appointment, and

+ the Committee retains the discretion to provide an
immediate interest in Company performance by making
a long term incentive award on recruitment {or shortly
thereafter if in a prohibited penod) in accordance with the
Policy Table under its existing long term incentive schemes
or such future schemes as may be introduced by the
Company with the approval of its shareholders The
Committee will deterrmine the level of the award, the
performance condrions and time honzon that would apply
to such awards at the time of award, taking into account the
strategy and business circunstances of the Company
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Service contracts will be entered nto on terms similar to those
for the existing executive directors, summansed in the
Recruitment table below However, the Committee may
authonse the payment of a relocation and / or repatnation
allowance, as wel) as other associated international mobility
terms and benefits, such as tax equalisation and tax advice

In addibon to the annual remuneration elements noted above,
the Committee may consider buying out, on a like-for-lke
basis, bonuses and / or incentive awards that an indnadual
forfeits from a previous employer in accepling the
appomntment The Commuttee will have the authonty 10 rely on
Listing Rule 9 4 2(2) or exceptional limits of awards ofup to
A75% of base salary within the Long Term Incentive Plan (f
madg, the Commitiee will be informed by the structure, time
honzons, value and performance targets associated with any
forferted awards while retainng the discretion to make any
payment ar award deemed necessary and appropnate The

Recrutment table

Committee may also require the appointee to purchase shares
in the Company 1n accordance withits sharehoiding policy

With respect to the appointment of a new Chairman or
non-executive director, terms of appontment will be consistent
with those cumrently adopted Vanable pay will not be
considered and as such no maxmum apphes With respect to
non-executive directors, fees will be consistent with the policy
al the time of appantment If necessary, to secure the
appointment of a new Charman not based i the UK, payments
relating %o relocation and / or housing may be considered

Elements of remuneration on appointment are set out i
the Recruiiment table below

A timely announcement with respect to any director’s
appointment and remuneration will be made to the
regulatory news services and posted on the Company's
corporate website

Area Feature Policy

Service contractand  Notice penod

- Up to 12 months from erther side

meentive plan Entitlements on termination = As summansed in the Policy on loss of office
provisions + Provtsions for mutigation and payment in lieu of notice
Restnctive covenants + Gardening leave provisions
+ Non-compete, non-solicitation, non-dealing and confidentiality
provisions
Vanable elements + The Commuttee has the discretion to determine whether an individual

shall participate in any incentive n the year of appointment

+ The Committee shall have the discretion to determine appropnate bonus
performance targets «f participating in the year of appointment

Annual remuneration  Salary + To be determined on appointment, taking into account factors including
market levels, expenence, intemal relativities and cost

Salary progression

If appointed at below market levels, salary may be re-aligned over the

subsequent one to three years subject to performance in role In this
siuation, the Commitiee reserves the discretion to make increases
above ordinary levels

This imtial market postioning and intention to Increase pay apove the

standard rate of ncrease in the Policy table {subject to performance} wall
be disclosed in the first remuneration report following appontment

Benefits and allowances « The Committee retains the discretion o provide additional benefits as
reasonably required These may include, but are not restncted to,
refocation payrnents, housing allowances and cost of lving allowances
{including any tax thereon)
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Policy on loss of office
Service contracts contain nesther a hquidated damages nor
achange of control clause

The Company shall have a nght to make a payment in heu of
notice in respect of basic salary, benefits, including car
allowance and pension contnbutions only for the director's
contractual pencd of notce or, if termination 15 part way
through the notice pencd, the amount relating 1o any unexpired
notice to the date of termuination There 1s an obligation on
drectors to miigate any koss which they may suffer i the
Company terminates therr service contract The Committee wall
take such mutigation obligation into account when determiming
the amount and tirming of any compensation payable to any
departing director

A director shall also be entitied to a payment in respect of
accrued but untaken holiday and any statutory entitiements
on termination No compensation 1s paid for disrmissal, save
for statutory entitlerments

A director shall be entitled to receve a redundancy payment
in circumstances where in the judgement of the Committee
they satisfy the statutory tests goverming redundancy
payments Any redundancy payment shall be calculated by
reference to the redundancy payment policy in force for all
employees in the relevant country at the tme of the
redundancy and may inctude modest outplacement costs

If a direcior's employment terminates pnor to the relevant
annual bonus payment date, ordinanly no bonus 1s payable
for that financial year The Commuittee shall retain discretion
to make a pro-rated bonus payment in circumstances where
it would be appropnate to do so having regard to the
contnbution of the director dunng the financral year, the
circumstances of the departure and the best interests

of the Company

Any entitliements under long term incentve schemes operated
by the Company shall be determined based on the rules of the
relevant scheme The defauit position under the Dixons
Carphone Share Plan is that awards will lapse on the
termumnation of employment unless the Committee exercises the
discretion set out in the schema rules The Commuittee retains
the dis¢cretion to prevent awards from lapsing depending on
the circumstances of the departure and the best interests of
the Company The default position of the Long Term Incentive
Plan 1s that awards will lapse on termination of employment,
except where certain good leaver circumstances exist (e g
death, il-health, injury, disability, redundancy, transfer of an
undertalang cutside of the Group or retirement or any other
circumstances at the Committee's discretion) whereby the
awards may vest on cessation, or the nommnal vesting date,

in both cases subject to performance and time pro-rating,
although the Committee can decide not to pro-rate an award
{or pro-rate to a lesser extent) ff it regards it as appropnate

to do so in the particular circumstances

The Committee shall be entitled to exercise its judgement with
regard to settlement of potental clams, ncluding but not
imited to wrongful dismissal, unfair dismissal, breach of
contract and discnmination, where it 1s appropnate to do so n
the interests of the Company and its shareholders

In the event that any payment s made in relation to termination
for an executive director, this will be fully disclosed in the
following Annual Remuneration Report

A timely announcement with respect to the temmination of any
director's appaintment will be made to the regulatory news
service and posted on the Company's corporate website

Service agreements

Service agreements for executive directors

Each of the executive directors’ service agreements
provides for

« the reimbursement of expenses incurred by the executive
director i performance of their duties,

+ 25 days’' pad holiday each year for Sebastian James,
Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe {full tirme
equivatent}, 27 days for Andrew Hamison and Graham
Stapleton,

+ sick pay, and

+ notice penods whereby Sebastian James, Humphrey Snger
and Kate Bickerstaffe each have a notice penod of 12
months from the Company and six months from the director
Andrew Hamson has a notice penod of 12 months and
Graham Stapleton six months from either party

in situations where an executive director s dismissed, the
Committee reserves the nght to make add:tional exit payments
where such payments are made in good faith, such as

» in chischarge of a legal obligation, and

= by way of setlement or compromise of any claim ansing in
connection with the terrnmation of the director's office and
employment
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Remuneration Policy

Letters of appointment Didution Limits

Each of the non-executive directors has a letter of All the Company’s equity-based incentive plans incorporate

appointment The Company has no age lirmit for directors the current Investment Association Share Captal Management

Non-executive directors denve no other benefit from their Guidelines (‘Guidelines’) on headroom which prowide that |
office, except that the Commuttee retams the discretion to averall diution under all ptans should not exceed 10% overa

continue with existng remuneration prowisions, including ten-year penod i relation to the Company's 1ssued share !
pension contnbutions and the provision of benefits, where capital (or reissue of treasury shares) In addion, f approved I
an executive director becomes a non-executive director Ris by shareholders, the Long Term Incentve Plan will operate '
Company policy not to grant share options or share awards with a 5% in ten-year dilution it (excluding tistonc

to non-executive directors The Chairman, Deputy Chaiman discretonary awards) The Company regularly monitors the

and the other non-executive directors have a notice penod position and pnor to making any award the Company ensures

of three months from either party that it will remain within these limits Any awards which will be

Appointments are reviewed annually by the Nominations satsfied by market purchase shares are excluded from such
Cornmittee and recommendations made 1o the Board calculations As at 30 Aprit 2016, the Company's headroom
posttion, which remains within the current Guidehnes,

accordingly s 4 9%

External appomntments

The Board supports executive directors taking non-execulive
directorships as a part of their contnuing development, and
has agreed that the executive directors may retain therr fees
from one such appontment Further details on current external
directorships and fees can be found in the Annual
Remuneration Report on page 70

Availabiity for mspection

The service agreements for the executive directors and letters
of appointments for the non-executive directors are avaitable
for inspection at the registered office of the Company, and at
the offices of the Company's solicitors, Freshfields Bruckhaus
Dennger LLP, 65 Fleet Street, London EC4Y THT, dunng usual
business hours on weekdays (excluding pubhc holdays in
England and Wales) until the date of the AGM They will also
be available for inspection at the AGM from 10 45am on the
day of the meeting untl the conclusion of the meeting

Legacy arangements |
For the avoidance of doubt, in approving the Remuneration
Policy, authonty is given to the Company to honour any
commitments previously entered nto with the current

or former dwrectors ‘
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Remuneration Report - Annual Remuneration Report

introduction

This part of the report has been prepared in accordance with
Part 3 of Schedule 8 to the targe and Medium-Sized
Companies and Groups {Accounts and Reports) Regulations
2008 (as amended), and contan those elements required by
section 9 8 6R and stipulated 1n 9 8 8 of the Listing Rules This
Annual Remuneration Report will be put to an advisory vote at
the Company's 2016 AGM

The following sections set out how the Remuneration Policy
was implemented dunng 2015/16 and how it will be
implemented for the following year

Service agreements

Service contracts

The following table summarnises key terms of the service
contracts in place with the executive directors

Datg of contragt

Sebastian James 28 Mar 12
Andrew Harrson 29 Qct 13
Humphrey Singer 2 Sep 11
Katie Bickerstaffe 29 Mar 12
Graham Stapleton 5Q0ct 11

With the exception of Andrew Hamson, all the above executive
drrectors were appointed to the Board on 6 August 2014

More details are set out in the single figure of directors’
rermuneration tables on pages 74 to 75

Letter of appomtment

Non-executive directors are nomnally appomited for three year
terms, although appointments may vary depending on length
of service ang succession planning considerations
Appointments are reviewed annually by the Nominations
Committee and recommendations made to the Board
accordingly The date of the letters of appontment and expiry
of current terms are shown below

Latiers of Expiry of

appontment currgnt temm

Sir Charles Dunstone 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Tony DeNunzio 16 Dec 15 16 Dec 18
Andrea Gisle Joosen 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Tim How 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Jock Lennox 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Lord Livingston of Parkhead 16 Dec 15 16 Dec 18
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17
Gerry Murphy 17 Jun 14 16 Jun 17

Tony DeNunzio and Lord Livingston were appointed to the
Board on 16 December 2015 and on the same date both John
Gildersleeve and Roger Taylor stepped down from the Board
More details are set cut in the single figure of directors’
remuneration tables on pages 74 to 75

Remuneration Committee membership and attendance

Members

Membership of the Commuttee compnses four
non-executive chirectors, thewr names and attendance
record are set out in the table below and ther biographies
and qualifications are set out on pages 36 to 37 The
Committee’s Termns of Reference are avalable on the
Company's corporate website

Meetings

The Remuneration Commuttee met four scheduled times
dunng the penad under review with one further
unscheduled meeting Since the year end there have been a
further two meetings

Schaduled
meotings

Members during the year

Lord Lrvingston of Parkhead (Chawman)™ 10f1

Tony DeNunzio™ 10f1

Andrea Gisle Joosen 50f5

Tim How S5of5

Former members

John Gilderslegve® 4o0f4

Roger Taylor® 40fd

(1) Appointed to the Commuttee 16 December 2015
{2) Resigned 16 December 2015

Only members of the Committee are entitied to attend
Committee meetings but the Group Chief Executive and
Group Finance Director (or other senior management) may
attend meetings by invitation and in an adwisory capacity
only Meetings are also regutarly attended by the Company
Secretary (who acts as Commuttee secretary), Deputy
Company Secretary, Group Human Resources Director and
Group Reward Director

No director participates in discussions about theirr own
remuneration

Responsibiities

Responsibility for the establishment of an overall remuneraton
policy for the Group lies with the Board The Remuneration
Committee has the following pnncipal duties

+ making recommendations to the Board on the Company's
framework of executive remuneration,

+ determirning the fees of the Charrman and Deputy Chairman,

+ consdenng and making recommendations 1o the Board on
the remuneration of the executive directors and senmior
management relative to performance and market data,

« approving contracts of employment which exceed defined
thresholds of total remuneration or have unusual terms or
termunation penods,
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+ considenng and agreeing changes to the Remuneration
Policy or major changes to employee benefit structures, and

« approving and operating employee share-based
incentive schemes and associated performance
conditions and targets

Achvities dunng the year
The pnncipal activities of the Committee dunng 2015/16
included

+ reviewed and approved the Directors’ Remuneration Report,

« approved share awards to senior management
appointments under the long term incentive plans,

= approved the Sharesave grant,

+ assessed the performance of executive directors against
pre-determined targets set for the 2014/15 annual bonus
and approved the payments,

« agreed design of 2015/16 annual bonus Including
performance measures and targets,

« reviewed the current Share Pian and considered a new plan
design for 2016/17,

« monitored the developments in the corporate govemance
environment and investor expectations, including post AGM
investor feedback, and

+ noted remuneration practces across the Group

Advice

The Committee appointed Aon Hewiit in Apnl 2016 as
independent advisors, having used Towers Watson pnor 1o
this In 2015716 Aon Hewitt (and previously Towers Watson)

is engaged to provide adwice to the Commitiee and to work
with the directors on matters relating to the Group’s executive
remuneration and ts long term incentives Aon Hewitt and
Towers Watson are members of the Remuneration Consultants
Group and operate under its code of conduct in relation to the
provision of executive remuneration adwvice in the UK Aon
Hewitt and Towers Watson have confirmed that they adhered
to the Code during the relevant penods of 2015/16 for all
remuneration services provided to the Group Towers Watson
receved fees of £26,000 (2014/15 £82,000) in relation to the
provision of those services Towers Watson also provided
actuanal services on behalf of the defined benefit pension
scheme, however, the Commuttee has satisfied itself that
Towers Watson’s advice was objective and independent

The Committee may also take extemal legal advice, where
required, to assist it in camying out its duties

Extemal directorships

The policy relating to extemal directarships 1s outlined in the
Aemuneration Policy far 2015/16, the following extemal
drectorships were underlaken and the fees retaned by the
executive directors

+ Andrew Hamson was appointed a non-executive director
of Ocado Group plc on 1 March 2016 and was paid a fee
of £8,000 from appointrnent to 30 Apnl 2016

+ Sebastian James has been a non-executive director of
Direct Line Insurance Group plc during 2015/16 and was
paid a fee of £85,000 for the penod to 30 Apnl 2016

. Katie Bickerstaffe has been a non-executive director of
Scottish and Southem Energy pic during 2015/16 and was
paid a fee of £70,000 for the period to 30 Apnl 2016

« Humphrey Singer was appomnted a non-executive director
of Taylor Wimpey plc from 9 December 2015 and was pad
a fee of £22,000 from appentment to 30 Apnl 2016

How the Remuneration Policy will be apphed in 2016/17
Executive directors

i) Base Salary

Executive directors’ salanes were last reviewed at the time
of Merger The following increases will be apphied dunng the
2016/17 financial year

Salary ot InCrease in Salary at
20 Apnik Salary In 1 August
2018 2016417 2018
£'000 £000 £000

Current directors
Sebastian James 820 16 836
Andrew Hamson 550 11 561
Humphrey Singer 475 10 485
Katie Bickerstaffe 500 10 510
Graham Stapleton 460 9 469

i) Pension Contributions

Company pension contnbutions or allowance n heu will
continue n 2016/17 at their current levels of 10% for Sebastian
James, Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe and 5% for
Andrew Harmson and Graham Stapleton

i) Annual performance bonus

The maxtmum annual bonus for 2016/17 will be 125% of base
salary and will cperate on a similar basis as in the previous
year The measures have been selected to reflect our key
objectives and are aligned to our Group balanced scorecard,
with a rmivmum profit gate that must be achieved before any
bonus 15 pad oul The proposed target levels for the year have
been set to be challenging relative to the business plan The
Comruttee feels that specific targets relating to the 2016/17
bonus scheme are cumrently commercially sensitive and as
such will not be disclosed Retrospective disclosure of the
targets and performance against them will be provided In next
year's Remuneration Report
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The performance metnics and their weightings for 2016/17 are
shown In the table below

Waighting (23 a pércantage of
maximum bomus

cpportunty)
EBIT 60%
Net Debt 10%
ROCE 10%
Customer net promoter score 10%
Employee engagement 10%

The relative TSR condition will be assessed over a three year
penod, with vesting determined as follows

Rank ol Company TSR egains! Comparstor % of TSA etemant vesting

Group TSR
Below Median 0%
Medhan 25%
Between Med:an and Upper Pro rata between 25%
Quartile and 100% on a straight
line basis
Upper Quartile or above 100%

Recovery and withholding provisions apply for matenal
misstatement, mesconduct and reputational damage enabling
performance adjustments and / or recovery of sums already
pad These prowsions wil! apply for up to three years

after payment

w) LTIP

Subject to shareholder approval at the AGM on B September
2016, the Committee intends to make an award of 275% of
salary to each of the executive directors in 2016/17, which

will vest after three years based on continued service and the
achievement of the performance measures noted below
These awards will be subject to a further two-year post vesting
holding penod, dunng which the executive director is not
permitted to sell any shares vesting, other than those required
to settle any tax obligations

When setting the propesed award levels, the Committee took
account of a number of reference points, Including the
potential total remuneration aganst a number of scenanos of
performance The Commuittee believes that the greater
weighting of vanable pay towards long temm incentves s better
aligned with the interests of shareholders and focuses on
sustainable long-term performance The common level of long
term incentive plan award to all executive drrectors 1s reflective
of the collegiate approach of the executive director team,
which was established through the Merger and has been

a key part of the success of the Group

For 2016/17 these awards will be subject to two equally
weighted performance condibons Half of the awards will be
subject to the achievemnent of a relaiive TSR performance
condition, measured aganst the compantes ranked FTSE
51-150 at the start of the performance penod The remaining
half of the awands will be subject to the achievernent of
adjusted EPS growth targets

EPS growth will be assessed over a three year penod Dueto
cumrent uncertaintees in the market, the Committee 1s
deliberating further over the appropnate EPS targets for the
awards to be made in September 2016, subgect to
shareholders approving the new LTIP The EPS targets will be
published on the Company's website in sufficient time before
the AGM for shareholders to review them ahead of vating on
the new LTIP

When setting the EPS growth target range the Committee will
take into constderahon a number of reference points including
the intemal business plan, extermnal market consensus, the
strong growth in 2015/16, a broad view of the macroeconomic
environment and, to a lesser extent, growth targets in other
similarly sized retailers The Committee will set a range of
targets straddhng consensus, with consensus at or sightly
below the middle of the range The target range proposed will
provide the correct balance between incentivisation and further
performance motivation, without creating any undue nsk

Caleulabons of the achievement against the targets will be
independently performed and approved by the Commitiee
The Committee will retan discretion to adjust for matenal
events which occur dunng the perfomance penod and wall
make full and clear disclosure of any such adjustments in the
Directors' Remuneration Repont, together with details of the
achieved levels of performance, as determined by the above
defimtions at the end of the performance penod

Awards will be subject to recovery and withholding provisions
for matenal misstatement, misconduct and reputational
damage enabling performance adjustments and / or recovery
of sums already paid These prowvisions wilt apply for up to
three years after vesting
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Remuneration details for 2015/16

Performance graph

The graph below shows the Group's performance measured
through TSR on a holding of £100 in the Comparny’s shares,
compared with the FTSE 350 Index, since 29 March 2010
The FTSE 350 has been used as it 1S a broad market which
ncludes the Company and a number of 1s competitors

Tota) sharehalder return
Source Daiasteam

Start date of the graph reflects date of admittance to the London
Stock Exchange of Dixons Carphone pic, previously called
Carphone Warehouse pic

Group Chief Executive pay

The following table shows, over the same six year penod as
the performance graph, the Group Chief Executive's single
total figure of remuneration, the amount of bonus eamed as a
percentage of the maximum remuneration possible, and the
vesting of long term awards as a percentage of the maximum
number of shares that could have vested where applicable

Annual

bonus

GEO single payout
figuro of agangt

Long tarm
incontive
vasting
rotas
against
maximum

remuneration’” maximum opportunity
%o

Year £'000 %o
2015/16 Sebastian James 1,616 68% n/a
Sebastian James 1,687 100% n/a
Andrew Harnson 420  100% n/a
2014/15 Totat 2,107
Andrew Hamison 679 54% n/a
Roger Taylor 159 n/a nfa
2013/14 Total 838
2012/13 Roger Taylor 958 55% n/a
2011/12 Roger Taylor 474 0% n/a
20190/11 Roger Taylor 1,193 B82% n/a

{1} Excludes remunesation recewed from long term incentve schemes

established by Old Camhone Warehouse prior to the demerger
from TalkTalk because that company s not part of the current
Group Details of remuneration associated wath Old Carphone
Warehouse incentive schemes were provided in that company’s
annuat repart for the year ended 31 March 2012 Future reports
wall Include long term incentives operated by the current Group

when they have vested

{2) Roger Taylor waved a bonus of 25% maximum potential and

instead chose for It to be paid directly to chanty
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Percentage change wn remuneration

The table below provides the percentage change in remuneration for the Group Chief Executive and the percentage change for
all UK head office based employees as this group provides the best like-for-ike comparison Changes in salary relating to
changes n roles and / or responsibilities have been excluded from the increase presented for the wider group

UK head

Group Chief office

Executive  smployees

Salary and fees 2% 2%
Taxable benefits!” 0% 0%
Annual bonuses (32)% {26)%

{1} The percentage change in {axable benefits 1s considered to be 0% since there have been no matenal changes in Group benefits

Relative importance of spend on pay
The following table sets out both the total cost of remuneration for the Group compared wath pro forma Headline EBIT and
profits distnbuted for 2015/16 and the pror year

2015/18 2014115

£million £millon Change %
Dividends pardi® 106 52 104%
Headline EBIT 468 413 13%
Total staff costs — continuing operations® 1,061 900 18%

Number Number Changs %
Average employee numbers — continuing operations® @ 41,847 32,834 27%

-~

{1) Extracted from note 23 to the Group financial statements

(2} Extracted from note 5 to the Group financial statements

(3} The average number of employees for 2014/15 1s made up of legacy Carphone Warehouse employees for the full 13 month penod and
legacy Dixons Retall employees far the penod post Merger
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Audrted informaton
Single figure of directors’ remuneration for the year ended 30 Apnl 2016

2015/16
salar::!r:: Penslon Annual Taxable Total LTIP Teta!
fees  coninbutions™ bonus. benefits'® emoluments  payments™ remunaeration
€'000 £'000 € 000 ' £ 000 £'000 £'000
Executive
Current directars
Sebastian James 820 a2 701 13 1,616 - 1,616
Andrew Harnison 550 28 470 11 1,059 - 1,059
Humphrey Singer 475 48 406 13 942 - 942
Katie Bickerstaffe® 480 50 428 11 979 - 979
Graham Stapleton®™ 460 23 393 892 1,768 - 1,768
2,795 231 2,398 940 6,364 - 6,364
Non-executive
Current directors
Sir Charles Dunstone 280 - - —- 280 - 280
Tony DeNunzio™ 34 - - - 34 - 34
Andrea Gisle Joosen 70 - - —_ 70 - 70
Tim How 65 - — - 65 - 65
Jock Lennox 75 - - - 75 - 75
Lord Livingston of Parkhead™ 54 - - - 54 - 54
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 65 - - - 65 - 65
Gerry Murphy 65 - - - 65 - 65
Former directors
John Gildersleeve!™ 53 - - - 53 - 53
Roger Taylorh® a7 - - 1 a8 - a8
858 — - 1 859 - 859
3,653 231 2,398 941 7,223 - 7,223

0

@
&

(@
&)

(6)

(®)
®

Remunearation 1s shawn 1or the penod served on the Board Tony DeNunzio and Lord Livingston were appointed to the Board on

16 Dacember 2015 and the fees shown were from appointment to 30 Apnl 2016 John Gidersigeve and Roger Taylor resigned from the
Board on 16 December 2015 and fees are fror 3 May 2015 to date of leaving

Katie Bickerstatfe purchased annual leave under the Group's holiday purchase scheme, reducing her salary by £10,000 in 201516
Pension contnbulions compnse the Company’s contnbution or aflowancé in e together with the salary supplement which1s based on the
difference between basic salary and the scheme earmings cap sel by the Company The contnbution amount was 10% of salary for
Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe and 5% for Andrew Hamison and Graham Stapleton

Taxable benefits include pnvate medical insurance and car allowances

Tha taxable benefits of Graham Stapleton includes the waver of a loan, together with accrued interest of £880,268 relating to a long term
Incentive scheme of Carphone Warehousa that he look part in prior to him becoming a director of the Company The scheme vasted
following the sale of the Best Buy Europe business and awards became exercisable dunng 2013, but all shares awarded were subjectto a
sales restnction untl 2015 Al the time of exarcise Graham Stapleton, along with the other participants, was provided with a company loan
to be used to setile the outstanding tax liabhnes that were created at the point of exerctse Dunng 2015, the sales restnctions efapsed and
at that time the Company confirmed the wnting off of the cutstanding loan This decisian reflected the treatment afforded to other
participants of this plan and the past prectice used by Carphone Warehouse This 15 & legacy pre-Merger obligation made before Graham
Stapleton was appaointed to the Board

LTIP payments would compnse amounts under the Share Plan, however, the performance penod ends in July 2017

Roger Taylor continued to receive private medical insurance benefits until 16 December 2015 when he stepped down from the Board

No payments were made to former directors and no payment for loss of office was made dunng the year

Lord Livingston has a deferred pension in the Dixons Retirement and Employee Secunty Scheme

Y
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Singte figure of directors’ remuneration for the penod ended 2 May 2015

201415
Bawuwc salary Persien Annal Taxabdis Total LTP Total
and fees contnputions@ oonus® benefis" emoluments payments™ remurarauon
£000 £ 000 £000 £ 000 £000 £ 000 £ 000
Executive
Currant directors
Sebastian James™ 580 59 1,025 13 1,687 — 1,687
Andrew Harrnison 570 28 745 14 1,357 - 1,357
Humphrey Singert” 342 34 504 13 983 - 083
Katie Bickerstaffet 360 36 625 12 1,033 — 1.033
Graham Stapletont” 343 17 623 10 993 - 993
Former directors
Nigel Langstaff" 117% 6 — 4 127 - 127
2,322 180 3,612 66 6,180 - 6,180
Non-exacutive
Current directors
Sr Charles Dunstone 290 - - - 290 - 290
Roger Taylor 179 - - 1m 180 — 180
Andrea Gisle Joosent 50 — - - 50 - 50
John Gildersleeve 87 — - - 87 - 87
Tim How" 47 - - - 47 - 47
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 70 - - - 70 - 70
Jock Lennox!' 54 — - - 54 - 54
Gerry Murphy 67 - - - 67 - 67
Former directors
John Allan® 75 — - - 75 - 75
John Allwood™ 28 - — — 28 - 28
947 — - 1 948 —-— 948
3,269 180 3612 67 7,128 — 7.128

a

@

&)

(4}

{5)
(Gl

Remuneration 1s shown for the penod served on the Board The following directors were appointed on & August 2014 Sebastian James,
Humphrey Singer, Katie Bickerstatfe Graham Stapleton, Andrea Gisle Joosen Tim How and Jock Lennox Remuneration / fees for

thesa chrectors 1s shown from appointment to 2 May 2015 John Altan was appotnted to the Beard on 6 August 2014 and resigned on

17 February 2015 and the fees shown are for this penod Nigel Langstaff and John Allwood resigned from the Board on & August 2014

and rermuneration / fees are from 1 Apni 2014 to date of leavning

Pension contnbutions compnse the Company’s contnbution or allowance in keu together with the salary supplement which is based on the
difference between basic salary and the scheme earrings cap set by the Company This additional amount was 10% for Sebastian James,
Humphrey Singer and Kaue Bickerstaffe and 5% for Andrew Hamson, Niget Langstaff and Graham Stapleton

Annual bonus for Graham Stapleton and base salary and annuat bonus for Andrew Hamson represents the amount eamed over 13 months
following the alignment of the financial year end Annual bonuses for Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe represent
the amount earned over the 12 manths to 2 May 2015, which includes the penod pnor to the Merger All bonuses are calculated based on
the drectors’ annual salary as at 2 May 2015

Taxable benefits Include povate madical nsurance, car allowance and Sharesave gains of £4,000 for Sebashan James, Humphrey Singer
and Katie Bickerstatfe in respect of optons granted on 26 February 2015 as set out in the table on page 79

LTIP payments would compnse amounts uncer the Share Plan, however, the performance penod ends in July 2017

In addiion to the above remuneration and subsequent to resigring from the Board on & August 2014, Nigel Langstaff received a
redundancy payment of £247 000 upon leaving the business in December 2014 Niget also recerved £350,000 as a payrment in lieu of notice
n respect of basic satary, £19,700 in respect of benefits (including car allowance permanent health insurance and life cover) and £17,500 1n
respect of pension contnbutions There was no payment for accrued holiday untaken These amounts were in ine with contractual
entitfements and the Group's redundancy payments policy and no discretion was appled in their determinaion The Committee detenmned
to apply discretion to pay a bonus of £437,500 «n respect of the penod of service in the 2014/15 financial year and i respect of ongoing
Support up to the announcement of the preliminary results for 2014/15

Roger Taylor continued to recewe pnvate medical insurance benefits
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Annual Remuneration Report

Long term incentive plans (LTIP)

The Share Plan awards made dunng 2014/15 vest in July 2017 (60%) and July 2018 (40%)

Details of the awards made and the loans granted to the directors fo enable them to subscnbe for shares under the Share Plan
are detalled later in this report

No LTIPs have vested dunng the year for the directors whilst serving on the Board

Annual bonus for 2015/16
The maximum bonus opportunity for all executive directors 15 125% of base satary based on performance in the 12-month

period to the end of the financial year

The Committee determined at the beginning of the year that the disclosure ot performance targets were commercially sensitive
and therefore these were not disclosed This was because largets were set within the context of a longer term business plan and
this disclosure could give information to competitors to the detriment of business performance The Committee has however
disclosed In the table below the targets on a retrospective basis and the actual performance against these

The maximum annual bonus of 125% of base salary 1s payable at the maximum lavel of performance, 25% of base salary on
achievement of threshold performance and 75% of base salary on achievernent of target performance

As a porcontage of
maximum bonus

Measure opportunity Threshold Target Maximum Actuat Payout
Pro forma Headline EBIT 60% ©450 million £475 million  £500 mithon  £468 milkon 29%
Pro forma average net

(debt) / funds - vanance vs budget 10% £(50) milhon Budget £50 milion  £54 million 10%
Return on Capital Employed 10% 201% 20 6% 211% 21 0% 9%
Customer net promoter score 10% Worse Target Better Better 10%
Employee engagement score 10% Worse Target Better Better 10%

It should be noted that customer net promoter and employee engagement score largets were setin the comtext of a high base
point The mprovement in actual performance was therefore considered an excellent result The actual scores for these
measures are still considered to be commercially sensitive and therefore cannot be disclosed in full

Overall bonus payments will be at target levels and will be paid in cash at 68 4% of base salary The Committee s comfortable
that the result 1s an apprapnate reflection of overall performance dunng the year under review The bonus amounts to be pad to
the executive directors n respect of 2015/16 are set out in the single figure of directors’ remuneration table on page 74
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Non-executive directors' and Chairman’s fees

The fees for the Independent non-executive directors, including the Deputy Chawman, are detenmined by the Board {excluding
non-executive directors) after considenng extemnal market research and are reviewed on an annual basis Factors taken into
consideration include the required ime commitment, specific expenence and / or qualifications A base fee 1s payable and
additional fees are paid for channg and membership of committees The Chairman 1s not involved in the setting of his own salary
which 1s dealt with by the Remuneration Committee annually Non-executive directors receive no vanable pay and receive no
additional benefits, except in situations where an executive director becomes a non-executive director and benefit and pension

amangements continue

The Charman, Deputy Chairman and Senior Independent Director receive all inclusive fees reflecting therr duties Other

independent non-executive directors received a basic fee of £60,000 (2014/15 £60,000) and additional fees as set cut in the

table below for chainng or membership of committees Fees will remain unchanged for 2016/17

201516 2014/15

£'000 £ 000

Charrman® 280 280
Deputy Chairman®? 140 1409
Semor Independent Directort 90 N/A®

Charr of Audit Commuttee 15 15

Member of Audit Committee 5 5

Member of Nominations Committee 5 5

Member of Remuneration Committee 5 5

{t) The Chawrman’'s fee includes Chairmanship of the Nominations Commuittee

{2) The Deputy Chairman's fee includes Charmanship of the Remuneration Committee and membership of the Nomnations Committee

(3) Fees for previous Deputy Chaiman
(4) The Sentor Independent Director’s fee includes membership of the Nominations and Remuneration commitiees
(5) The Senior Independent Drector dunng 2014/15 was also Deputy Charman, and received no additonal fee for this
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Directors’ interests in the Share Plan

The executive directors previously participated in the Dixons Carphone {formerty Carphone Warehouse Group pic) Share Plan
approved by Carphone Warehouse shareholders Participants acquired at market value partcipation shares In a subsidiary
company that holds the Company's interests «n the Group’s main operating businesses The Group granted Ioans 10 participants
at a commercial rate of interest to acquire the shares Loans are ordinarily repayable i full if performance conditions are met

The performance of the plan will ordinanly be measured at the end of the performance pencd (in or around July 2017 for the
current participants), when 60% of the shares vest, with 40% deferred for a further year When the awards vest, the value of the
shares held by participants will be based on the incremental value (if any) of Dixons Camphone plc in excess of the opening
valuation together with the mimimum retum on nvested capital These shares will then be purchased by the Company for cash

and / or the Company’s ordinary shares

The total pool for distribution to participants is subject to a cap of 4% of the total issued share capital of the Company on the
measurement date Under the Share Plan there are now two pools, one for the onginal grant in December 2013 and one for the
second grant in October 2014, each being subject to acap of 28 of the total issued share capital of the Company

The Share Plan i1s designed to share 10% of the incrementai value created in Dixons Carphone n excess of an opening valuation
{assessed over an appropnate pencd) and beyond an annual rate of return of 7% on nvested capital The plan s also
underpinned by a minimum annual compound TSR growth of 5% and outperformance of the median TSR of the FTSE 250

The table below shows the allocation to the executive directors of participation shares in the subsidiary, New CPW Limited, in
relation to the Share Plan, together with details of the loans issued to enable the directors to subscnbe for the participation shares

AQreangry B Ordinary A Ordinary B Ordinary
shares in sharas in sharas shares in

Y ¥y subsidary bsidlary Allocation  Allocaton  Alloeatian  Allocation Loan iosn
allocated allocated allocated allocated of & pool of 8 pool of A pool of B pool  outslianding outstanding
as at as st as at as at as at as at as at as at as at 83 8t
2 May 2 May A0 Apnl 30 April 2 May 2 May 30 Agnl 30 Apnil 2 May 30 Aprt!
2015m 2015@ 2016t 20167 2015" 2015 2016 2016% 2015 2018
Number Number Number Number % % % % £000 £'000

Current directors
Sebastan James - 1,100 - 1,100 - 1% - 11% 2,239 2,306
Andrew Hamson 700 200 700 200 7% 2% T% 2% 810 834
Humphrey Singer - 700 — 700 - 7% - 7% 1,425 1,467
Katie Bickerstaffe - 700 - 700 - 7% - 7% 1,425 1,467
Graham Stapleton 600 100 600 100 6% 1% 6% 1% 549 565

(1) Allocation relates to the pre-Merger poel n respect of A ordinary shares Face vatue is not inciuded as due to the structure of the Share Plan

It 15 not considered a representative figure
{2) Allocation retates to the post-Merger pool in respect of B ordinary shares Face value 15 not included as due to the structure of the Share

Plan it 1s not consicdered a repressntative figure
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Directors’ share options
As part of the Merger, participants of the Dixons Retail Sharesave Plan were offered the opportunity 1o roll over ther Sharesave

awards into cptions over Dixons Carphone plc Those awards rolled over by the directors, in addition to other options owned by
the diractors over the Company, are shown in the table below

Lapsed ar
At Awarded forfeited At
Exerciso 3 May nthe intho Exercised® 30 April  Date from which Expiry of the
Date of grant pnce {p) xns penod™ period in period 2018 first axarcisable exarciss period
Sebastian James
Sharesave 23 Jul 2013™ 209 35 601 - - - 601 1 Oct 2016 31 Mar 2017
26 Feb 2015 34400 4,866 - - - 4,866 1 Apr2018 30 Sep2018
5,467 - - - 5467
Andrew Harmson
Sharesave 10Jan 2014 22400 4,017 - - = 4,017 1 Mar2017 31 Aug 2017
4,017 - - - 4,017
Humphrey Singer
Sharesave 23 Jul 2012 9148 1,377 - - (1,377) — 1 Oct 2015 3t Mar 2016
23 Jul 2013 209 35 601 - - - 601 10ct2016 31 Mar 2017
26 Feb 2015 34400 4,500 - - - 4,500 1 Apr2018 30 Sep2018
25Feb 2016 37700 - 334 - - 334 1 Apr2019 30 Sep2019
6,478 334 — (1,377 5,435
Katie Bickerstaffe
Sharesave 23 Jul 2012 91 48 1,377 - - (1,377) - 10ct 2015 31 Mar 2016
23 Jul 20131 209 35 601 - - - 601 10ct2016 31 Mar 2017
26 Feb 2015 34400 4,500 - - - 4,500 1 Apr2018 30 Sep 2018
25Feb 2016 37700 - 334 - - 334 1Apr2019 30 Sep 2019
6,478 334 - (1,377) 5435

{1) Share options that were granted under the Dixans Retad Sharesave Plan and rolled over into options over Dixons Carphone plc shares
The exercise pnce shown s the roll over pnce over Dixons Carphone plc shares
{2) The options exercised by Katie Bickerstaffe and Humphrey Singer on 1 October 2015 had a market pnce of £4 25 on the date of exercise
(3) The face value of awards granted on 25 February 2016 for the executive directors was £1,460 for Humphrey Singer and Katie Bickerstaffe
The exercise pnce was set at a 20% discount to the mid-market closing share pnce at 27 January 2016 of £4 71
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Directors’ shareholdig
Detalls of directors’ interests in shares of the Company are shown in the following table

Benaficially owned Restricted tnterests in share plans
Total Total
beneficial beneficial
interests shara
wunder sharg mnierests
Share Plan® Share Plan™ Sharesave ownership asa
as at as at as at guldelines % of salary™® Exercised
20 Apnl 30 Apnl 30 April 30 Apnl 30 April 30 Apn dunng
20167 2 May 2015% 2010 2018 2018 2018 2016 2015/18
Executive directors
Current directors
Sebastian James 808,234 908,234 - 1,100 5467 908,234 467% -
Andrew Hamson 5,000,000 5,000,000 700 200 4,017 5,000,000 3,835% -
Humphrey Singer 619,147 617,770 - 700 5,435 619,147 §50% 1,377
Katie Bickerstaffe™ 408,967 657,590 - 700 5435 408,967 345% 1,377
Graham Stapleton® 490,034 880,034 600 100 - 490,034 449% -
Non-executive directors
Current directors
Sir Charles Dunstone 134,758,481 134,758,481 - - - - - -
Tony DeNunzio 50,000 - - — - - - -
Andrea Gisle Joosen 6,076 6,076 - - - - - -
Tim How 12,400 12,400 - - - - - -
Jock Lennox 11,625 11,625 - - - - - -
Lord Livingston of Parkhead - - - - - - - -
Baroness Morgan of Huyton 991 9 - - - - - -
Gerry Murphy 20,000 20,000 - - - - — -
Former directors
John Giidersleeve 122,568 122,568 - - — N/A N/A -
Roger Taylor 9,808,554 9,808,554 - - — N/A N/A —

{1) Date of appowntment, if iater
(2} The shares listed here are in A ordinary shares of New CPW Limited as part of the shares purchased in relation to the Share Plan These

have been subscnbed for by the Directors A ordinary shares have a different opening valuation to B ordinary shares as descnbed n note

(3}, reflecting the value of the Company at appropnate times prior to the grants
(3) The shares listed here are In B ordnary shares of New CPW Limited as part of the shares purchased m relation 10 the Share Plan These

have been subscnbed lor by the Directors 8 ordinary shares have 2 different opening valuation to A ordinary shares, as descnbed in note

(2}, reflecting the valus of the Company at appropnate times pnor 1o the grants

(4} The percentage excludes the Share Plan participation shares and Sharesave options, and 1s based on basic salary as at 30 April 2016 and

an average share pnce over the month to 30 Apnl 2016 of £4 218

{5) ©On 18 August 2015, Kate Bickerstaffe sold 105,796 shares at £4 419, en 21 August 2015, she sofd 109,034 shares at £4 338 and on
24 August 2015, she sold a further 35,170 shares at £4 084

6} On 18 August 2015, Graham Stapleton sold 165,060 shares at £4 419, on 21 August 2015, he sold 170,110 shares at £4 338 and on
24 August 2015, he sold a further 54,830 shares at £4 084

(7) Date of resignanion, if earlier

There were no changes in the directors’ restncted or unrestncted share interests between 30 Apnl 2016 and the date of this report
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Statement of voting at shareholder meetings (not audited)

The Company Is committed to ongoing shareholder dialogue In respect of directors’ remuneration, and takes an active interest
m voting outcomes and in particular we have consulted with our shareholders on the Remuneration Policy being put to the vote
at the AGM Where there are substantal votes against resolutions, explanatory reasons will be sought, and any actions in
response will be communicated to shareholders

The following tables set cut the voting resuits in relation to the resolutions put 1o the 2015 annual general meeting

Rosolution Voles far % Votes sgalnst *% Withheld
Approval of Remuneration Policy 771,709,963 94 09 48,431,387 501 88,989,962
Approval of Annual Remuneration Report 621,991,756 72 95 230,588,119 2705 56,551,437

As the annual remuneration report received significant shareholder votes against it at the annual general meeting In 2015 (see
table above for voling outcomes at the previous annual general meeting), dunng the recent consultation process, the Company
encouraged feedback from its key shareholders to understand the reasons betund the dissent We are aware of shareholders'
concems regarding the transparency and communication of the Company’s Remuneration Report and have focused on
providing clearer reporting on past remuneration

Comphiance
As required by the Regulations, a resolution to approve this Remuneration Report will be proposed at the AGM to be heid on
8 September 2016

lan LUvingston
Chairman of tha Remuneration Committee
28 June 2016
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for prepanng the annual report and the financal statements in accordance with applicable law
and regulations

Company law tequires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financsal year Under that law the directors are
required to prepare the consohdated financal statements n accordance with IFRS as adopled by the European Union and
Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and have elected to prepare the Company financial statements in accordance with Financial

Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework Under company law the directors must not approve the accounts
unless they are satisfied that they give a true and far view of the state of affairs of the Gompany and the Group and of the profit

ot loss of the Comparny and the Group for that penod
In prepanng the Company financial statements, the directors are required to

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply thern consistently,

+ make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent,

« state whether Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework has been followed, subject to any matenal
departures disclosed and explained i the financial statements, and

» prepare the financial statements on the going concem bas:s unless it ts inappropriate to presume that the Company will
continue in business

In prepanng the consolidated financial statements, IAS 1 ‘Presentation of Financial Statements’ requires that directors

«+ properly select and apply accounting policies,

- present nformation, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable nformation,

« provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements in IFRS are insufficient to enable users to
understard the impact of particular transactions, other events and condrtions on the Group's financial posihon and financial
performance, and

+ make an assessment of the Group's ability to continue as a going concem

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company's
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the Group and enable
them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006 They are also responsible for safeguarding
the assets of the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and
other iregulanties

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integnty of the corporate and financial information included on the
Group's website Legrslation i the United Kingdom goverming the preparation and dissermination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other junsdictions

Responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of cur knowledge

- the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the relevant financial reporting framework, give a true and fair view of
the assets, labilities, financial posiion and profit or less of the Company and the undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whale,

« the Strategic Report includes a far review of the development and performance of the busmess and the position of the
Company and the undertakings included in the consclidation taken as a whole, together with a descnption of the principal
nsks and uncertanties that they face, and

« the annual report and financial statements, taken as a whole, are farr, halanced and understandable and provide the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and the Company's performance, business model and strategy

By Order of the Board

Sebastan James Humphrey Singer
Group Chref Executive Group Finance Direclor
28 June 2016 28 June 2016
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Independent Auditor’s report

Opinion on the financial statements of Dixons Carphone plc

In our opinton,

+ the financial statements give a true and farr view of the state of the Group's and of the parent company’s affairs as at 30 Apni
2016 and of the Group's profit for the year then ended,

« the Group financial statements have been properly prepared In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFASs) as adopted by the European Union,

+ the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice, ncluding FRS 101 Reduced Disciosure Framework’, and

the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Comparnies Act 2006 and, as regards
the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation

The financial statements compnse the Consolidated income statement, the Consolidated statement of comprehensive income,
the Consolidated balance sheet, the Consolidated stalement of changes in equity, the Consolidated cash fiow statement, the
Company balance sheet, the Company statement of changes i equity, and the related notes 1 to 31 and C1 to C10 The
financial reporting framework that has been apphied n the preparation of the Group financial statements 1s appl:cable law and
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the
parent company financial statements 1s applicable law and United Kingdorm Accounting Standards (United Kingdomn Generally
Accepted Accaunting Practice), including FRS 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’

Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs as 1ssued by the IASB

As explained n note 1a) to the Group financial statements, In addrtion 1o complying with its legal obligation to apply IFRSs
as adopted by the European Union, the Group has also applied FRSs as issued by the Intemational Accounting Standards
Board ({ASB)

In our opimion the Group financial statements comply with IFRSs as issued by the IASB
Going concem

As required by the Listing Rules we have reviewed the directors’ statement regarding the appropnateness of the going concem
basis of accounting contamned within note 1a) to the financial statements and the directors’ statement on the langer-termn viability
of the group contamed within the strategic report

We have nothing matenal to add or draw attention to n relation to

« the directors' confirmation on page 45 that they have camed out a robust assessment of the pnncipal nsks facing the Group,
including those that would threaten its business model, future performance, solvency or hquidity,

«+ the disclosures on pages 20 to 23 that descrbe those nsks and explain how they are being managed or mitigated,

- the directors’ statement in note 13) to the financial statements about whether they considered it appropnate to adopt the going
concem basis of accounting in prepanng them and their sdentificaton of any matenal uncertainties to the Group’s ability to
continue to do so over a penod of at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements,

- the directors’ explanation on page 29 as 10 how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what penod they have
done so and why they consider that penod to be appropnate, and ther statement as to whether they have a reasonable
expectaton that the group will be able to continue in operatron and meet its abiliies as they fall due over the penod of thewr
assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary qualificattons or assumptions

We agreed with the directors’ adoption of the going concem basis of accounting and we drd not identify any such matenal
uncertainkes However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement 1s not a guarantee as
to the Group's ability to continue as a going concem

Independence

We are required to comply with the Financial Reporting Counci’s Ethical Standards for Auditors and we confirm that we are
independent of the Group and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilittes 10 accordance with those standards We also
confirm we have not provided any of the protubited non-audit services referred to in those standards
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Independent Auditor’s report

Our assessment of nsks and matenal misstaternent

The assessed nsks of matenal msstatemnent descnbed below are those that had the greatest effect on our audit strategy,
the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts of the engagement tearm The key nsks we dentified are

- Impaimment of goodwill and other intangible assets
- Revenue recognition — UK network commissions

« UK suppher funding

« Inventory prownsioning (Dixons)

+ Property rationalisation provisioning

Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the nsk

tmpairment of goodwill and other intangible assets

The Group has significant acquisition related
intangible assets, including goodwill, (£3,402 milion
at 30 Apnl 2016 including £3,054 mallion of goodwili
and £348 million of acquisition intangibles) pnmanly
related to the CPW Europe and Dixons Retail pic
acquistions in previous years The Group's
assessment of impaimment of acquisiton related
intangible assets 1s a jJudgemental process which
requires estimates conceming the future cash flows
and associated discount rates and growth rates
pased on management's projections of future
business performance and prospects The key
Judgements and estimates involved are descnbed
in more detail in notes 1)), 1k} and 1s) to the Group
financial statements

We assessed the assumptions used by management in the
impaimment models for goodwill and acquisition refated intangible
assets, including specifically the cash flow projections, discount rates
{uthising the assistance of our valuation specialists), and leng-term
growth rates used aganst histoncal perforrmance, our understanding
of the future prospects of the business and companson against
market rates and the prevaiing Group cost of capntal at the year end
We have audited the mechanics of the imparrment models prepared
by management

Revenue recognition ~ UK network comnmuss:ons

The monetary value of commission receivable on
sales, baing commisston for which there s a
contractual entitiement based on mobile phane
connections already made, and for which there are
no ongomng performance obligations, 1s dependent
on customer behaviour beyond the point of sale
Management 1s therefore required to exercise
Judgement In respect of the level of customer default
within the contract period, expected levels of
customer spend and customer behaviour beyond
the ritial contract penod The key judgements
and estimates invalved are descnbed n more
detail n notes 1dj), 1s) and 26h) to the Group
financial statements

We evaluated the design and implementation of both the relevant
manual and automated controls over the revenue recognition process
in respect of commissions receivable, utiising [T specialists to assist
with testing of automated controls n addition we tested that these
controls were aperating effectively throughout the penod

We have tested the valuation of revenue recognised through review
of the Group's contractual arangerrents, substantive tesing of
management assumptions inctuding tenure, fine rental, and chum
to data received from networks and testing of cash receipts

We have also assessed any changes in estimate in comparison to the
pnor year and reviewed year on year movement in key assumptions

UK supptlier funding

The Group holds a number of significant funding
arrangements with suppliers Agreements in relation
to supplier funding are based predominantly on
volume related targets, for both purchases and sales,
and are most commonly agreed as a fixed
percentage of targets up front These targets are
generally a mix of quarterly and annual targets The
timing of recognition of this iIncome (s sometimes
jdgemental, in particular where the target penod for
measunng achievements spans the year end and it 1s
necessary o ensure there 15 sufficient evidence
fustifying recognitton The key judgements and
estimates involved are descnbed in more detal in
note 1s) to the Group financial statements

We updated our understanding of the key suppler funding '
amangements across the Group As part of this, we met with the key
commercial and finance process owners, we tested the design and
implementation of the Group’s key contrals n operation, pnncipally
focused on those that determine the appropnate trmng of recognition
tor supplier funding balances, and we performed an analytca!
assessment of movemnents in supplier funding throughout the curent '
year to histoncal trends

To ensure there 1s sufficient evidence to support the recogniion of
suppher funding, we substantwvely tested and recalculated a sample of ‘
amounts with reference to signed suppher contracts We also obtained

confirmations following circulansation of a sample of supplers
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Risk

How the scope of our audit responded to the nsk

Inventory provisioning {Dixons)

Inventory 1s a significant balance for the Group
{£958 million at 30 Apnl 2016) and there are a number
of judgemental areas including obsofescence and
shnnkage provisioning This nsk has a significant
effect on our audd strategy, the allocation of
resources in the audd and directing the efforts of the
engagement team in the legacy Dixons side of the
business only, given the nature and relative
sigrificance of the mventory balances within each
part of the Group Further information in relation to
this area 1s discussed 1n notes 10) and 1s) to the
Group financial statements

We have performed testing of the operating effectiveness of controls
around the inventory business cycle and attended a sample of
inventory counts at 34 stores and the distnbution centres across the
Dixons UK and Nordics businesses, including visrting the Group's
main distnbution centre in Newark on four separate occasions, which
enables us 1o assess management's processes for monitonng
mventory We perforrmed audit tests to assess whether inventory s
valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value We reviewed,
recalculated and assessed the inventory provisioning for
reasonableness, including challenging the appropnateness of
provisioning with reference to inventory ageing, both histonca! and
post year end perfarmance and a review of the provision as a
percentage of gross stock year on year We have also considered the
impact of range changes and other specific known areas of overstock
on the required prowsion calculation

Property rationalisation provistoning

The Group has recorded a charge of £70 millon in
relation to restructunng of the property portfolo in the
UK business The magnitude of the associated
restructunng provision involves the use of estimates
and judgement, particularly with regard to property
exit and onerous lease costs Further information s
included in notes 1n), 1s) and 4ui) to the Group
financial statements

We have obtained an understanding of the process undertaken by
management to quantfy the expected costs ansing from the
rationalisation of the property portfolio and have evaluated the design
and mplementation of the associated controls We have assessed the
appropnateness of the provisions to ensure they meet the relevant
cntena for recogmtion N accardance with the accounting standard
We have reviewed a sample of contractual lease agreements and
assessed management’s judgements in refation to sublet income,
rent free penods and dilapidations agamst past ewidence avalable
for similar properties We have substantively tested a sample of the
costs incured during the penod to supporting documentation

Last year our report included three other nsks which are not included in our report this year acquisitton accounting (there have
been no significant acquisitions dunng the year following the acquisiion of Dixons Retail plc last year), assets held for sale,
discontinued operations and disposal accounting (as the accounting for the disposals was largely completed last year), and
taxation (there have been no significant changes noted in the current year and it s no longer an area which has a significant
effect on our audit strategy and the efforts of the engagement team} In the current penod, we have included an additional nsk
in refation to property rationalisation provisicning, reflecting the announcement of the restructunng of the property portfolio

made by the Group dunng the year

The descnption of nsks above should be read in conjunction with the significant issues considered by the Audit Committee

discussed on pages 52 1o 53

These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opimion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters

Our applicatton of matenality

We define matenalty as the magmtude of misstatement n the financial statements that makes it probable that the economic

decisions of a reasocnably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced We use matenality both in planning the scope
of our audit work and in evaluating the results of our work

We delermined matenality for the group to be €17 5 mulhion (2014/15 €14 O milion), wiichis below 5% (2014/15 5%) of
adjusted Headbine profit before tax, and below 1% (2014/15 1%) of eguity In using adjusted Headline profit before tax, we have
{ollowed the Group’s definition of Headline results in note 1a) and adjusted this to include the impact of the amortisation of
acquisition intangibles and pension finance costs due to ther recumng nature This is the same basis on which we calculated
matenality in the pnor year and the increase in matenality In the current year Is due to the increase in the Group’s Headline profit
before tax We have assessed the use of a Headline measure to be appropnate as this continues to be a key drver of business
value, 15 a cntical component of the financial statements and the main measure which management uses to monitor the
performance of the business and communicate thss to shareholders

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Commuttee all audit differences in excess of £600,000
(201415 £500,000), as well as differences below that threshold that, in our view, warranted reporting on quatitative grounds
We also report to the Audit Commiitee on disclosure matters that we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the
financial statements
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Independent Auditor’s report

An overview of the scope of our audit

We have reassessed our Group audit scope following the complehon of the disposal of certain European operations dunng the
year and accordingly have not performed a full scope audit in Spain or an audit of specified account batances in Greece, both
of which we did in the prior year, although these components are both still subject 1o local statutory audits and are subject to
analytical procedures as part of wark performed at the parent entity leve!

Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the Group and #ts envaronment, including Group-wide controls,

and assessing the risks of materal misstatement at the Group level Based on that assessment, we focused our Group audrt
scope pnmanly on the audit work of the retad operations in the UK and the Nordics Each of these components requires a focal
statutory audit

These locations represent the prnincipal business untts and account for approximately 94% of the Group’s revenue from
continuing operations {2014/15 93%) and 84% of the Group's Headline profit before tax Each location was selected to provide
an approprate bass for undertaking audit work to address the nsks of matenal msstatement dentified above Qur audit work at
these locations was executed at levels of matenalty apphicable to each indwidual entity which were lower than Group matenality
and ranged from £3 rmuflion to £10 milion (2014715 £3 million to £8 million)

At the Omons Carphone plc parent enlity level we also tested the consolidation process and camed out analybcal procedures
to confirm our conclusion that there were no significant nsks of matenal misstatement of the aggregated financial information
of the remaiming components not subject to audit or audit of specified account balances

The Group audt team 1s closely nvolved in the audit of the UK components, being the largest part of the Group, throughout the year
ncluding attendance at key audnt planning and closing meetings In addition, the Group audit team continued to follow a programme
of planned wisits to overseas components that has been designed so that a semior member of the Group audit team visits the most
significant locations where the Group audit scope was focused at feast once each year For the year ended 30 Apnl 2018, semor
members of the Group audit team vistted Norway, where the Nordics head office 1s located, on two occasions

Opinion on other matters prescnbed by the Compantes Act 2006
In our opinion

« the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been propery prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 2006, and

+ the informat:on given in the Strategic Report and the Directors' Report for the financial year for which the financial statements
are prepared 1s consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

Adequacy of explanations receved and accounting records
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion

+ we have not recewved all the information and explanations we require for our auds, or

+ adequate accounting recorcs have nol been kept by the parent company, of retums adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us, or

- the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns
We have nothing to report in respect of these matters

Diractors’ remuneration

Uncler the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if (0 our opinion certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration
have not been made or the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited 1s not n agreement with the accounting
records and retums We have nothing to report ansing from these matters

Corporate Governance statement
Unidler the Lusting Rules we are also required to review part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company's
compliance with certain provisions of the UK Corporate Govemance Code We have nothing to report ansing from our review

Our duty to read other nformation in the Annual Report and Accounts
Under Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, Information n the
Annual Report and Accounts 1S

+ matenally nconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements, or

» apparently matenally ncormrect based on, or matenally inconsistent wath, our knowledge of the Group acquired in the course of
performing our audt, or

« otherwrse misteading

88 Dixons Carphone plc Annual Repont and Accounts 2015/16




In particular, we are required to consider whether we have identified any inconsistencies between our knowledge acquired
cdunng the audit and the directors’ statement that they consider the annual report 1s far, balanced and understandable
and whether the annual report appropnately discloses those matters that we communicated to the Audit Committee
which we consider should have been disclosed We confirm that we have not identified any such inconsistencies or
misleading statements

Respective responsibiities of directors and auditor

As explained more fully n the Statement of Directors’ responsibilites, the directars are responsible for the preparation of the
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair vew Cur responsibility s to audit and express an
opivon on the financia! statements n accordance with applicable law and Intemational Standards on Auditing (UK and ireland)}
We also comply with tntemational Standard on Quality Control 1 {UK and ireland) Our audit methodology and tools am to
ensure that our quality cantrol procedures are effective, understood and appled Our quality controls and systems include our
dedicated professional standards review team and independent partner reviews

This report 1s made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companes Act
2006 Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are required to
state to them in an auditor's report and for no other purpose To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's members as a body, for our audit wark, for this report, or
for the opmions we have formed

Scope of the audit of the financal statements

An audit nvolves obtaning evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financ:al statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error This incltudes an
assessment of whether the accounting policies are appropnate to the Group's and the parent company’s circumstances and
have been consistently applied and adequately disciosed, the reasonableness of sigmificant accounting estimates made by the
directors, and the overall presentation of the financial staterments In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial
information in the annual report to rdentify matenal inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any
infarmation that 1s apparently matenally ncorrect based on, or matenally inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the
course of perforrming the audit If we become aware of any apparent matenal misstatements or inconsistencies we consicler the
imphcations for our report

NN Y —
John Adam {Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Delorte LLP
Charterad Accountants and Statutory Audrtors

London, United Kmngdom
28 June 2016
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Consolidated income statement

Year ended 30 Apni 2016

13 months anded 2 May 2015

Hon- Non
Headiine™  Headime® Total Headlne® Hesdine Tota!
Nota Cmillion Triion Emilllion £miton Cmithon £mi lon
Continuing operations
Revenue 2 9,738 - 9,738 8,255 - 8,255
Profit / {toss) from operations before share of
results of joint ventures 2 472 {164) 308 400 {76) 324
Share of results of joint ventures 12 (4} - 4) - - -
Profit / (loss) before interest and tax 23 468 (164) 304 400 (76) 324
Finance incoma 17 - 17 15 - 15
Finance costs (38) (20} (58) (39) {13) (52)
Net finance costs 6 (21) (20) (41) {24) {13) (37
Profit / {loss) before tax 447 (184) 263 a76 (89) 287
Income tax (expense) / credit 7 {(110) 26 (84) {91) 15 (76)
Profit / (loss} after tax - continuing operations 337 {(158) 179 285 (74) 211
lL.oss after tax — discontinued operations 25 - {18) {18} - (114} {114)
Profit / {loss) after tax for the pernod 337 {176) 161 285 (188) 97
Earnings per share (pence) 8
Basic - continuing operations 293p 156p 29 7p 22 Op
Diluted - continuing operations 28 4p 15 1p 28 7p 212p
Basic — total 14 0p 10 1p
Diluted - total 13 6p 9 8p

*  Headline resutts exclude amortisation of acquisition intangibles, Merger integration and transaction costs, property rationalisation costs,
acquisibon related casts, net interest an defined benefit pension schemes and discontinued aperahons {compnsing Virgin Mobile France
and Phone House operations in Germany, the Netherands and Portugal) Such excluded items are cascnbed as Non-Headhine’ For further

datals see notes 4 and 25 o the financial statements
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

13 months
Year ended ended
30 April 2 May
2me 2015
Emilbon Lmifion
Profit after 1ax for the penod 161 a7
Iltems that may be reclassified to the income statement in subsequent years
Cash flow hedges
Far value remeasurement losses (12) (4
Gains transferred to carrying amount of inventories - 4
Exchange differences ansing on translation of foreign operations 66 (107)
Other foreign exchange differences 2 3
56 {114)
fterns that will not be reclassified to the incorne statement in subsequent years
Actuanal (iosses) / gains on defined benefit pension schemes - UK 5) (72)
- Qverseas 2 1)
Taxation on defined benefit pension schemes (@) 15
Foreign exchange movements - {1)
12 {59)
Other comprehensive income / (expense) for the perod (taken to equity) 44 (173) g
Total comprehensive income / {expense) for the period 205 {76) g
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Consolidated balance sheet

30 Apnl

2 May

2018 2015
Nole Limuliion Crmilon
Non-current assets
Goodwill 9 3,054 2,989
intangible assets 0 540 525
Property, plant & equipment 11 366 327
Interests in joint ventures 12 5 -
Trade and other recewvables 14 408 318
Deferred tax assels 7 234 263
4,607 4,422
Current assets
Inventory 13 958 920
Trade and other receivables 14 1,131 907
Cash and cash equwalents 15 233 163
2,322 1,990
Assets held for sale 25 - 137
Total assets 6,929 6,549
Current habilsties
Trade and other payables 16 {2,310}  (1,861)
Deferred and contingent consideration 17 (12) (25)
Income tax payable {89} 89)
Loans and other borrowings 18 - (55)
Fmance lease obligations 19 (2) {2}
Provisions 20 {78} {54)
(2,491) [2,186)
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale 25 - (68)
(2,491) (2,254)
Non-current habltties
Trade and other payables [ (423) (496)
Deferred and contingent consideration 17 21) )
Loans and other borrowings 18 {409) (330)
Finance lease obligations 19 (89) (89)
Retirement benefit obligations 21 {474) (489)
Deferred tax habilities 7 {115) (101)
Provisions 20 47 21
{1,578) (1,532)
Total habihties (4,069) (3,786)
Net assets 2,860 2,763
Capital and reserves
Share capital 22 1 1
Share premium reserve 2,256 2,256
Accumulated profits 1,358 1,368
Translation reserve (45) (113)
Demerger reserve (750) {750)
Equity attnbutable to equity holders of the parent company 2,860 2,763

The financial statements were approved by the directors on 28 June 2016 and signed on therr behalf by

/

Sebastian James, Humphrey Singer,
Group Finanoe Director

Group Chief Executive
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity

Sharo pr-?r:;:: Accumulsted Translation Demerger Total
Noe  Gmon  Gmflan  Chilion  Grion  Bmmbon  Gvilion
At 29 March 2014 1 283 1,355 {9 (750) 880
Profit for the penod - - a7 - - 97
Other comprehensive income and expense
recagnised directly in eguity - - (69) {104) - {173}
Total comprehensive income and expense
tor the period - - 2B {104) - {76)
Ordinary shares 1ssued — 1,973 - - - 1,973
Equity dividends 23 - - (52} - - (52}
Net movement in relation to share schemes — - 21 — - P
Tax on items recognised directly in reserves - - 17 - - 17
At 2 May 2015 1 2,256 1,369 {113} (750) 2,763
Profit for the penod - - 161 - - 161
Other comprehensive income and expense
recognised directly in equity - — {24) 68 - 44
Total comprehensive Income and expense
for the penod - - 137 68 - 205
Net purchase ot own shares 5 - - 9) - - )
Equity dividends 23 - - (106) - - {1086)
Net movement in relation to share schemes - - 10 - - 10
Tax on items recogrised directly i reserves - - N - - L)
At 30 Apnl 2016 1 2,256 1,398 {45} {750) 2,860
I}
Dixons Carphons plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015/16 ¢

Financial statements




Financial statements

Consolidated cash flow statement

13 months
Year ended endod
30 Apnl) 2 May
2016 2015
Note Crrullien Ermultetn
Operating activities — continuing operations
Cash generated from operations 27 485 110
Special contnbutions to defined benefit pension scheme (35) (28)
Income tax pard (56) (39)
Net cash flows from operating activities 3N 43
Investing activities ~ continuing operations
Interest receved - 1
Cash acguwred on the Merger - 347
Net cash outflow ansing from acquisiton of subs:dranes (50} (25)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment 24 1
Proceeds on sale of business and short term investments - 8
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment and other intangibles {221} (166)
Investment in joi ventures (9} -
Net cash flows from investing activities (256) 176
Financing activities - continuing operations
Interest paid {20) (30)
Repayment of obligations under finance leases (6) {7)
Net purchase of own shares {5) -
Equity dwidends paid (106) 52)
Increase / ([decrease) in borrowings 25 {211)
Bond redemption premium - (38)
Facility arrangement fees pard {5) (4}
Net cash flows from financing activities (117 (342)
Increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Continuing operations 21 (123)
Discontinued operations 25 3z 3
53 (120)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the penod 163 283
Currency translation differences 17 -
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the penod 27 233 163
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Notes to the Group financial statements

1 Accountihg policies
a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
a going congcem basts In accordance with IFRS as adopted
by the E, IFRS i1ssued by the Intemational Accounting
Standards Board, those parts of the Companies Act 2006
applicable to those companies reporting under IFRS and
Arnicte 4 of the |IAS Regulation

The financial staterments have been presented in UK Sterling,
the functional currency of the Company, and on the histoncal
cost basis except for the revaluation of certain financial
instruments, as explained below All amounts have been
rounded to the nearest €1 million, unless otherwise stated
The pnneipal accounting policies adopted are set out below

On 6 August 2014, the Group completed the merger of Dixons
and Carphone (the ‘Merger”), which was implemented by way
of a scheme of arangement of Dixons

Histoncally, the Group prepared its financial statements to the
Saturday closest to its accounting reference date of 31 March
Following the Merger, the Group changed its accounting
reference date to 30 Apnl which was the accounting reference
date of Dixons, but continues to draw up accounts to the
nearesl Saturday Accordingly the comparative financial penod
15 for the 13 manths ended 2 May 2015

The Group's income statement and segmental analysis identify
separately Headline performance and Non-Headline tems
Headhline performance measures reflect adjustments to total
performance measures The directors consider ‘Headhne'
performance measures to be a more accurate reflection of the
ongoing trading performance of the Group and believe that
these measures provide additional useful information for
shareholders on the Group's performance and are consistent
with how business performance 15 measured ntemally

Headhne results are stated before the results of discontinued
operations or exited / to be exited businesses, amortisation of
acquisthion intangibles, acquisition related costs, any
exceptional items considered so one-off and matenal that they
distort undertying performance (such as reorganisation costs,
impaiment charges, property rationalisation costs and other
non-recumng charges) and net pension interest costs
Businesses exited ar to be exited are those which the Group
has exited or committed to or commenced to exit through
disposal or closure but do not meet the defimtion of
discontinued operations as stipulated by IFRS and are matenal
to the results and operations of the Group

Non-Headline tems i the current and prior penod compnse
amortisation of acquesibon intangibles, Merger integration and
transaction caosts, property rahonahsation costs, acquisiion
related costs, net interest on defined banefit pension schemes
and discontinued operations (compnsing Virgin Mobile France
and Phone House operations in Germany, the Nethertands and
Portugal} A reconciliation of Headline profit and losses to total
profits and losses Is shown in note 2 ltems excluded from
Headline results can evolve from one financial year to the next
depending on the nature of exceptional items or one-off type
activities described above

Headline performance measures and Non-Headhne
performance measures may not be drectly comparable with
other simitarly titled measures or ‘adjusted’ revenue or profit
measures used by other companies

Gains on disposal of non-core businesses in Southemn Europe
in the prior penod have been included in Headline results net of
restructunng costs The net impact of these activites totalled
£5 milion

Going concem

The Group's funding arrangements and processes for
managmg its exposure to iquidity nsk are set out n notes
18 and 26

in therr consideration of going concem, the directors have
reviewed the Group's future cash forecasts and profit
projections, which are based on market data and past
expenence The directors are of the opinion that the Group's
forecasts and prajections, which take into account reasonably
possible changes in trading performance, show that the Group
15 able to operate within its current faciliies and comply with s
banking covenants for the foreseeable future In amving at their
concluston that the Group has adequate financial resources,
the directors were mindful ¢f the level of borowings and
faciitres as set out In note 18 to the Group financtal statements
and that the Group has a robust policy towards hquidity and
cash flow management

Accordingly the directors have a reasonable expectation that
the Company and the Group have adequate resources to
continue In operation for the foreseeable future and
consequently the directors continue to apply the gong
concem basis in the preparation of the financial statements

The pnncipal accounting policies are set out below
b} Accounting convention and basis of consclidation

The consolidated financial statements ncorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entihies controlled by the
Company (its subsidianes) Control 15 achieved where the
Company has the power over the iInvestee, 15 exposed, or has
nghts, to vanable retumn from its involvement with the investee,
and has the ability to use its power to affect its retumns

The results of subsidianes and joint ventures acquired or sold
dunng the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the
effective date of disposal as appropnate, which 15 the date
from which the power to control passes Where necessary,
adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidianes to bnng the accounting policies used into ine with
those used by the Group All intercompany transactions and
balances are eiminated on consolidation
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Notes to the Group financial statements

c) Foreign currency translation and transactions

Matenal transactions In foreign currencies are hedged using
forward purchases or sales of the relevant currencies and are
recogrised n the financial statements at the exchange rates
thus obtaired Unhedged transactions are recorded at the
exchange rate on the date of the transaction Matenal
monetary assets and habiibes dencrmunated in foreign
cumrencies are hedged, manly using forward foreign exchange
contracts to create matching tabikities and assets, and are
retranslated at each balance sheet date Hedge accounting
as defined by AS 39 ‘Financial Instruments Recogrmition

and Measurernent’ has been applied by marking to market
the relevant financial instruments at the balance sheet date
and recognising the gamn or loss in reserves in respect of
cash flow hedges, and through profit or loss in respect of farr
value hedges

The results of overseas operations are translated at the
average foreign exchange rates for the year, and their balance
sheets are translated at the rates prevailing at the balance
sheet date Goodwill and acquisition mntangible assets are held
in the currency of the operation 1o which they relate Exchange
differences arsing on the translation of net assets, goodwill
and results of overseas operations are recognised in the
translation reserve All other exchange differences are included
m profit or loss in the year in which they anse except where the
Group designates financial nstruments held for the purpose of
hedging the foreign currency exposures that result from
matenal transactions undertaken n foreign currencies as cash
flow hedges, hedge accounting as defined by IAS 3¢ ‘Financial
Instruments Recognition and Measurement® 1s applied The
ffective portion of changes in the fair value of financial
instruments that are designated as cash flow hedges 1s
recogrused in other comprehensive mcome The gain or [oss
relating to the ineffective portion s recognised in profit or loss
Amounts previously recogrised in equity are reclassified to
profit or foss i the penods when the hedged item 1s
recognised i profit or 10ss

Where a foreign operation 1s disposed of, the gamn or loss on
disposal recogrised in profit or loss 1s determined after taking
nto account the cumulative currency translation differences
that are attrbutable to the operation The pnncipal exchange
rates agamnst UK Sterling used in these financial statements are
as follows

Average Closing

2018 2015 2018 2015

Euro 136 128 128 135
Norwegian Krone 1251 10 86 "7 1151
Swedish Krona 1265 1185 174 1272

d} Revenue

Revenue compnses sales of goeds and services exciuding
sales taxes The following accounting pohicies are applied to
the principal revenue generating actvities in which the Group
15 engaged

. revenue from the sale of goods 15 recognised at the pont
of sals or, where later, upon delivery to the customer and
15 stated net of retums,

+ revenue eamed from the sale of customer support
agreements 15 recognised over the tem of the contracts
when the Group obtans the nght to consideration as a result
of performance of its contractual cbligations Revenue in any
one year 15 recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the contractual terms at the balance shee!
date The stage of completion 1s estmated with reference to
the propartion of the expected costs of fuffiling the Group's
totat obligations under the agreements, determined by
reference to extensive histoncal claims data Reliance on
nistoncal data assumes that cument and future expenence
will follow past trends The drectors consider that the
quantity and quality of data avallable provides an appropnate
proxy for curent trends,

- revenue ansing on services (including deivery and
instaliation, product repars and product support), 1S
recogmsed when the relevant services are provided,

. commission receivable on sales, being commission which 1s
contractually commtted, and for which there are no ongoing
performance obligations, 1s recognised when the sales to
which the commuission relates are made, net of any provision
for promotional offers and network operator performance
penalties Commission ncludes a share of consumer artime
spend, to the extent that it can be reliably measured and
there are no ongaing service obligations Where the time
value of money has a matenal impact, an appropnate
discount 15 applied such that revenue 15 recogmsed at an
amount egua! to the present value of tha future
consideration to be recewved,

+ other ongang revenue 1s recognised as it 15 eamed over the
lives of the relevant customers,

« volume bonuses receivable from network operators are
recognised when the conditons on which they are eamed
have been met,

- insurance revenue relates 1o the sale of third party insurance
products Sales commission recerved from third parties 15
recogmsed when the insurance policies to which tt relates
are sold, to the extent that it can be reliably measured and
there are no ongoing service obligations Revenue from the
provision of insurance admiristration services 1S recognised
over the life of the relevant policies,
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For MVNQ operations where the Group is the pnncipal,
revenue i1s recognised in the penod in which the
telecommunication service, such as airtime or data, 15
provided,

= revenue from the sale of prepaid credits s deferred until the
customer uses the airime or the credit expires, and

*» revenue generated from the provision of fixed and mobile
network services I1s recognised as it 1s eamed over the lives
of the relevant customers

e} Discontinued operations and assets and habilties
held for sale

A discontinued operation 1s a component of the Group which
represents a significant separate line of business, either
through ts activity or geographical area of operation, which
has been sold, 1s held for sale or has been closed

Where the sale of a component of the Group 1s considered
highly probable and the business 15 avalable for immediate
sale In its present condition, it 1s classified as held for sale
Such classification assumes the expectation that the sale wall
complaete within one year frorn the date of classdication Assets
and habibtes hetd for sale are measured at the iower of
carmying ameunt and fair value less costs to sell Once
classified as held for sale, intangible assets and property, plant
& equipment dre no longer amortised or depreciated

f) Share-based payments

Equity settled share-based payments are measured at far
value at the date of grant, and expensed on a straight line
basis over the vesting penod, based on an estimate of the
rnumber of shares that will eventually vest

Where share-based payments are subject only to service
conditons or intemal performance cntena (such as EPS
targets), farr value 1s measured using either a Binomial model
or a Black Scholes model Where share-based payments have
external performance cntena {such as TSR targets) a Monte
Carlo mode! 1s used to measure far value

For all schemes, the number of options expected to vest s
recalculated at each balance sheet date, based on
expectations of leavers pror to vesting For schemes with
intemal performance cntena, the number of options expected
to vest 1s also adjusted based on expectations of performance
aganst target No adjustment s made for expected
performance against extemnal performance ¢ntena The
movement in cumulative expense since the previous balance
sheet date 1 recogrused in the Income statement, with a
corresponding entry in reserves

Charges also anse on loans that are provided to employees
to fund the purchase of shares as part of long term incentive
plans To the extent to which the leans are not, in certain
circumstances, repayable, the cost of the relevant part of
such loans 15 expensed over the course of the relevant
ncentive plans

g) Retirement benefit obligations

Company contnbutions to defined contnbution pension
schemes and contnbutions made to state penswon schemes for
certain overseas employees are charged to the income
statement on an accruals basis when employees have
rendered service entiting themn to the contributions

For defined benefit pension schemes, the difference between
the market value of the assets and the present value of the
accrued pension liabilities 1s shown as an asset or lability in the
consolidated balance sheet The calculation of the present
value 1s detemmined using the projected unit crecit method

Actuanal gains and losses ansing from changes in actuanal
assumptions together with expenence adjustments and actual
retum on assets are recognised in the consoldated statement
of comprehensive Income and expense as they anse Such
amounts are not reclassified to the income statement in
subsequent years

Defined benefit costs recognised in the mcome statement
compnse mainly net interest expense or income with such
interest being recognised within finance costs Net interestis
calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined
benefit hability or asset taking into account any changes in the
net defined benefit oblgation dunng the year as a result of
contnbution or benefit payments

h) Leases

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantally all the nsks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee The determination of the classification
of property leases 1s made by reference to the land and
buildings elements separately All leases not classified as
finance leases are classified as operating leases

The Group as a lessor

Rental income from operating leases 1s recogrised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the refevant lease Initsa)
direct costs incurred in negotrating and arranging an operatng
lease are added to the camying amount of the leased asset and
recogrsed on a straight-hine basis over the lease term

The Group as a lessee

Finance leases

Assets held under finance leases are capitahsed at their far
value on acquisition or, if lower, at the present value of the
minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of
the lease and depreciated over therr estimated useful lives or
the lease term If shorter The comesponding obligation to the
lessor 1s ncluded m the balance sheet as a hability Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and
reduction of the lease obligation Finance charges are charged
to the income statement over the term of the lease in
proportion 1o the capnal element outstanding

Operating leases

Rental payments under operating leases are charged to the
income statement on a straight-line basis over the penod of
the lease Contingent rentals ansing under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the penod in which they
are incurred
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Notes to the Group financial statements

Benefits received and recenvable as an incentive to enter into
operating leases are amortised through the income staterment
over the penod of the lease

i} Taxation

Current tax

Current tax, 1s provided at amounts expected to be pad
or recovered using the prevailing tax rates and laws that
have been enacted or substantally enacted by the balance
sheet date and adjusted for any tax payable in respect of
Previous years

Deferred tax

Deferred tax habiies are recognised for all temporary
differences between the carrying amount of an asset or labilty
i the balance sheet and the tax base value and represent tax
payable in future penods Defemed tax assets are recogrised
to the extent that i s probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences

can be utlised

Deterred tax habilities are recogrised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidianes, except
where the Group 1s able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it 1s probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future No
provision 1s made for tax which would have been payable on
the distnbution of retaned profits of overseas subsidianes or
associated undertakings where it has been determined that
these profits will not be distnbuted in the foreseeable future

A deferred tax asset 1s recogrsed only 1o the extent that itis
probabte that future taxable profits will be avalable against
which the asset can be utiised Current and deferred tax s
recognised i the income statement except where it relates to
an item recognised directly in reserves, in which case iti1s
recognised directly in reserves

Deferred tax 1s measured at the average: tax rates that are
expected to apply in the years in whch the timing differences
are expected to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that
have been enacted, or substantally enacted by the balance
sheet date

Deferred tax assets and labilties are offset aganst each other
when they relaie to income taxes levied by the same fax
jursdiction and when the Group intends to settle its current
tax assets and habimes on a net basis Deferred tax balances
are not discounted

i) Goodwill

On acquisition of a subsidhary or assoctate, the farr value of the
consideration 1s allocated between the identifiable net tangible
and intangible assets and liabilties on a farr value basis, with
any excess consideraton representing goodwill At the
acquisition date, goodwill 1s allocated to each Cash Generating
Unit {CGU) expected o benefit from the combination and held
in the currency of the operations te which the goodwill relates

Goodwill 1s not amortised, but 1s reviewed annually for
impaument, or more frequently where there is an indicaton
that goodwill may be imparred Impaiment s assessed by
measunng the future cash flows of the CGUs to which the
goodwill relates Where the future discounted cash flows are
less than the carrying vatue of goodwill, an impairment charge
15 recogrised i the ncome staterment

On disposat of subsidiary undertakings and businesses, the
relevant goodwill 1s included in the calculation of the profit or
‘oss on disposal

k) Intangible assets

Acqursition intangibles

Acquisiion intangibles compnse brand names and customer
relationships purchased as part of acquisitions of businesses
and are capitalised and amortised over therr useful economic
lives on a straight line basis These intangible assets are stated
at cost less accumulated amartisation and, where appropnate,
provision for impaiment in value or estimated loss on disposal

Amortisation 1s provided to wite off the cost of assetsona
straight line basis on the following bases

Brands 7% to 20% per annum

Customer relationships 13% to 50% perannum

Software and licences

Software and licences include costs incurred to acquire the
assets as welf as intema! infrastructure and design costs
incurred n the development of software n order to bnng the
assets into use

Intemally generated software is recognised as an ntangible
asset only if it can be separately identified, it 1s probable that
the asset will generate future economic benefits which exceed
one year, and the developrnent cost can be measured reliably
Where these conditions are not met, development expenditure
15 recogrised as an expense n the year in which it 1s incurred
Costs associated with developing or mantaming computer
software are recognised as an expense as ncurred unless they
increase the future economic benefits of the asset, in which
case they are capitalised

The expenditure capitalised includes the cost of matenals,
direct labour and an appropnate proporiion of overheads
Subsequent expendiure 1s capitalised only when it increases
the future economic benefits embodied in the specific asset
to which 1t refates

Software is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and,
where appropriate, provision for impatrment i value or
estimated loss on disposal Amortisation 1s provided to wrle
off the cost of assets on a straight line basis between three
and eight years
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0} Property, plant & equipment

Property, plant & equipment are stated at cost less
accurnulated depreciation and any accumutated impairment
Ipsses

With the exception of land, depreciation 1s provided to write off
the cost of the assets over therr expected useful lives from the
date the asset was brought into use or capable of being used

Rates applied to different classes of property, plant &
equipment are as follows

Land and buildings
Fixtures, fittings and equipment

124% - 4% per annum

10 - 3314% per annum

Assets capitalised as finance leases are depreciated over the
term of the lease

Property, plant & equipment are assessed on an ongoing

basis to determine whether circumstances exst that could lead
{o the conclusion that the net book valug 15 not supportable
Where assets are to be taken out of use, an impairment

charge 15 levied Where the property, plant & equipment form
part of a separate CGU, such as a store or group of stores, and
business indicators exist which could lead to the conclusions
that the net book value 1s not supportable, the recoverable
amount of the CGU 1s determined by calculating its value in
use The value in use is calculated by appiying discounted
cash flow modefling to management’s projection of future
profitability and any impairment 1s determined by companng
the net book value with the value in use

m) Financial assets and investments

The Group's financial assets comprnise cash and cash
equivalents, and those receivables which involve a contractual
nght to receive cash from extemal parties Financial assets
compnse all tems shown in notes 14 and 15 with the
exception of prepayments Under the classifications stipulated
by IAS 39, cash and cash equivalents and denvative finaneial
mstruments, which are further descnbed in notes 1p) and 26,
are classified as 'loans and recevables’ and ‘held for trading
unless designated in a hedge refationship’, respectively Trade
and pther recevables (excluding denvatwe financial assets} are
classified as 'loans and receivables’

n) Interests in joint ventures

Jomt ventures are joint amangements whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have nights to the net
assets of the arangement These consolidated financial
statements include the Group’s share of the total recogrused
gains and losses of joint ventures using the equity method less
any impawrment losses When the Group’s interest in a joint
venture has been reduced to ni because the Group's share of
losses exceeds its interest in the joint venture, the Group only
provides for additional losses to the extent that it has incurred
legal or constructive obligations to fund such losses, or where
the Group has made payments on behalif of the jont venture
Any associated goodwill s included within the carying value
of the mvestment and 1s assessed for impaiment as part of
that investment

o) lnventones

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value Cost compnses direct purchase cost and those
overheads that have been incurred in bnnging the mventones
to therr present location and condition less any atinbutable
discounts and bonuses receved from suppkers in respect of
that inventory Net realisable value is based on estimated
seling pnce, less further costs expected to be incurred to
disposal Prowision is made for obsolete, slow moving or
defective iterns where appropnate

p) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents cormnpnse cash at bank and In
hand, bank overdrafts and short term highly liqu:d deposits
which are subject to an insignificant nsk of changes in value
Bank overdrafts, which form part of cash and cash equivalents
tor the purpose of the cash flow statement, are shown under
cumrent habilities

q) Borrowings and other financial habilites

The Group's financial labiities are those which involve a
contractual obligation to deliver cash to extemal parties at a
future date Fnancial labibties compnse all items shown in
notes 16 to 19 with the excephon of deferred income and other
non-financeal creditors

Borrowings

Borrowings in the Group's balance sheet represent commutted
and uncommitted bank loans Borrowings are inthially recorded
at the consideration received less directly attnbutable
transaction costs Transaction fees such as bank fees and
lega! costs associated with the secunng of financing are
capitaiised and amartised through the mcome statement over
the term of the relevant facility All other borrowing costs are
recognised in the income statement in the penod in which they
are incured

Financial statements

Under the classifications stipulated by IAS 39, borrowings,
finance lease cbligabons and trace and other payables
{exctuding denvative financial labihties} are classified as
‘tinancial habiihes measured at amortised cost’ Denvative
financial instruments, which are descnbed further in note 26,
are classified as “held for trading uniess designated in a
hedge relationship’

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables (excluding denvative financial
abilities) are recorded at cost Denvative financial instruments,
are intially recorded at farr value and then subsequently
rermeasured to far value at each balance sheet date and

are held within assets or kabilities as appropnate Gains and
losses ansing from revaluation at the balance sheet date are
recogrised in the iIncome statement unless the dervatives

are designated as hedges and such hedges are proved to

be effective
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r) Provisions

Prowistons are recogrised when a legal or constructive
obligation exists as a resuit of past events and it 15 probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligaton and a reliable estmate can be made of the amount
of the obhgation Provisions are discounted where the time
value of money 1s considered to be matenal

All provisions are assessed by reference to the best available
information at the balance sheet date

£) Critical accounting judgements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty

Cnitical accounting judgements and estimates used in the
preparation of the financial statements are cantinually reviewed
and revised as necessary

Whiist every effort 1s made to ensure that such judgements and
estimates are reasonable, by their nature they are uncertain,
and as such changes may have a matenal mpact The
pnncipal tems subject to such judgements and estimates are
as follows

Revenue recogntion

For certain transactions with MNOs, commussion recevable on
mobile phone sales depends on customer behaviour after the
point of sale The method of measunng the far value of the
revenue and associated recewvables at the date of sale 1s to
estimate all future cash flows that will be receved from the
retwork and then discount these based on therr iming of
receipt The associated recevables are subsequently
measured at amortised cost with remeasurements due to
changes in customer behawviour recogrised in the income
statement Assumptions are therefore required, particularly in
relation to levels of customer default within the contract perod,
expected levels of customer spend, and customer behaviour
beyond the initial contract penod Further cetails of estimates
used 1o value commission receivable, camying amounts at the
balance sheet date, effects on the current year income
statement of changes in estmates and sensitivity analysis of
the camying value can be found in note 26

Income received from suppliers such as volume rebates

The Group has provided enhanced disclosure on suppler
funding following guidance issued by the Financial Reporting
Council In December 2014 This disclosure 1s aimed at assisting
the users of the financ:al statements i understanding the
judgements and estmates made in the recogmition of suppher
funding in the Group's financial statements

The Group's agreements with suppliers contain a pnce for unts
purchased as well as other rebates and discounts which are
summansed below

Volume Rebates This income 1s linked to purchases made from
supplters and 1s recogrised as a reduchon to cost of goods sold
as inventory s soid Uneamed rebates that relate to inventory
not sold are recogrised wathin the value of inventary at the
period end Where an agreement spans penod ends, judgement
s required regarding amounts to be recogrised Forecasts are
used as well as histoncal data in the estimation of the level of
mcome recogmsed Amounts are onfy recogrnised where the
Group has a clear entitlement to the receipt of therebate and a
rehable estmate can be made

Discounts This mcome is receved from suppliers on a pnce per
und basis The level of estimation 1s minimal as amounts are
recognised as a reduction to cost of goods sold based on the
agreement terms and only once the tem s sold

Marketing income This income 15 receved In relation to
marketing actwvibies that are performed on behalf of suppliers
Judgement 1s required to ensure that income 1S only recogrised
when all performance obligations within the contract have been
futfilled and the income 1s expected to be collected

Suppher funding amaounts that have been recogrised and
not invorced are shown within ac¢rued income on the
balance sheet

Inventory valuation

inventones are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable
value Cost compnses direct purchase cost and those
overheads that have been incurred in banging the inventones
to therr present location and condiion Net reabsable value
represents the estimated selling pnce less all estimated and
directly attnbutable costs of completion and costs to be
incurred in marketing, selling and distnbution Net reaksable
value includes, where necessary, provisions for slow moving
and damaged inventory The provision represents the
chfference between the cost of stock and its estimated net
realisabie value, based on ageing and other factors
Calculation of these provisions requires judgements to be
made which include forecast consumer demand, the
promotional, compettive and economic environment and
inventory loss trends

Recoverable amount of non-current assels

All non-current assets, ricluding goodwill and other intang ible
assets, are reviewed for potential impaiment using estimates
of the future economic benefits atinbutable to them Any
estimates of future econarmic benefits made in relation to non-
current assets may differ from the benefits that uttmately anse
and matenally affect the recoverable value of the asset The
methodology and key assumptions used in assessing the
camying value of goodwill 1s set out in note 9 and in respect of
intangible assets and property, plant & equipment in note 1K)
and 10}

Trade and other racewvables

Provisions for wrecoverable recevables are based on extensive
mistoncal evidence and the best avallable information in
relation to specific issues, but are unavoidably dependent

on future events
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Taxation

Tax laws that apply to the Group's businesses may be
amended by the relevant authonties, for example as a result of
changes in fiscal circumstances or pronties  Such potential
amendments and therr application to the Group are monitored
regularly and the requirement for recognition of any liabilities
assessed where necessary The Group is subject 10 Income
taxes in a number of different junsdictions and judgement is
required in detemmning the appropnate provision for
transactions where the ulimate tax determination 1s uncertain
In such circumstances, the Group recognises labiities for
anticipated taxes due based on hest information available and
where the anticipated hability 1s probable and estmable Where
the final cutcome of such matters differs from the amounts
initially recorded, any differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the year to which such
determunation 1s made Where the potentia! habilities are not
considered probable, the amount at nsk 1s disclosed unless an
adverse oulcome 1s considered remote The Group has
recognised prowistons i relation to uncertain tax positions of
£54 milhon at 30 April 2016 {2015 £41 million}

Deferred tax is recognised on taxable losses based on the
expected ability to utiise such losses This ability takes
account of the business plans for the relevant companies,
potential uncertainties around the longer term aspects of these
business plans, any expiry of taxable benefits and potential
future volatility in the local tax regimes

Provisions

The Group's provisions are based on the best information
available to management at the balance sheet date
Judgement i1s required to assess the likelihood of success of
any claim made against the Group and if any hability will anse
The most sigmficant provision curently 1s in relation to the
store reprganisation programme descnbed in note 4 The costs
and timing of cash flows are dependent on exiting the property
lease contracts or subletiing the property Significant
assumptions are used 1 estimating the uttimate cost to the
Group including the nature, timing and cost of exiting a lease
and the level of sublease ncome The future costs assumed
are inevitably only estimates, which may differ from those
uthmately incurred Refer to note 20 for further information

Defined benefit pension schernes

The surplus or deficit in the UK defined benefit penston
scheme that 1s recogrused through the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income and expense 1s subject to a number
of assumptions and uncertainties  The ¢alculated babitities of
the scheme are based on assumptions regarding salary
increases, inflation rates, discount rates and member longewity
Such assumptions are based on actuanal advice and are
benchmarked against simitlar pension schemes Refer to note
21 for further information

Acquisttion accounting

Accounting for the Merger involved the use of assumptions in
relatton to the future cash flows associated with acquisition
inangibles, and the use of valuation techrugues in order to
amve at the farr vatue of the other non-current assets and
labiites acquired The assumptrons applied were based on
the best information availlable to management and valuation
techriques were supported by third party valuation experts
Nevertheless, the actual performance of these assets and
kabiities may differ from the valuations denved through this
exercise Judgement was required in identifying the acquirer
n accordance with the cntena detailed in IFRS 3 ‘Business
Combinations' The factors considered when identifying the
acquirer included i) the entity which 1ssued equity to effect the
transaction and the terrms on which equity interests were
exchanged i) the relative voting nights of the entities ni) the
composition of the board and sentor management past
transaction w) the existence of any significant minonty
interests, and v) the relative size of the entbies On the basis of
this analysis we concluded that Carphone Warehouse Group
plc was the acquirer
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1) Recent accounting developments

There were no new IFRSs or IFRIC interpretations that had to
be implemented during the year that significantly affect these
financial statements

The following new standards, which are applicable to the
Group, have been published but are nct yet effectve and have
not yet been adopted by the EU

« IFRS 9 'Fmancial instruments’ This standard s the first step
in the process to replace IAS 38 'Fnancial instruments
Recognition and Measurement’ IFRS 9 introduces new
requirements for classifying and measunng financia! assets
and affects the accounting for financial assets - IFAS 81s
applicable for penods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

« IFRS 15 'Revenue from Contracts with Customers' provides
guidance on the recognition, tming and measurement of
revenue IFRS 15 is applicable for penods beginning on or
after 1 January 2018

« [FRS 16 'Leases’ establishes pnnciples for the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of leases -
IFRS 16 1s applicable for penods beginning on or after
1 January 2019

it 1s not practicable to provide a reasonable estmate of the
effect of the adoption of the above standards until a detailed
review has been complete, however, IFRS 16 will require the
Group to recognise a lease llabilty and a nght-of-use asset for
most of those leases previously treated as operating leases
This will affect both nan-current and current habilities, fixed
assets and the measuremeant and disclosure of expense
assaciated wath the leases winch under the new standard will
be treated as depreciation and financing expense which were
praviously recognised as operating expeses aver the term of
the lease

Certain other new accounting standards, amendments to
existing accounting standards and interpretations which are in
1ssue but not yet effective, either do not apply to the Group or
are not expected to have any matenal impact on the Group's
net results or net assets

2 Segmental analysis

The Group's operating segments reflect the segments routinely
reviewed by the Board and which are used to manage
performance and allocate resources This information 1$
predominantly based on geographical areas which are erther
managed separalely or have similar trading charactenstics
such that they can be aggregated together into one segment

As explained In note 25, Virgin Mobile France, the Phone
House operations in Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal
have been treated as discontinued operations and are
therefore excluded from this segmental analysts

The Group's reportable segments have been dentified
as follows

- UK & Ireland compnses operations in the UK and Ireland
as well as operations in airports in the UK and Iretand

Nordics operates in Norway, Sweden, Finland, Denmark
and Iceland

Sauthem Europe comprses operations n Spain and Greece

« Connected World Services 1s the Group's B2B operation
which leverages the specalist skills, operating processes
and technology of the Group to provide managed services
to third parties looking to develop therr own connected
wortd solutions

UK & trefand, Nordics and Southern Europe are mvolved in the
sale of consumer electronics and mobile technology prodtcts
and services, pnmanly through stores or onfine channels

Transactions between segments are on an amm’s length basis
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2 Segmental analysis continued
{a) Segmental results

Year endod 30 Apnl 2018

Connacted
UK & Southem World
kreland Nordics Europe Services Elimingtions Totat
Lmliton Emillion £milllen £rmalion E£milion tmillion
Headline external revenue 6,404 2,632 550 152 - 9,738
Inter-segmental revenue 60 - - - {60} —
Total Headline revenue 6,464 2,632 550 152 {60} 9,738
Headiine EBIT before share of results of
jomnt ventures 365 79 17 11 - 472
Share of Headline results of joint ventures " - - - @) - )
Headline EBIT 365 79 17 7 - 468
Reconciation of Headhne profit to total profit before tax
Year encod 30 Apnl 2016
Amortisabon
Headline of Dixons Property Ponsion Total
prafit / acquisition Retait h Acquisrtion iy prafit/
{loss}  Intangibles Merger costs related Interast floss)
£rmillion fmulion Erullion Emuliion frnllion Emullion miltion
UK & Ireland 365 (24) (37) (70} {1} - 233
Nordics 79 {(13) (5) - (5} - 56
Southern Europe 17 (2} - - - - 15
Connected World Services 1 {1) {6) - - - 4
EBIT before share of results of joint ventures 472 {40) (48) (70) (6) - 308
Share of results of joint ventures (4} - - - - - (4)
EBIT 468 (40) {48) {70) {6) - 304
Finance income 17 - - - - - 17
Finance costs (38) - (4) - - {16} {58)
Profit / {loss) before tax 447 {40) {52) (70) (6) (16) 263
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2 Segmental analysis continued
{a) Segmental results continued

13 months ended 2 May 2015

Connected
uxKs Southern world
keland Nordics Eurcpe Servaces Bliminations Total
Cmudlion Emilion Trmulhon emilicn Trnilion Emillon
Headline external revenue 5,506 2,055 564 130 - 8,255
Inter-segmental revenue 64 - — - (64) -
Total Headline revenue 5,570 2,055 564 130 (64) B,255
Headline EBIT before share of results of
joint ventures 313 60 20 7 - 400
Share of Headline results of joint ventures - - - - - -
Headline EBIT 313 60 20 7 - 400
Reconcihation of Headlne profit to total profit before tax
13 months ended 2 May 2015
Headline  Amortsaton Duxons Pengion Total
profit/ ol acquession Aptait scheme profit/
{loss) ntangibles Merger ntarast {loss)
Crithon Crrullion {mimon Cmidban £mition
UK & treland 313 (22) (13) - 278
Nordics 80 (1Q) {4) - 46
Southern Europe 20 {2} - - 18
Connected World Services 7 (1) — — 6
Unallocated - — (24) - {24)
EBIT before share of results of joint ventures 400 (35) {41) - 324
Share of results of joint ventures - - - - -
EBIT 400 {35) {41) - 324
fFinance income 15 — - - 15
Finance costs {39) - - {13} (52)
Profit / (loss) betore tax a76 {35) 4t (13) 287

Unallocated Merger related costs compnse those that are not directly attnbutable to a specific segment
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2 Segmental analysis continued
b) Geographical information

Revenues are allocated to countries according 1o the entity's country of domicile Revenue by destination 1s not matenally

different to that shown by donucile
¢) Other information

Non-current assets Capital sxpandiurs  Depreciation/Amoriisation
13 months 13 menths 13months.
Year enced encled Year ended ended Yoar ended anded
30 Apnil 2 May 30 Apnil 2 May 30 Apri 2 May
2018 2015 2018 2015 2018 2015
Cmiiian Lmilton £million £milion Emilian Emiltion
UK & ireland 3,086 2,916 152 127 129 106
Nordics 1,203 1,152 57 30 40 32
Southem Europe 62 86 5 4 6 9
Connected World Services 17 5 7 5 2 2
4,368 4,159 1 166 177 145
*Non-current assets above exclude deferred lax assets and assets related 1o discontinued operations
3 Revenue and profit / (loss) before interest, taxation and share of results of joint ventures
Year ended 30 Apnl 2018 13 montns 2 May 2015
Non- Non—
Headline Headine Totat Heacdhna Hoadine Total
£mlition emullion Cmition £mikon Cmulion Cmilion
Revenue 9,738 - 9,738 8,255 - 8,255
Cost of sales {7,553} - (7.553) (6,118) - (6,118)
Gross profit 2,185 — 2,185 2,137 - 2,137
Operating expenses {1,713) (164) (1,877 {1,737 (76} (1,813)
Profit / (loss) before interest, taxaton and share
of results of joint ventures 472 {164) 308 400 (76) 324

Revenue can be further analysed as follows

Year endad 30 Aphl 2018

13 months ended 2 May 2015

Non- Non-
Headling Headline Total Headine Headling Total
Emillion Emillion Cmillion fmition Cmiion £mitlion
Sale of goods 7,018 - 7,018 5,641 - 5,641
Revenue from services 2,720 - 2,720 2,614 - 2614
9,738 - 9,738 8,255 - 8,255

Revenue from services predominantly compnses those relating to commissions from MNOs, insurance, customer support

agreements, dehvery and instaliation, product repairs and product support
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3 Revenue and profit / {loss) before interest, taxation and share of results of joint ventures continued
Profit / (loss) before interest and taxation for continuing operations 1s stated after charging / (crediting) the following

13 months
Year ended ended
30 Apnl 2 May
2016 2015
Crllion Emullion
Depreciation of property, plant & equipment 98 83
Amortisation of acquisibon intangibles 40 35
Amortisation of other intangibles 39 31
Impaiment of trade recewables 1" 8
Impairment of inventory 55 68
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 1 5
Cost of inventory recogmsed as an expense 7.343 6,069
Rentals pad under operating leases
Non-contingent rent 340 304
Contingent rent 17 22
Rentals received under operating leases - subjeases 8) 5)
Investment property rental income (A} (1)
Net foreign exchange losses 2 1
Share-based payments expense 10 10
Other employee costs {see note 5) 1,051 890
Auditor's remuneration compnses the following
13 months
Yaar endad endad
. 30 Aprif 2 May
2016 2015
Errilion Cevdlkon
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor for the audit of the Company's annual accounts 01 a1
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and its associates for their audit of the
Company's subsidianes 14 19
Total audit fees 1.5 20
Tax advisory services - 02
Tax comphance services 02 o2
Other assurance Services 02 13
Other services - 02
19 39

In addition to the above fees, £0 1m {2014/15 £0 1m) of non-audit fees were pad to the auditor in respect of tax comphiance and
tax advisory services 1o discantinued operations Other assurance services in the pnor penod related pnmanly to the Merger in
respect of which the extemal auditor acted as reporting accountant
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4 Non-Headline tems

13 months
Yoar anded enged
30 April 2 May
2016 2015
Hote Crmiltion Lrvllion
Inctuded in profit / {loss) before interest and tax
Amortisation of acquisttion intangibles 0] {40} {35)
Exceptional items— Dixons Retal Merger i {48) (41)
- Property rationalisation costs (] (70) -
- Acquisition related ) (6) -
{164} {76)
tncluded in net finance costs
Net non-cash finance costs on defined benefit pension schemes v {16) {13}
Exceptignal items ~ Dixans Retall Merger (0] (4) -
Total impact on profit / (loss) before tax (184) (89)
Tax on Non-Headline items 26 15
Total impact on profit / (loss) after tax (158) {74}

Non-Headline items also include discontinued operations, which compnse the results of Virgin Mobile France and the Phone
House operations 1n Germany, the Netherlands, and Portugal The post-tax results of these businesses have been reported

separately and are further descnbed n note 25

 Amortisation of acquisition intangibles

A charge of £40 million arose dunng the year in relation to acquisition intangibles ansing on the CPW Europe Acquisition and

the Dixons Retail Merger (2014/15 £35 rmuliion)
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4 Non-Headline tems continued

0]

(i)

()

v

Exceptional tems — Dixons Retal Merger

13 months

Your enced ended
30 Apni 2 May
2016 2015
omiliien £million

- 9
(48} (32)

Merger transaction costs
Merger integration costs
Revolving Credit Facility fee wnie off {4)

{52) {(41)

The Dixons Retail Merger 1s descnbed further in notes 1 and 24 The Merger has gven nse to the following costs which have
been treated as excephonal items

= Merger transaction costs compnse banking and professional fees in relation to the transaction

« Merger integration costs relate to the reorgamisation of the Group following the Merger and compnse the rationahisation
of certain operational and support functions These costs mainly compnse professional fees, employee severance and
property costs associated with the integration process

- Revolving Credit Facility fee wnte off relates to the deferred faciity fees wntten off following the recent refinancing
The fees mcurred were a resutt of the Merger and the financing required 1o facinate the Merger at short notice

Property rationalisation costs

Following the Merger it was announced that the Group would launch a major ol out of is fully refurtnshed 3-in1 store
concept in the UK & Irefand This involves merging the remaining PC World and Currys stores and wnserting a Carphone
Warehouse, reducing the overall store portfolio by 134 The costs associated with this inhative, being early lease termination
premiums, onerous lease provisions, dilaprdations and fixed asset impainments, have been treated as exceptional tems In
addition a further 50 stores have been exited in the year i the nermal course of business and their exit costs have not been
included in the above item

Acquisition related

Acquisition related compnses an increase n the deferred consleration payable on a business acquired by Dixons in the
Nordics in 2011712 following better than expected actual and forecast trading (£5 rmullion), and current year costs mncurred
in the acquisiion of Simplifydigital and Infocare (21 million) {note 24)

Net nen-cash financing costs on defined benefit pension schemes

Under 1AS 18 ‘Employee Berefits', the net interest charge on defined benefit pension schemes 15 calculated by applying the
corporate bond yield rates applicable on the last day of the previous financial year to the net defined benefit obligation
Corporate bond yield rates vary over time which in tum creates volatiity n the income statement and balance sheet and
results i & non-cash remeasurement cost which can be volatile due to corporate bond yeeld rates prevailing on a particular
day and 15 also unrepresentative of the actual nvestment gains or losses made or the habilities pad and payable Consistent
with a number of other companies, the accounting effects of these non-cash revaluations of net defined benefit pension
liabilies have been excluded from Headline eamings
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments
a) Employee costs

The aggregate remuneration recognised n the income statement for continuing operations 1s as foliows

13 months

Yaar anded anded

30 Apn! 2 May

208 2015

Emilvan Crmition

Salanes and performance bonuses 921 781
Social secunty cosls 107 89
Other pension costs 23 20
1,051 890

Share-based payments 10 10
1,061 800

Aggregate remuneration for discontinued operations are salanes and performance bonuses of £6 million (2014/15 £46 mition),

soctal securty costs of £1 millon (201415 £8 milkon) and other pension costs of £nl (2014715 £1 million)

The average number of employees for continuing operations 1s

13 months
Year ended enved
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2015
Number Number
UK & lreland 27,608 23,582
Nordics 10,283 6,492
Southern Europe 3,764 2,675
Connected World Services 192 85
- 41,847 32,834
The average number of employees for discontinued operations 1s 341 {2014/15 2,127)

Compensation eamed by key management, compnsing the Board of directors and senior executives, 1s as follows
13 months
Your ended encied
30 April 2 May
2018 2015
Cmillian Crmilion
Shoni-term employee benefits 12 15
Termination benefits — 1
Share-based payments 2 1
14 17

Dunng the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 and year ended 29 March 2014 loans were advanced to members of key management
in relation to the Carphone Warehouse Share Plan At 30 Apnl 2016, loans to key management in relation to these schemes

totalled £10 milion {2015 £16 millon) Interest s charged on loans at market rates and interest of £ 3 million has been

recognised dunng the penod {2014/15 €0 4 million)

Further information about indvidual directors’ remuneration, share interests, share options, pensions and other entitlements,

which form part of these financial statements, 1s provided in the Remuneration Report
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments continued
b) Share-based payments

i) Share Plan

During the year ended 29 March 2014, the Group introduced the Share Plan wivch allows participants 1o share 10% of the
ncremental value created in the Group in excess of an opening value (assessed on the vatue of CPW overa three-month penod
prior to approval of the plan by shareholders in June 2013 and, for new entrants dunng the 13 months ended 2 May 2015,
assessed on the aggregated value of CPW and Dixons Retail over a one-month penod pnor ta the announcement of preliminary
merger discussions in February 2014) and beyond an annual rate of retum of 7% on invested capital The plan s underpinned
by a minsmum annual compound TSR growth of 5% and outperformance of the median TSR of the FTSE 250

Participants acquired, at market value, participation shares in a subsidiary company that holds the Group’s interests in cPwW
Europe and, since the Merger, Dixons Retall The Group granted loans to participants at a commercial rate of interest to acquire
the shares Loans are ordinanly repayable in full f performance conditions are met

The performance of the scheme will ordinanty be measured on or around June 2017, when 60% of the shares vest, with 40%
deferred for a further year When the awards vest, the value of the shares held by participants will be based on the mcremental
value (if any) of Dixans Carphone in excess of the opening valuation together with the minimurm retum on invested capital These
shares will then be purchased by the Company for cash and / or the Company's ordinary shares

A 'bad leaver' will be required to transfer the participation shares to such party as the Company designates for an amount equal
to the total amount outstanding under the loan If the market value of the shares is less than the amount of the cutstanding loan
{and any accrued interest) then the participant may be required to repay up to 20% of the shortfall out of their own resources

A participant shall be a 'good leaver' at the sole discretion of the Remuneration Committee ang may be permitted to retain an
award notwithstanding the termination of ther employment

The mechanics of the plan may be vaned by the Remuneraticn Commuttee if necessary 10 ensure that participants are neither
advantaged nor disadvantaged by a vanation of the share capitat of the Company, bona fide merger, reconstruction or similar
recrganisation

) Share aption schemes
Ounng the year ended 29 March 2014, the Group introduced a share option scheme which allows nil-pnced options to be
offered to semior employees who are not participants in the Share Plan

Options were first granted under the scheme in January 2014 The options are subject to continuing employment and are subject
to performance conditions based on a combination of absolute TSR performance and relative TSR performance aganst the
FTSE 250 or FTSE 350

Following the Merger with Dixons Retail plc on 6 August 2014, the Comparny assumed the obligation to satisty cutstanding
Dixons share options awarded under the Dixons Retail Employee Share Option Scheme and Executive Share Option Plan, with
employees eligible to acquire 0 155 Dixons Camphone shares for each Dixans option held All outstanding Dixons awards had
vested before the Merger, and were exercisable within six months post-Merger
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5 Employee costs and share-based payiments continued
b) Share-based payments continued

1) Share option schemes continued

The following table summanses the number and weghted average exercise pnce of share options for these schemes

Year ended

13 months ended

30 April 2016 2 May 2015

Numbar WAEP Number WAEP

mifhion £ mllion £

Qutstanding at the beginring of the penod 17 - 9 -
Dixons options assumed on Merger - - 1 -
Granted during the penod 1 - 11 -
Lapsed during the period {4) - (3 -
Exercised dunng the period - - (1) -
Outstandmg at the end of the perod 14 - 17 -
Exercisable at the end of the penod - - - -
13 montns

Year anded endad

30 Apnl 2 May

2018 2018

Weghted average market price of options exercised in the period —- £418
Weghted average remaiming contractual ife of awards cutstanding 83yrs 9iyrms
Exercise price for options cutstanding £l £l

i) SAYE scheme

The Group has SAYE schemes which allow participants to save up to £500 per month for erther three or five years At the end

of the savings penod, paricipants can purchase shares in the Company based on a discounted share pnce determined at the
commencement of the scheme Farticipants in the Dixons Retail plc SAYE scheme had the opportunity to roll over therr awards
nto oplions over shares in the merged enhity, Dixons Carphone, on completion of the Merger Employees who chose to roll over
receved 0 155 oplions in Dixons Camphone in exchange for each Dixons option held The savings penad and exercise date of
these options remain unchanged If employees chose not to roll over their options, they could exercise the value saved within
six months of the Merger in return for 0 155 Dixons Carphone shares for each Dixons ophon hetd

The following table summanses the number and WAEP of share options for these schemes

Yoar ended 13 months endsd

30 Apnl 216 2 May 2015

Number WAEP Number WAEP

milhion £ milion €

Qutstanding at the beginming of the period 13 2Mn 3 224
Dixons options assumed on Merger - - 6 120
Granted during the period 4 377 7 344
Exercised dunng the penod 2) 103 {2) 224
Lapsed during period 2 313 (1) 176
Qutstanding at the end of the penod 13 322 13 27N
Exercisable at the end of the period - - - -
13 months

Year ended ended

30 Aprl) 2 May

2018 2015

Woeighted average market price of options exercised in the penod £4.38 £3 82
Weighted average remaining contractual life of awards outstanding 26yrs 28yrs
£209- ©€092-

£377 £3 44

Range of exercise prices for options outstanding
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5 Employee costs and share-based payments continued
b) Share-based payments continued

w} Fair value mode!

The farr value of options was estimated at the date of grant using a Monte Carlo model The model combines the market pnce
of a share at the date of grant with the probabiity of meeting performance cntena, based on the histoncal performance of
Carphone Warehouse and, for options issued subsequent 10 the Merger on & August 2014, the historica! performance of Dixons

The weighted average far value of options granted dunng the penod was £0 74 (2014/15 £1 34) The following table lists the

nputs to the model
13 months
Year ended ended
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 25
£l - el -~
Exercise price €377 £3 44
Dividend yield 23% 22%
27% -~ 31% -
Historical and expected volatihty 28% 35%
4- 4-
Expected option Ife 10 yrs 10 yrs
Weighted average share pnce £4 35 £4 14

v) Charge to the income staternent and entnes in reserves

During the year ended 30 Apri 2016, the Group recognised a non-cash accounting charge to profit and less of £10 mdlion
{13 months ended 2 May 2015 £10 milion) in respect of equity settled share-based payments, with a corresponding credit

through reserves
c) Employee Share Ownership Trust (ESOT)

30 April 2016 2 May 2015
Markot Nomnal Market Namural
value valug Number vahe value Number
Lmilllon Crmilfion milbon Cmition Cmilion multicn
Investment in own shares 3 - 07 4 - 1}+]
Mauamum number of shares held dunng the period 10 - 2.2 18 - 52

The Group has two ESOTS for the purposes of satistying potential awards to employees under the Group's share plans The
number of shares heid by the trusts, which are shown in the table above, remain held for potential awards under outstanding
plans The costs of funding and administenng the ESOTs are charged to the income statement in the year to which they relate

Shareholders’ funds are reduced by the net book value of shares held in the ESOTs

Dunng the year, 1 9 million shares were purchased by the Dixons Retad ple ESOT for net cash conswderation {after the receipt

of the exercise pnce from employees) of £5 million
The ESOTs have waived therr nghts to recewve dividends and the shares have not been allocated 10 specific schemes
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€ Net finance costs

13 months

Yaar endad ended

30 April 2 May

2018 2015

Emitlion {miton

Unwind of discounts on trade recevables 17 15

Finance income 17 15
interest on bank overdrafts and loans (16} {17}
Finance lease interest payable (6 (4)
Net intarest on defined benelit pension obligations? (16) (13)
Unwing of discounts on habilities (10} (1)
Amortisation of facility fees 2 {(3)

Revolving credit facility fee write off © 4) -
Other interest expense 4) (4)
Finance costs {58) (52)
Total net finance costs (41) (37}
Headhne total net finance costs {21) (24)

) Headhne finance costs exclude net interes! an defined benefit pension obhigations and the wnte off of revolving credit facility fees (see note 4)
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7 Tax
a) Tax expense
The corporation tax charge compnses
13 months
Year ended ended
30 Apnl 2 May
2016 205
Emilhon Emiton
Current tax
UK corporation tax at 20% (2014/15 20 92%% - Headline Fal 61
- Non-Headline ' (15} (12)
Overseas tax - Headhne 23 25
- Non-Headline . {2) 3)
77 7
Adjustments made in respect of prior years
UK Corporation tax - Headline (1} 6
- Non-Headline . (6) -
Qverseas tax - Headline ) (2}
12} 4
Total current tax 65 75
Deferred tax
UK tax - Headhne 19 10
~ Non-Headhne * - 2
Qverseas tax - Headline 2 {2)
- Non-Headiine : K] 3)
18 7
Adjustments in respect of prior years
UK Corporation tax - Headhne 2 8
- Non-Headline . - 1
Overseas tax - Headline {1) 1
1 (6
Total deferred tax 19 1
Total tax charge 84 76
110 9

Headline tax charge®

{) The UK corporation tax rate for the 12 months ended 30 Apnl 2016 was 20% (13 maonths ended 2 May 2015 was 21% for the 12 months to

31 March 2015 and 20% thereafier)
(i) The Headline tax charge exciudes those ilems marked *

Tax related to discontinued operabons 15 included in the figures set out in note 25
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7 Tax continued

b) Reconciliation of notionat to actual (eftective) tax rate

The pnncipal differences between the total tax charge shown above and the amount calculated by applying the standard rate
of UK corporation tax to profit / {loss) before taxation are as follows

Year ended 30 April 2018

13 manths ended 2 May 2015

Headling Hna:lcl’:o- Statutory Headine Hea:::; Statutory

E£million Cmllion £million Lmilion Smitlion £milion
Profit / {loss) before taxation 447 (184) 263 a7re (89) 287
Tax at UK statutory rate of 20% (2014/15 21%) 89 37 52 79 (19) 60
Differences in eHective overseas tax rates 5 - 5 7 (1) 6
Adjustments in respect of prior years 5) (6) (11) {2) - 2
Items attracting no tax relef or hability 15 16 A 1 5 16
Movement in unprovided deferred tax 2 1 3 (5) - )]
Effect of change in statutory tax rate 3 - 3 - — -
Other differences 1 - 1 1 - 1
Total tax charge / (credit) 110 (26) 84 3] (15) 76

The effective tax rate on Headline earmings of 25% {2014/15 24 %) has increased compared to the pnor year due to the change

n statutory tax rate and certain non-deductible items manly in the UK

Although a further reduction in the UK corporation tax rate to 17% from 1 Apni 2020 has been announced by the UK
Govemment, this has not been substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and so has not been used in the recogmition

of deferred tax balances

ltems attracting no tax relief or liability relate primanly to non-deductible lease exit costs and capital expenditure upon which no
tax deductions are available i respect of capital atlowances (2014/15 related prmarily to non-deductble lease exit costs)

c) Deferred tax
Accelerated Reliremant Losses Cther
capital benefit camad  temporary
allowances obhpations forward ddferances Total
Cmiltion Emillion Emillion Cmillian £million
At 29 March 2014 21 - 3 12 36
Dixons Retall Merger {41) 83 — 58 100
Credited / {(charged) directly to income statement 3 - 1 (5) {1)
Credited to equity - 15 - 12 27
At 2 May 2015 (17) a8 4 7 162
Charged drectly to income statement {7 - (1} {11} (19)
Charged to equity - (13) - {11} (24)
Reclassification — 1) - 1 -
At 30 Apnl 2016 (24) &4 3 56 119
Deferred tax compnses the followsng balances
30 April 2 May
2016 2015
Cmllion Lmillion

Deferred tax assets 234 263
Deferred tax habiliies (115) {101)

119 162
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7 Tax continued

Analysis of deferred tax relating to tems (charged) / credited 1o equity m the penod

Yaar ended 13 months

30 Apnl 2 May

2016 2015

£milicn rmlhon

Defined benefit pension schemes 13) 15
Share-based payments {7 12
Other temporary differences 4 —
{24) 27

The Group has total unrecogmised deferred tax assets relating to tax losses of £1,414 million (2014/15 £1,444 million) No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the losses due to the lack of certainty regarding the availability of future

taxable profits The unrecognised tax Iosses may be camed forward indefinitety

There were no temporary differences associated with undistnbutable eamings of subsidianes for which deferred tax labidities
had not been recogrused at the end of either year
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8 Earmings per share

13 months
Yaar ended ended
30 Agril 2 May
2018 2015
£millon £mlihon
Headline earnings
Continuing operations 337 285
Total earnings / {(loss)
Continuing operations 179 211
Discontinuad operations (18) (114)
Total 161 97
Million Million
Weighted average number of shares
Average shares in 1ssue 1,151 964
Less average holding by Group ESOT (1) {3)
For basic eamings per share 1,150 961
Dilutive effect of share options and other incentive schemes 38 32
For diluted earmings per share 1,188 993
Pence Pence
Basic earmings per share
Total (continuing and discontinued operations) 140 101
Adjustment in respect of discontinued operations 16 19
Continuing operations 156 220
Adjustments for Non-Headline - continuing operations {net of taxation) 137 77
Headhne basic eamings per share 293 297
Diluted earnings per share
Total {continuing and chscontinued operations} 136 98
Adjustment in respect of discontinued operations 15 il14
Continumg operations 15.1 212
Adjustments for Non-Headhne ~ continuing operations (net of taxation) 133 75
Headhne diuted earmings per share 234 287

Basic and diluted eamings per share are based on the profit for the period attributable to equity shareholders Headline eamings
per share 15 presented in order to show the underlying performance of the Group  Adjustments used to detenmine Headline

eamings are descnbed further innote 4
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9 Gocdwill

30 April 2 May

2016 2015

Emiilion Crillion
At beginning of period 2,989 481
Additions (note 24) 28 -
Dixons Retail Merger - 2,629
Impairment - {35)
Foraign exchange 39 (86)
Al end of penicd 3,054 2,989
Cost 3,054 2,989
Accumulated impairment - -

3,054 2,989
a) Carrying value of goodwill
The components of goodwill compnse the following businesses

30 Apn) 2 May

2018 2015

Coutlion Cmilicn
UK & tretand - Dixons 1,634 1,633
UK - Carphone Warehouse 405 405
Ireland - Carphone Warehouse 7 7
Nordics 959 916
Spain 30 28
Simplifydigital 19 —

3,054 2,989
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9 Goodwill continued
b} Goodwill Impairment testng

As required by IAS 36, goodwill 15 subject to annual impairment reviews These reviews are camed out using the
following cnteria

= business acquisitions generate an attnbuted amount of goodwili,

« the manner in which these businesses are run and managed 1s used to detemmne the CGU grouping as defined in IAS 36
‘Impaiment of Assets’,

+ the recoverable amount of each CGU group 1s determined based on calculating its value in use (VIU),

+ the VIU 1s calculated by applying discounted cash flow modeling to management’s own projections covenng a five-year
pencd,

« cash flows beyond the five-year pencd are extrapoiated using a long-term growth rate equivalent to long-term forecasts
of Gross Domestic Product (GDP) growth rates for the relevant market, and

« the VIU)s then compared to the carrying amount in order to detemmine whether impairment has occured

The key assumptions used in calculating value in use are

* management's projections,

= the growth rate beyond five years, and

« the pre-tax discount rate

The long term prejections, which have been approved by management, have been prepared using three-year strategic plans as
a base extrapolated to five years and which have regard to the relative performance of competitors and knowledge of the current
market together with management’s views ¢n the future achievable grawth in market share and impact of the commutted
intiatives The cash flows which derive from these five-year projections include ongoing capital expenditure required to develop
and upgrade the store network in order to matntain and operate the businesses and to compete in therr markets In forming the
five-year projections, management draws on past expenence as a measure to forecast future performance

Key assumptions used in determining the five year projections compnse the growth in sales and costs over this penod The
compound annual growth rate in sales and costs can nse as well as fall year-on-year depending not only on the year five targets,
but also on the current financial year base These targets, when combined, accordingly dnve the resulting profit margins and the
profit in year five of the projections which 1s In turn used to calculate the terminal value in the VIU calculation Histoncal amounts
for the businesses under impairment review as well as from other parts of the Group are used to generate the values attnbuted
to these assumptions

The value attnbuted to these assumptions for the mest significant components of goodwill are as follows

30 April 2018 2 May 2015
Compound Compound Compound Compound

annual annual  Growth rate Pre tax annual anrwal  Growihrate
growth groewth beyond glscount growth growih beyand Pre tax
in sales N COStE five years rate in sates N COsts five years  dscount rate
UK — Carphone Warehouse 28% 26% 21% 8.8% 32% 25% 29% 95%
UK & Ireland - Dixons 23% 21% 21% 88% 23% 20% 29% 95%
Nordics 44% 4.3% 20% 81% 4 9% 48% 22% 85%

Growth rates used were determined based on third party long-term growth rate forecasts and are based on the GDP growth rate
for the terntones in which the businesses operate The pre-tax discount rates applied to the forecast cash flows reflect cumrent
market assessments of the ime value of money and the nsks specific to the CGUs

c) Goodwill impainment sensitivity anatysis

A sensitivity analysis has been performed on each of the base case assumptions used for assessing the goodwall with other
vanables held constant Cansideration of sensitivities to key assurnptions can evolve from one financial year to the next

The directors have concluded that there are no reasonably possible changes in key assumptions which would cause the carrying
amount of goodwill to exceed its value in use
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10 Intangible assets
Acquisition intangibles
Software
Customer and
Brands relationships Sub-total licencet Total
Emillion £rfion fmlion Lrrnllion Crrullion
Balance at 3 May 2015 336 26 362 163 525
Acquired on acguisition of subsidiary (note 24) - 20 20 3 23
Additions - - - 63 63
Amortisation (26} (14) (40) 39) 79
Foraign exchange 7 1) 6 2 8
Balance at 30 Apnl 2016 317 31 348 192 540
Cost 364 73 437 2717 714
Accumulated amortisation and impairment tosses (47} (42) {89) (85) (174)
Balance at 30 Aprid 2016 317 A 348 192 540
Acguisilion infangibies
Softwara
Customer and
Brands  relationships Sub-total ficences Total
cmillion Lmition Tmititon Lmihon Emifllon
Balance at 30 March 2014 8 42 50 86 136
Dixons Retail Merger 365 8 373 30 403
Addittons — 2 2 86 88
Amortisation (21} (17} (38) (32} (70
tmparment (1} {6} ] 3} (10}
Disposal of business — (1) {10 - {1
Reclassification to held for sale - — - {2} {2)
Foreign exchange {15} {2) an (2) {19
Balance at 2 May 2015 336 26 362 163 525
Cost 357 54 411 209 620
Accumulated amorhisation and imparment losses (21 28) {49) (46) (95)
Balance at 2 May 2015 336 26 362 163 525

Software and hicences include assets with a cost of £17 million (2015 £35 million} on which amortisation has not been charged
as the assets have not yet been brought into use

Indmvidually matenal intangible assets
Customer relationships and brands nclude intangible assets which are considered mdividually matenal to the financial
statements The pnmary intangible assets, their net book values and remainiig amortisation penods are as follows

Remalning

Net book amortiaation

value parod

£million Years

CurrysPCWarld 151 14
Elgiganten 66 14
Elkjep 49 14
Gigantt N 14
Simplifydigatal 20 )
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11 Property, plant & equipment

Futures,
fittings and
Land and other
buidings  equipment Totse
£miEon £rewlhon Emillion
Balance at 3 May 2015 93 234 327
Acqursition of subsidiary {note 24) - 1 1
Additions 3 124 157
Depreciation (6) (92) (98)
Cisposals (20) (3) (23)
Impaiment (note 4) - {4) 4)
Foreign exchange - 6 6
Balance as at 30 Apnl 2016 100 266 366
Cost 117 451 568
Accumulated depreciation 17) {185) (202}
Balance as at 30 Apnl 2016 100 266 366
Included in net book vatue as at 30 Apnl 2016
Land not depreciated 8 - 8
Assets in the course of construction - 40 40
Assets held under finance leases s7 - 57
Flxturas
Land and ﬁmﬂg‘i&":
bulldings  equipment Total
Tmekon Cmirtion Emition
Balance at 30 March 2014 40 50 80
Dixons Retail Merger 70 196 266
Additions 4 81 85
Depreciation (8 {75) 83)
Disposals (9} ()] (14}
Transferred to assets held for sale (2) {2) {4}
Impatrment (1} {2} (3}
Foreign exchange (1) Q) {10}
Balance as at 2 May 2015 93 234 327
Cost 104 3138 423
Accumulated depreciation {11} (85) (96}
Balance as at 2 May 2015 93 234 327
Included in net book value as at 2 May 2015
Land not depreciated 8 -_ 8
Assets in the course of construction - 16 16
Assets held under finance leases 65 2 67

Freehold land and buildings include the Group's investment property The fair value of investment property was determined by

an extemal, independent property valuation expert as £14 milion {2015 £14 mdhon} The valuation expert has appropnate

recogrused professional qualfications as well as recent expenence in the location and category of the properties being valued
The valuation of properties was perfanmed by reference to appropnate yield rates and market evidence of recent transactions
Future mimmum fease income i respect of the Group's INvestment properbes 1s set out n note 30
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12 Interests in joint ventures
The princtpal mterests in joint ventures are as follows

30 April 2 May

2018 2015

Name Country of Incorporabion or registration Hature of business Interast Intesest

Sprint Connect LLC Urited States of America Distnbuton  50.0% n/a
The Group's interests in joint ventyres are analysed as follows

A0 Apnl 2 May

2018 2015

Lmillion Emillion

QOpening balance - -

Additions 9 -

Share of results 4} -

5 —_

Closing balance

The share of results recogrised all relate to continuing operations There were na items of other comprehensive income In the
penod and therefore the share of results represents the Group's share of total comprehensive income The Group has entered

into a joint venture with Sprint Corporation to manage Spnnt branded stores in the US The Group has committed 16 investing up

to $32 mullion to fund the roll-out and operation of up to 500 stores

13 inventory

30 Apn! 2 May
2016 2005
Erulion Emithon
Fintshed goods and goods for resale 958 920
14 Trade and other recewvables
30 Apnl 2 May
2016 2015
Tmiliion Lrmithon
Trade recevables 1,304 1,010
Less provision for bad and doubtful debts {20} (20)
1,284 990
Prepayments 100 124
QOther receivables 115 74
Accrued income 22 22
Derwative financial assets 18 15
1,539 1,225
Non-current 408 318
Current 1,13 907
1,539 1,225

The majonty of trade and other recevables are non-interest beanng Non-current recetvables mainly comprise COrmmISSION
receivable on sales Where the effect 1s matenal, trade and other receivables are discounted using discount rates which reflect

the relevant costs of financing The camying amount of trade and other receivables approximates far value

120  Dmons Carphons plc Annua! Report and Accourts 2015/16




14 Trade and other recervables continued

30 Apnl 2016 2 May 215
Gross trade Not trade  Gross trace Net traca
b Pr b r 1l recevables Proviston  recejvables
E£rmillion fmilbon Emullien tmiflon Ermiion £milion
Ageing of gross trade receivables and provisions
Not yet due 1,186 (n 1,179 848 (6} 842
Past due:
Under two months 57 (1) 56 52 {5} 47
Two to four months 14 (1) 13 17 - 17
Qver four months 47 1) 35 93 9 84
118 {13) 105 162 {14) 148
1,304 (20) 1,284 1,010 (20) 990
Movements in the provision for impairment of trade recevables is as follows
30 April 2 May
2018 2015
Emilllon Emulion
Opening balance (20) (20
Dixons Retall Merger - (19}
Charged to the income statement ) (8}
Receivables wnitten off as irrecoverable 11 16
Disposals - 2
Transferred to assets held for sale - 8
Foreign exchange - 1
Closing balance (20) (20

The Group's trade recevables included the following amounts which were past due, but for which the Group has made no
provision based on histoncal rates of recoverability

30 Apri 2 May
2018 2015
Cmllson Cmillion
Under two months 56 47
Two to four months 13 17
Qver four months 36 84
105 148

15 Cash and cash equivalents
30 Agril 2 May
2018 2015
Emillion £milion
Cash at bank and on deposit 233 163

Cash at bank and on deposit includes short term bank deposits which are avallable on demand Wrthin cash and cash
equivalents, €67 million (2015 £92 million) 1s restricted and predominantly compnses funds held under trust to fund potential
customer support agreement habilities as well as by the Group's insurance businesses to cover regulatory reserve requirements
These funds are not available to offset the Group's borrowings ’
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16 Trade and other payables
0 Apnt 2018 2 May 2015
Non- Non-
Current current Current current
£milion Co:diron fmilbon Ernulion
Trade payables 1,373 - 1,097 —
Other taxes and social secunty 271 - 205 —
Denvative financial Instruments 42 - 26 -
Other creditors 108 206 103 277
Accruals 360 60 384 72
Deferred income 156 157 146 147
2,310 423 1,961 486

Non-cumrent other creditors retate pnincipally to property leases that are deemed to be over-rented These habilities are unwound
over the penod of the relevant lease, of up 10 21 years The camying amount of trade and other payables approximates thewr
far value

17 Deferred and contingent consideration

30 Apni 2018 2 May 2015
Non- Non
Curront curront Currant currant
£milhon Emiliion Cmillion Emillon
Deferred congideration 12 21 25 6
30 Apni 2 May
018 2015
Emilllon Ermullion
Opening balance N 50
Dixons Retall Merger - 6
Recogrused on acquisition of subsidary (note 24) 23 -
Settiements {26} (25)
Change in valuation (note 4} 5 -
Closing balance 33 3N

Eam-out consideration of up to £23 million is payable in cash and 1s contingent on the performance of Simplfydigital and
the Epoq Kitchen business against earmings growth targets over a penod of up to five years The far value of contingent
consideration arrangements has been estimated by applying the income approach A reduction in growth assumptions
used in the fair value methodology would result :n a reduction in the amount of contingent consideration payable
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18 Loans and other borrowings

36 Apnl 2 May
2018 2015
Emilion Lrlion
Current hiabilities

Bank overdrafts - 55
- 55

Non-current liabilities
Loans and other borrowings 409 330
409 330

Committed faciities

On 8 October 2015 the Group signed a new mull-currency revohing credit faciity for £800 million, which matures in October
2020 and replaced the multi-currency term and revolving credit facility which was previously m place The rate of interest payable
on borowings 1s a margin of 1 35% per annum over the applicable reference rate

The facilities require guarantees to be provided by certain Group entitres under the facilitres

Bank overdraft and other uncommutted faciities
The Group has overdraft and uncommitted money market facities totaling approximately £128 million (2015 £157 millon}

19 Finance lease obligations

30 Apnl 2016 2 May 2015
Present Present
valuae of value of

Minimum minimum Mimmum minimum
Innse lease tease lease
payments paymants paymenis payments
£omihon Emullion tmilion Lrmultion

Amounts due

Within one year 9 8 8 8
In more than one year and not mare than five years 35 29 33 26
In more than five years 111 54 114 57

155 91 155 o1

Less future finance charges (64) - (64) -

Present value of lease obligations 91 91 91 a1

Less armounts dug within one year (2) 2) @ {2)

Amounts due after more than one vear 89 89 89 89

The majanty of finance leases relate 1o properties in the UK where obligations are denominated in Sterling and remaining lease
terms vary between 9 and 20 years The effective borrowing rate on indwidual leases ranged between 5 51% and 8 67% (2015
551% and 8 15%) Interest rates are fixed at the contract date Alf leases are on a fixed repayment basis and no arrangements
have been entered into for contingent rental payments

The far value of the Group’s lease obligations approximates therr canying amount
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20 Provisions
a0 Apnl 2016 2 May 2015
an‘l's::;:r; Saks Property Other Total an'::a?:z Sales Property Other Total
£mutlion £million Tmillion £milkon Lrultion Emimbon fLrmalion Croulion Trrutlion £milon
At beginning of
period 23 6 25 21 75 22 10 - 18 50
Dixons Retail Merger - - - - - 3 - 27 - 58
Additions 15 42 71 4 132 39 2 1 6 48
Released in the
perod - - - (1 (1) (4) - - - (@
Utlised in the period (26) {40} 6) 9 81) (63) 5 (3) 1) (72)
Reclassification to
held for sale - - - - - M - - m @
Disposal of business - - - - - — - - n (1)
Foreign exchange - - - - - 1 (h — - @
At end of penod 12 8 90 15 125 23 6 25 21 75
Analysed as
Current 12 7 44 15 78 20 <] 7 21 54
Non-current - 1 46 - 47 3 - 18 - 21
12 8 90 15 125 23 6 25 21 75

Reorganisation provisions relate pnncipally 1o Merger related costs and redundancy costs and other onerous contracts ansing
as a result of rearganisation, and are only recognised where plans are demonstrably comrmtted and where appropnate
communication to those affected has been undertaken at the balance sheet date

Sales provisons relate to 'cash-back’ and simiar promotions, product warranties, product returns, and network operator
performance penalties The anticipated costs of these items are assessed by reference to tustoncal trends and any other
information that 1s considered to be relevant

Property provisions relate mainly to costs associated with operating lease early exist premiums, onerous leases and provisions
for dilapidations Additions dunng the year ended 30 Apnit 2016 relate prncipally to property rationalisation costs as descnbed
in note 4

Other provisions relate 1o warranties provided in relation to business disposals and provisions i respect of the expected costs
of nsurance claims, contingent habilities recognised through business combinations, and other onerous contracts

Non-current prowisions are expected to be utiised over a penod up to ten years
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21 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations

30 Apnl 2 May

2016 2015

Lmillion Ermihon

Retirement benefit obligations - UK 472 486
— Nordics 2 3

474 489

The Group operates a defined benefit and a number of defined contnbution schemes The prancipal scheme which operates In
the UK includes a funded defined benefit section whose assets are held in a separate trustee administered fund The scheme s
valued by a qualified actuary at least every three years and contnbutions are assessed in accordance with the actuary's adwice
Since 1 September 2002, the defined benefit section of the scheme has been closed to new entrants and on 30 April 2010 was
closed to future accrual with automatic entry into the defined contribution section beng offered to those active members of the
defined benefit sect:on at that tme Membership of the defined contnbution section is offered to eligible employees

In the Nordics division, the Group operates small funded secured defined benefit pension schemes, which are also closed
to new entrants, with assets held by a life insurance company as well as an unsecured pension arangement In addrion,
contnbutions are made to state pension schemes with defined benefit charactenstics

The defined benefit pension schemes expose the Group 1o actuanal nsks such as longer than expected longewity of members,
lower than expected retum on investments and higher than expected inflaton, which may increase the liabilities or reduce the
value of assets of the plans

a) Defined contnbution pension schemes
The pension charge in respect of defined contnbution schemes was £23 milien {2014/15 £20 million)
b} UK Defined benefit pension scheme - actuanal valuation and assumptions

A fuli actuanal vatuation of the scherne was last camed out as at 31 March 2013 and showed a shortfall of assets compared
with kabilites of £373 mitllon A ‘recovery plan’ based on this valuation was agreed with the Trustee post the Dixons Retail
Merger such that contributions in respect of the scheme year end of 31 March of £35 mithion were made in 2015/18, nsing to
£36 million for 2016/17 Contnbutions rise to €47 million by 2024/25 The next tnennial valuation has commenced and will be
as at 31 March 2018

The principal actuanal assumphions as at 31 March 2013 were

Rate per annufm

Discount rate for accrued benefits! - Growth portfalio 59%

- Matching portiolio 38%
Rate of increase to pensions 0% -38%
Inflation 34%

1 The discount rats is based on a inear de-nsking methodclogy which assumes the Scheme's investment strategy switches investments from
growth assets (such as equities) to matching assets (such as bonds) over a period of 30 years from 2013 to 2043 so that i 30 years' time
the asset partfolio 1s projected 1o be B0% invested in matching assets

At 31 March 2013, the market value of the scheme’s investments was £812 million and, based on the above assumptions,
the value of the assets was sufficient to cover 63% of the benefits accrued to members with the liabilittes amounting to
£1,185 milion
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21 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obhgations continued
£) UK Defined benefit pension scheme - IAS 19

The following summarnses the components of net defined benefit expense recognised in the consotidated income statement,
the funded status and amounts recogrised in the consoldated batance sheet and other amaounts recogrised i the statement
of comprehensive income  The methodologres set out In IAS 19 are different from those used by the scheme actuanes in

deterrmining funding amangements

(} Pnncipal assurmptions adopted
The assumptions used in calculating the expenses and obligations are set by the directors after consultation with the

independent actuanes

30 Apnl 2 May
2016 2005
£million Cmillion

Rates per annum
Discount rate 35% I5%
Rate of Increase In penstons in payment / 29%/ 29%/
deferred pensions {pre / post Apnl 2006 accrual) 21% 19%
Inflation 295% 31%

The Group uses demographic assumptions underlying the \ast formal actuanal valuation of the scheme as at 31 March 2013

In partrcular, post retirement martality has been assumed to follow the standard mortality tables ‘S1' All Pensioners tables
pubhshed by the CM|, based on the experence of Selt-Administered Pension Schemes (SAPS) with muttiphers of 105% for
males and 110% for femates In addition, an allowance has been made for future improvements in longewity from 2003 by using
the new CMI 2013 Core projections with a long term rate of improvernent of 1 5% per annum for men and 1 25% per annum for
women Applyng such tables resuits i an average expecled longevity of between 87 2 years and 88 9 years for men and

between 88 9 years and 80 3 years for women for those reaching 65 over the next 15 years

(W Amounts recogrised m consohdated income statement

13 months
Year ended ended
30 April 2 May
2018 2015
Emiltlon £mikon
Net interest expense on defired benefit obligation 16 13
iy Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
13 months
Year anded anded
30 Apri 2 May
2016 2015
million Lmillion
Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation - actuanal gains / (losses} ansing from
Changes n financial assumptions 25 (168)
Expenence adjustments 27 19
Change in demographic assumptions - {9}
Rermneasurement of scheme assets
Actual return on plan assets (excluding amounts included n net interest expense) (=741 86
Cumulative actuaral loss (5) (72)
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21 Retirement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued
fiv) Amounts recogrised in the consohdated balance sheet

30 Apnib 2 May
2018 2015
Emillion Emillion
Present vatlue of defined benefit obligations (1,395} (1.431)
Fair value of plan assets 823 945
Net obligatian (472) {486)
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation
30 Apnid 2 May
2016 2015
£million £million
Opening obligation at 3 May 2015 1,431 -
Dixons Retall Merger - 1,259
Interest cost 49 38
Rermeasurements in other comprehensive ingcomea - actuanal losses / (gans) ansing from changes in
Financial assumptions {25) 168
Expenence 2n (19)
Demographic assumptions - 9
Benefits paid (33) (24)
Ciosing obligation 1,395 1,431
The weighted average matunty profile of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the year s 21 years
Changes in the fair value of the scheme assets
30 Apnt 2 May
2016 2015
Lmillran Lmitlion
Opening farr value at 3 May 2015 945 -
Dixons Retall Merger - 830
Interest income 33 25
Employer specal contrnibutions a5 28
Remeasurements in other comprehensive income
Actual return on plan assets {excluding interest income) {57) 86
Benefits paid {33) {24}
Closing fair value 923 945
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21 Retrement and other post-employment benefit obligations continued

Analysis of scheme assets
o o
Lmitlion £milion
Owerseas and global equities ~ Listed 217 266
Diversified growth ~ Listed 170 182
- Uniisted 1 10
Mutti-asset credit funds - Listed 28 29
- Unilisted 24 23
Emerging market mult asset funds ~ Listed 45 49
- Unlisted 3 3
Private equity - Unlisted 37 47
Property - Unhisted 13 15
index-linked gilts -~ Listed 102 101
Corporate bonds ~ Listed 80 79
Liabity driven nvestments {LDI) ~ Listed 112 69
Cash and cash mstruments - Unhsted 20 LY
Other - Unhsted 1 1
923 945

The investment strategy of the scheme 1s determined by the independent Trustee through advice provided by an independent
nvestment consultant The scheme invests in a diverse range of asset classes as set out above with matching assets pnmanly
compnsing holdings i inflation inked gilts and corporate bonds

Actual retum on the scheme assets was a loss of £24 milion (2014/15 gam of £111 militon)

(v) Sensitivitres

The value of the UK defined benefit penston scheme assets are sensitive to market conditions, particularly equity values which
compnse approximately 64% of the scheme’s assets Changes in assurmptions used for detemmining retirement benefit costs
and liabiities may have a matenal impact on the 2015/16 income statement and the balance sheet The main assumptions are
the discount rate, the rate of inflation and the assumed mortaity rate The following table provides an estmate of the potential
impacts of each of these vanables If applied to the current year consalidated income staternent and balance sheet

Neat finance costs Net defleit
Year 13 months
30 Apnit 2 May 30 Apnld 2 May
2016 2015 018 2015
£million Crlhn Emilion £miliion
Positive / (negative) effect
Discount rate 0 25% increase 2 2 75 73
Inflation rate 0 25% increase’ ) 2 (52) 57)
Mortality rate 1 year increase {2) {2) 41) (42)

1 The increase in scheme benefits provided to members on retiramant 1s subject to an inflation cap

Tha sensitwity analysis presented above may not be representative of the actual change in the defined benefit obhgation as s
unlikety that the changes n assumptions would occur inisolation of one another as some of the assumptions may be conetated
d} Other post-employment benefits - IAS 19

The Group offers other post-employment benefits to employees in overseas temtones, In particular in Greece These benefits are
unfunded At 30 Apnl 2016 the net obligation in relation to these benefits was £3 mullion (2015 £3 mullion}
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22 Share capital, retained eamings and reserves

a) Share caprtal
30 Agnl 2 May 30 Apru 2 May
2018 2015 20168 2015
mullkon maiban £rmiltion £milion
Authonsed, allotted, called-up and fully paid ordinary shares of 0 1p each 1,151 1,151 1 1
30 April 2 May 30 April 2 May
2018 2015 2018 2015
mltion milhon Emilllon £miflion
Ordinary shares of 0 1p each in 1ssug at the beginming of the period 1,151 576 1 1
Issued as consideration to Dixons shareholders o] - 575 - -
Ordinary shares of 0 1p each in 1ssue at the end of the period 1,151 1,151 1 1

iy As part of the Dixons Retall Merger, 574 7 million shares with a mid-market pnce of £3 432 were issued as pant of the afl-share merger with

Dixons as descnbed in note 24

b} Retained eamings and reserves

Movement in retained eamings and reserves dunng the reported pencds are presented in the consolidated statement of changes

tn equity

Retained eamings at 30 Apni 2016 includes £18 milion (2015 £6 million) of losses associated with dervatives which were

designated and effective as cash flow hedges and interest rate hedges Own shares held by the Group's ESOTs are recogmised
n retained eamings — refer to note 5 for further information The demerger reserve arose as part of the demerger of the Group

from TalkTalk n 2010

23 Equrty dividends
30 Apni 2 May
2018 2015
Emitlion £million
Amounts recogrnised as distnbutions to equity shareholders in the pencd
~ an erdinary shares of 0 1p each
Final dividend for the year ended 29 March 2014 of 4 00p per ordinary share - 23
Intenm dividend for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 of 2 50p per ordinary share - 29
Fina! dividend for the 13 months ended 2 May 2015 of 6 Q0p per ordinary share 69 -
Intenim dividend for the year ended 30 Apnl 2016 of 3 25p per ordinary share 37 -
106 52

The following distribution 1s proposed but had not been effected at 30 Apnl 2016 and 1s subject 1o shareholders’ approval at the

forthcoming Annual General Meeting

Lmiflon

Final dwvidend for the year ended 30 Apnl 2016 of 6 $0p per ordinary share

75
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24 Acquisthions and Merger
2015/16. Acqursthon of Infocare Workshep and Simplify Digital Limrted

On 30 November 2015 the Group acquired 100% of the 1ssued share caputal of Infocare Workshop Infocare Workshop s a
service and repar company in the Nordics region and was acquired to strengthen the Group's strategy of owning the complete
end-to-end customer service joumey in that region

On 31 March 2016 the Group acquired 100% of the 1ssued share capital of Simplify Digital Limited Simphty Dhgital Limited 15 the
UK's largest and fastest growing mutti-channel switching platform, offenng consumers an Ofcom accredited pnce companson
and switching service for broadband, digital TV and fixed line telephone contracts The company was acquired to further the
Group's position as the best place for customers to receve independent advice across all therr technology, connectvlty, media
content and service needs

a) Farr value of assets and habibties

The combined far values of identfiable assets and liabiities of Infocare Workshop and Simpify Oigital Limited as at the
acquisition date were as follows

Nate Lmilhon
Assets
intangible assets 23
Property, plant & equipment 1
Trade and other recevables ® 10
Cash and cash equivalents Lk
Total assets 45
Labilities
Trade and other payables {13)
Total liabites (13)
Total fair value of identifiable net assets acquired 32
Prowvisional goodwill il (3 26
Total consideration [ %] 58

) Thetar value of trade and cther receivables represents trade recewvables, accnied mcome and prepayments whose gross contractuai value
and tar value are deemed to be £10 million

) The finahsation of the fair value of the acquired assets and labilties of Simpify Digntal Lmited will be completed within 12 months of the
acquisibon and therefore remains provisional untd 31 March 2017 owing to the proximity of acquisiian to the balance sheet date It
therefore possible that adjustments to goodwill could anse up unti 31 Masch 2017

{1} The goodwill ansing on the acquisitions 1s not deductible for Income tax purposes and consists largely of the synergres and economies
of scale expected from combining the cperations

(v} Tolal consideration includes the far value of contingent consideration arrangements of £13 milion which 1s payable subject to the
achievement of cenain eamings growth largets The totaf maxinum payable under these amangerments is £13 millen The far value of
contingent consideration amangements has been estimated by applying the income approach (note 16) Total consxderation also includes
deferrad consideration of £10 mithon payable within one year
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24 Acquistians and Merger continued
b} Other information

Acquisition related costs {included within non-headline expenses) amount to £1 mithon {note 4) The contnbution to revenus and

operating profit of acquisibons completed in the year was not matenal

2014/15 All-share merger of Dixons and Carphone

On 6 August 2014, the Group completed an all-share merger of Dixons and Carphone after which the shareholders of Dixons
and Carphone each hetd 50% of Dixons Carphone an a fully diluted basis taking into account existing share options and award

schemes for both companies

Under the terms of the Merger, Dixons shareholders received § 155 of a new Dixons Carphone Share in exchange for each

Dixons share In accordance with the critena in IFRS 3 'Business Combinations’ it has been determined that Carphone

acquired Dixons

The provisional far values of identfiable assets and hatulities of Dixons as at the acquisition date were reported tn the annual
report for the period ended 2 May 2015 In finalising the far value of identifiable assets and habilites, no changes have been

made to the provisional fair values

25 Discontinued operations and assets held for sale

As reported at 2 May 2015, Virgin Mobile France and the Group's retail operations in Germany, the Netherlands and Portugal
were treated as discontinued operations following the decision to exit these busmesses The assets and habilibes associated
with Gerrmany, the Netherlands and Portugal were recogrused as held for sale at 2 May 2015 The sale of operations in Germany
was completed on 5 May 2015, the Netherlands on 30 June 2015 and Portugal on 31 August 2015, whilst Virgin Mobile France

was sold on 4 December 2014
a) Loss after tax — discontinued operations

The results of discontinued operations are compnsed as follows

Year ended 30 April 2018

Phone Phong Phone
House House House
Germany Notherlands Portugal Tatal
Trlion Lrmikon Emillion Cmullica
Revenue - 19 13 a2
Expenses - (20) (16) (36}
Loss before tax - ] 3 4
income tax - —_ -— —
- 4] 3 “
{Lass} / profit on disposal (10} (6) 2 (14)
(10} 7} (1) (18)

The net loss on disposal recognised in the current year pnmanly relates to waorking capital adjustments agreed with acquirers,
adjustments to net assets disposed, the recycling of foreign currency transtation reserves of discontinued cperations and cther

costs assoaated with the exits
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25 Discontinued operations and assets held for sale continued

13 months endled 2 May 2015
virgin Phane Phone Phone
Moble House House House
France Germany  Netherdancs Portugal Totwu!
Lrmilson Cmithon Crruthon Emifion Ermuillon
Revenue - az3 159 a7 529
Expenses - (364) (239) (55) (658)
Loss before tax - (41} (80) (B {129)
Income tax - — - — -
- (41) {80) {8) (129)
Profit on disposal a7 - - — 87
Imparrment losses recognised on classification as
held for sale — (16) {43) (13) 72)
87 (57 (123) {21 (114)
b} Assets held for sale
The Group's assets held for sale and associated liabilihes are analysed as follows
30 Apnl 2 May
2018 2015
E£miltion Cminian
Inventory - 16
Recewvables - 66
Cash and cash equivalents - 55
Assets held for sale - 137
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale — current habilites - (68)
Net assets held for sale - 69
¢} Cash flows from discontinued operations
13 months
Year ended ended
0 Apnl 2 May
2016 2015
Errullion Cmillion
Operating activities 2 (78)
Investing activities 30 81
32 3
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26 Financial nsk management and denvative financial instruments
Financial instrumnents that are measured at far value in the financial statements require disclosure of far value measurements
by level based on the following fair vaiue measurement hierarchy

- Level 1 - quoted pnces (unadiusted) in active markets for entical assets and habuities,

+ Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices inciuded within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or hability either directly
{that 15, as prces} or indirectly {that 1s, denved from pnices), and

+ Level 3 - inputs for the asset ar hatkhity that are not based on abservable market data (that i1s, unobservable inputs)

Network commission recervables are classified as ioans and receivables as defined in IAS 39 and are therefore accounted for at
amortised cost As the measurement of certan network commission receivables is a key source of estimation uncertanty, an
explanation of the valuation methodology and an analysis of the sensitivity of the camying value of recewvables to the methods,
assumptions and estimates of this methodology has been prowided below in note 26(n} The carrying value of such ongoing
network commission recevables 1s £904 million (2015 £629 milion) which s approximately equal to therr fair value If measured
at farr value these recervables would be categonsed as level 3 in the far value hierarchy as the valuation requires the use of
significant unobservable inputs

An explanation of the valuation methodologies and the mputs to the models are prowided below far network commission

Contingent consideration 1s categensed as level 3 in the far value hterarchy as the valuation requires the use of significant
uncbservable mputs An explanation of the valuation methodologres and the inputs to the valuation model 1s provided in note 17

The sigruficant inputs required to fair value the Group's other financial instruments that are measured at farr value on the balance
sheet, pnmanly compnsing currency contracts and interest rate swaps, are observable and are classified as level 2.in the far
value hierarchy There have also been no translers of assets or habihttes between levels of the farr vatue hierarchy

Fair values have been armved at by discounting future cash flows (where the impact of discounting s matenal), assuming no early
redemption, or by revaluing forward currency contracts and nterest rate swaps to penod end market rates as approprate to the
instrument

The directors consider that the book value of financial assets and labihties recorded at amortised cost and thew farr value are
approximately equal

The baok value and far value of the Group's financial assets, labiities and denvative financial instruments are as follows
30 April 2 May

2018 2015
Emillion tmikon
Cash and cash equivalents 233 163
Trade and other receivables excluding derwative financial assets 1,421 1,088
Net denvative financial labilities (24) {11
Trade and other payables (2,378) (1,933)
Finance leases o1) {91)
Deferred and contingent consideration (33) {31}
Loans and other borrowings (409) (385)

a) Financial nsk management policies

The Group's activities expose it to certam financial nsks including market nsk {(such as foreign exchange nsk and interest rate
nsk), credit sk and kquidity nsk The Group's treasury function, which operates under treasury pokces approved by the Board,
uses certamn financial instruments to mitigate potentally adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance from these nsks
These financial mstruments consist of bank loans and deposits, spot and forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange
swaps and interest rate swaps

Throughout the penod under review, in accordance with Group policy, no speculative use of denvatives, foreign exchange or
other instruments was permitted No contracts with embedded denvatives have been identified and, accordingly, no such
denvatives have been accounted for separately
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26 Financial nsk management and denvative financial mstruments contmued

b) Foreign exchange nsk

The Group undertakes certain transactions that are denominated in foreign currencies and as a consequence has exposure to
exchange rate fluctuations These exposures pnmanly anse from inventory purchases, with most of the Group's exposure being
to Euro, Norwegian Krone and US Dollar fluctuations The Group uses spot and forward currency contracts to mitigate these
exposures, with such contracts designed to cover exposures ranging from one month to one year

The translation nsk on converting overseas curency profits or losses 1s not hedged and such profils or losses are converted into
Sterling at average exchange rates throughout the year The Group's pnncipal translation currency exposures are the Euro and
Norweglan Krone

At 30 Apnl 2016, the total notional prncipal amount of outstanding currency contracts was £2 856 milion (2015 £1,540 milion)
and had a far value of £23 miltion (2014/15 £11 millien} Monetary assets and habilities and foreign exchange contracts are
sensitive to movements in foreign exchange rates This sensitivity can be analysed in companson to year-end rates (assumng ail
other vanables remain constant) as follows

Year ended 13 months ended
30 Apnil 2018 2 May 2015

Effect on Effect on

Headling Heaadling
profit ENect on profit Eftect on
before tax  total aquity balore tax  total equity
Emillion Emiltion Ermllicn tmikon
10% movement in the US dollar exchange rate - 5 - 5
10% movement in the Euro exchange rate - 58 - 57
10% movement in the Swedish Krona exchange rate - 2 - 4
10% movement in the Danish Krone exchange rate - 2 — 3
6 - 3

10% movement In the Norwegian Krone exchange rate -

¢) Interest rate nsk

The Group's interest rate nsk anses phmanly on cash, cash equivalents and loans and other borrowings, all of whuch are at
floating rates of interest and which therefore expose the Group to cash flow interest rate nsk These floating rates are hnked to
LIBOR and other interest rate bases as appropriate to the instrument and cumency Future cash fiows ansing from these financiat
instruments depend on interest rates and penods agreed at the tme of rollover Group policy permits the use of long term
interest rate derwatives in managing the nsks associated with movements in interest rates

The effect on the iIncome statement and eguity of 1% movements in the interest rate for the currencies in which most Group
cash, cash equivalents, loans and other borrowings are denominated and on which the valuation of most denvative financial
nstruments 1s based Is as follows, assuming that the year-end positions prevatl throughout the year

Yoar ended 13 months ended
30 Apnl 2016 2 May 2015
Efact on Etfect on
Headiine Head ina
profit Effoct on profit Effect on
before tax  total equity bafore tax  fotal eGuity
increase/  increase/ increase / increass /
(decrease)  (decrsase}  {cecreasel  (decreass)
£miltion Cmlillon £milion £mitllon
1% increase in the Sterling interest rate - 1 — 4
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26 Financial nsk management and denvative financial instruments continued
d} Liquidity nsk

Liguichty nsk 15 the nsk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial habihities
that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset The Group manages its exposure to iquidity nsk by reviewing
regularly the long term and short term cash flaw projections for the business agamst the resources available to it

in order to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongoing and future developments, the Group has committed bank
facilities, excluding overdrafts repayable on demand, totaliing £800 milkon (2015 £875 mulion) Further details of commutted
borrowang facilities are shown in note 18

The table below analyses the Group's financial habilittes and denvative assets and habilities into relevant matunty groupings
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, including both prncipal and nterest flows,
assuming that interest rates remain constant and that borowings are paid in full in the year of maturity

In more
than one
year but
not more in mare
Withen than five than five
one year years yoars Total
Emithion Lrvilion E£milhon Lrmllion
30 Apnl 2016
Finance leases ) {35) {111) (155}

Derwative financial instruments - payable
Forward foreign exchange contracts

{2,856) - - (2,856)

Interest rate swaps (1) (1) - @
Derwative financial instruments - recevable
Forward foreign exchange contracts 2,832 - - 2,832
Loans and other borrowings ] (441) - (448)
Deferred consideration (12} (19 2 (33)
Trade and other payables 2,112} (266) - (2,378}
In more
than ons
year but
not more In more
Within than five than five
one year years years Total
£rnilikan £mdiion £miillon Bmillion
2 May 2015
Finance leases (8) {33 {114) (155)
Dervative financial insiruments - payable
Forward foreign exchange contracts {1,540} - - {1,540)
Interest rate swaps {2) 2 - #
Denvative financial instruments - receivable
Forward foreign exchange contracts 1,530 - - 1,530
Loans and other borrowings (64) (337} - {401}
Deferred consideration (25) B8) - 31N
Trade and other payables {1,584) (349) — (1,933)
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26 Financial nsk management and denvative financial instruments continued
€) Credit nsk

Credit risk ts the nsk of financial loss to the Group if counterparty fai's to meet its contractual obligations, and anses principally
from the Group's recevables from consumers The Group's exposure to credit nsk s regularly monitored and the Group's pobcy
1s updated as appropnate

The majonty of the Group’s trade recewables are balances due from MNOs, which are generally major mulh-national enterpnses
with wham the Group has well-established relatonships and are consequently not considered to add significantly to the Group's
credit nsk exposure in addition credit nsk is also inherently associated with the MNO end consumers Details of the sensitivity
analysis of a change in credit nsk associated with the MNO consumer s detailed below (consumer default rates) Exposure to
credit nsk associated with the MNC consumer 1s managed through extensive consumer credit checking process prior to
connection with the network The large volume of MNO consumers reduces the Group’s exposure to concentration of credit risk

The Group's trade recevables also include balances due from equipment manufacturers, dealers and Connected World Services
consumers, business to business consumers and censumer credit recevables Where it 1s considered appropnate, the Group
obtans credit nsurance on accounts receivable Prowsion 1s made for any receivables that are considered to be wrecoverable
Detanls of trade recevables which are past due but not imparred are provided in note 14

The credit nsks on cash and cash equivalents and denvative financial mstruments are closely monitored and credit ratings are
used in determining maximum counterparty credit nsk

The Group’s funding 1s rehant on its £800 milion bank taciities, which are provided by nine banks, these institutions are
considered to be adequately capitalised to continue to meet ther obligations under the facility

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which 1s net of impaiment losses, represents the
Group's maximum exposure to credit nsk

f) Capital nsk

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities within the Group will be able to continue as going concems, whilst
maximising the retumn to shareholders through a suitable mix of debt and equity The capital structure of the Group consists of
cash and cash equivalents, loans and other borrowings and equity attnbutable to equity holders of the Company, compnsing
issued capital, reserves and accumulated profits Except in relation to rminimum caprtal requirements i its INsurance business,
the Group 1s not subject to any extemally rmposed capital requirements The Group moritors its capital structure on an ongoing
basis, ncluding assessing the nsks associated with each class of capital

g) Denvatives

Denvative financial instruments compnse forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange swaps and interest rate swaps
The Group has designated financial nstruments under IAS 39 as follows

Cash flow hedges

At 30 April 2016 the Group had forward and swap foreign exchange contracts in place with a notional value of £1,809 million
{2015 £1,467 million} and a fair value of £17 million (2014/15 £6 mithon) that were designated and effective as cash flow hedges
These contracts are expected to cover exposures ranging from one month to one year The far value of denvative foreign
exchange contracts and foreign exchange swaps not designated as cash flow hedges was £6 million (2014/15 £nil)

Interest rate swaps

Tre Group held interest rate swaps with a notional vafue of £255 million (2015 £280 million) and a farr value of £1 milion
(2014/15 Cni) whereby the Group receives a floating rate of nterest based on LIBOR and pays a fixed interest rate This contract
matures in Apnl 2017
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26 Fimancial nsk management and denvative financial instruments conttnued
h) Network commission recewvables consumer behaviour nsk

Under certain arrangements with MNOs, the commission revenue on mobite phone sales depends on consumer behawviour after
the point of sale A discounted cash flow methodology is used te measure the far value of the revenue and associated
recevables at the paint of sale, by estimating all future cash flows that will be recesved from the MNO and discounting these
based on ther itmung of receipt Subsequently network commission recevables are measured at the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate determined at the date of sale

The key inputs to the modet are

« revenue share percentage - the percentage of the consumer's spend (to the MNQ} to which the Group 1s entitled,
+ minimum contract penod - the length of contract entered into by the consumer,;

+ put-of-bundle spend - additional spend by the consumer measured as a percentage of total spend,

= consumer default rate - rate at which consumers disconnect from the MNO,

+ spend beyond the intial contract pened - penod of time the consumer remains connected to the MNQ after the inital
confract term, and

» upgrade propensty - the percentage of consumers initially connected by the Group estimated to be subsequently upgraded
by an MNO

The last four inputs are based on extenswe histoncal evidence obtained from the networks, and provision is made for the nsk of
potential changes in consumer behaviour Reliance on histoncal data assumes that current and future expenence wilk follow past
trends, there is therefore a nsk that changes in consumer behaviour reduce the total cash flows ultimately realised over the
forecast penod, however, the directors consider that the quantity and quality of data available provides an appropnate proxy for
cumrent trends

The table below provides the sensitivity of the camying valug 0f the network commission recewables to a reasonably possible
change ininput to the discounted cash flow model

Sensitiity™
Relationsh:ip of unobsarvable inputs to Favourable Untavourable
Unobsarvabls inputs ramaasurament of carrying vatus Erulhon Cenillion Range®
QOut-of-bundle spend The higher the spend, the higher 47 (47) 75% -259%
the carrying value
Consumer default rate The mgher the default rate, the 13 {13) 12%-182%
lower the carrying vaiue
Spend after the initial contract term  The higher the spend, the higher 30 (30) 10Omonths-55
the carrying value months
Upgrade propensity The higher the propensity, the 10 (10} 169% -249%

higher the camrying value

{1} The sensitrty represents the favourabte and unfavourable effect on the income statement of remeasunng the camying value for a reascnably possible
change in the value of the nput used Whilst the nature of nputs 1s consistent across all MNOs the value applied ditfers on a MNO by MNO basis The
senstivty analysis pertormned has apphed a reasonably possible change on an input by nput and MNC by MNO basis The armounts shown above are
the cumulative sensitivibies for each input across all MNQs

@ Thereasonably possible range disclosed represent the hegh and iow range of each unobservable Inpul, across al MNOs over the previous three years
The sensitatis, which fall witun this range have been applied {o the vngbservable inputs on a MNC by MNO basis

The significant unobservable mputs in determining the amortised cost camying values used in the table above are the same
significant unobservable inputs that would be required if the network commussion receivable was measured at fair value on
the balance sheet In addiion, the fair value would be impacted by changes in interest rates and counterparty credit nsk

In addition to those sensitivities disclosed above, changes to revenue may be made, where for example, more recent information
1s avadable, and any such changes are required to be recogrised in the income statement Changes in relation to network
comimission recewable for sales onginating in previous years totalled £26 mifhon (2014/15 £33 mullion)
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27 Notes to the cash flow statement

a) Reconciliation of operating profit to aet cash inflow from operating activities

13 months
Yoor andod anded
a0 Aprll z May
2016 2015
Emiliion Emalion
Profit before interest and tax — continuing operations 304 324
Depreciation and amortisation 177 149
Share-based payment charge 10 10
Share of results of joint ventures 4 -
Impairments and other non-cash items 4
Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 499 487
Movemenis in working capital
{Increase) / decrease in inventory (18) 6
{Increase) in recewvables (247) (89)
Increase / (decrease) in payables 168 (289)
Increase / (decrease) in provisions 83 {5)
(14) {377)
Cash generated from operations - continuing operations 485 110
b} Anatysis of net debt
Other
2 May non-cash Currency 30 Aprll
2045 Cashflow movements translation 2mMe
Emilion Errllion Lrrdllon £million Cmillian
Cash and cash equivalents 163 53 - 17 233
163 53 - 17 233
Borrowings due within one year {55) 55 - - -
Bomrowings due after more than one year (330} {80} - 1 {409)
Obhgations under finance leases 91) 6 (6} - o1
(476} (19) (6) 1 {500)
Net (debt) / funds (313) 34 (6) 18 (267)
Othar
29 March non-cash Cumency 2 May
2014 Cash flow Acquishions movements  translalion 2015
Emulion Cmiton Lmiltion Smillion Lrmillion £mition
Cash and cash equivalents 283 (120) - = - 163
Borrowings due within one year - (55) - - - (55)
Borrowsngs due after more than one year {290) 249 (289} - - (330)
Obhigations under finance leases (1)) 7 (93} {4) — (91)
{291) 20m (382) {4) = (476}
Net funds / {debt) 8 a1 (aa2) (4) - (313)
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28 Related party transactions

Transactions between the Group's subsidiary undertakings, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and
accordingly are not disclosed See note 5a for details of related party transactions with key management personnel

The Group had the following transactions and balances with its associates

30 Apry

2 May

2016 2015
£milllon tmikon
Revenue for services provided 24 8
Amounts owed to the Group 2 —
All transactions entered mito with related parties were completed on an amm's length basis
29 Capital commitments
30 Apni 2 May
2018 2015
Emillion emilion
Contracted for but not provided for in the accounts 39 55
30 Operating lease arrangements
a} The Group as a lessee
Total unchscounted future committed payments due for continuing operatrons are as follows
30 April 2 May
2016 2015
Land and Hher Land and Other
buildmgs assols bulldings assets
£million Emullion Crmnilion Emilhon
Total undiscounted future committed payments due
Within one year 350 7 361 7
Between two and five years 1,126 10 1,227 14
After five years 785 - 1,001 1
2,261 17 2,589 22

Operating lease commitments represent rentals payabie for retail, distribution and office properties, as well as vehicles,

equipment and office equipment Contingent rentals are payable on certain retail store leases based on store revenues and

figures shown include only the minmum rental component

The above figures include committed payments under onerous lease contracts for which prowisions or accruals exist on the

balance sheet, including those for businesses exited

The future minimum sub-lease payments expected to be received under non-canceilable sub-leases 1s £21 million

(2015 £42 milion)
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30 Operating lease amangements continued
b) The Group as a lessor

The Group has nvestment properties which are let to third part:es on long term leases for which the mimmum future income

15 as follows
30 April 2 Way
2018 2015
£million Omlllion
Total undiscounted future mimmum lease income recevable
Within one year 1 1
Between two to five years 5 5
After five years 5 6
1 12
31 Contingent habilties
30 April 2 May
018 2015
Lrmullion Lmitian
- 3

In additron to the figures shown in the table above, contingent kabiliies also exist in respect of lease covenants relating 1o

premises assigned to third parties

In recent years the Group has entered into agreements to dispose of certain operations As part of these disposal agreements,
the Group has provided the acquirer with general and tax related warmmanties At the date of signing these financial statements,

some of these warranties remain open and it 1s possible that clams could anse under these warranties

140

Dixons Carphone pic Annual Report and Accounts 2015/18




Company balance sheet

30 Apnd 2 May
2018 2015
Notes Crrallion Sridion
Fixed assets
Investments in subsichanies c4 2,678 2,678
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 32 666
Debtors due within one year Cs 1,941 223
1,973 889
Creditors amounis falling due within one year ce  {1,198) (160)
Net current assets 775 729
Total assets less current habilities 3,453 3,407
Provisions Cc7 (1} (2)
Loans payable cs {409} (330)
Net assets 3,043 3,075
Capital and reserves
Share capstal co 1 1
Share prermium reserve c9 2,256 2,256
Profit and loss account 786 818
3,043 3,075

The financial statements of the Company (registered number 07 105805) were approved by the Board on 28 June 2016 and

signed on its behalf by

Sebastan James, Humphrey Singer,
Group Chat Executive Group Finance Owector
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Company statement of changes in equity

Share  Profit and

premium loss Totsl
Share capital resarve account aguity
Ernetiion Cmullion £million Emillion
At 20 March 2014 1 283 795 1,079
Net profit for the penod - - B4 64
Other comprehensive income and expense recognised drrectly
In equity - - (3 @
Total comprehensive Income and expense for the penod - - 61 61
Issue of shares —_ 1,873 - 1,973
Equity dwidends - - (52} {52)
Net movement in relation to share schemes — - 14 14
At 2 May 2015 1 2,256 818 3,075
Profit for the year — - 75 75
Other comprehensve income and expense recognised directly
n equity - - {1) {1)
Total comprehensive Income and expense for the year - - T4 74
Equity dividends - - (106) {106)
At 30 Apnl 2016 1 2,256 786 3,043
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Notes to the Company financial statements

C1 Accounting pohicies
Basis of preparation

The Company 15 incorporated in the United Kingdom The financial statements have been prepared on a going concem basis
(see note 1 to the Group financial statements)

‘I'he separate financial statermenits of the Company are presented as required by the Comparies Act 2006 The Company meets
the definiion of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 (Financial Reporting Standard 100) 1ssued by the Financiat Reporting Council
Accordingty, in the pencd ended 30 Apn! 2016 the Company has decided to adopt FRS 101 and has undergone transiton from
reporting under apphcable United Kingdom accounting standards to FRS 101 as ssued by the Financial Reporting Council
Accordingly, the financial statements have therefore been prepared in accordance with FRS 101 (Financial Reporting Standard
101) Reduced Disclosure Framework' as issued by the Financial Reporting Council, incorperating the Amendments to FRS 101
1ssued by the Financial Reporting Councit sn July 2015 other than those relating to legal changes and has not applied the
amendments to Company law made by The Companies, Partnerships and Groups {Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2015
that are effective for accounting pernods begiming on or after 1 January 2016

This transition 15 not considered to have had a matenal effect on the financial statements

As permitted by FRS 101, the Company has taken advantage of the disclosure exemptions available under that standard n
relation to share-based payments, financial instruments, captal management, presentation of comparative information in respect
of certain assets, presentalion of a cash flow statement and certain related party transactions

Where required, equivalent disclosures are given in the consolidated financial staterments

The financial statements have been prepared on the histonical cost basis except for the re measurement of certain financial
instruments to far value The pnncipal accounting policies adopted are the same as those set out In note 1 to the Group financal
statements except as noted below

Investments in subsichanes are stated at cost less, where appropnate, provisions for inparment

Prior to the Dixons Retail Merger, the Company prepared its financial statements to the Saturday closest to its accounting
reference date of 31 March Following the Merger, which is descnbed further in note 24 to the Group financial statements,

the Company changed its accounting reference date to 30 Apnt which was the accounting reference date of Dixons Retail plc,
but continues to draw up accounts to the nearest Saturday and accordingly the comparative financial penod s for the

13 months ended 2 May 2015

C2 Profit and less account

In accordance with the exemption permitted by section 408 of the Companies Act 2008, the profit and loss account
of the Company I1s not presented separately The profit recogrised for the year ended 30 Apnl 2016 was £75 million
(2014/15 £64 milion) Infarmation regarding the audit fees for the Group s provided n note 3 to the Group

financial statements

C3 Equity dwvidends
Details of amounts recogmsed as distnbutions to sharehelders in the penod and those proposed are detatled in note 23
of the Group financial statements
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C4 Fixed asset mvestments

30 Apn] 2 May

2018 205

Lmufkon Lrm'son

Openmg balance 2,678 753
Additions - 3,965
Disposals - (2,040
Closing balance 2,678 2,678
Cost 2,776 2,776
Accumulated impairments (98) {@8)
2,678 2,678

Net camrying amount

Fixed asset investments compnse nvestments in subsichary undertakings and other minorty investments Details of the
Company’s investments in subsidiary undertakings are provided in note C10

2014/15
On 6 August 2014, the Group completed an all-share merger of Dixons and Carphone after which the shareholders of Oixons

and Carphone each held 50% of Dixons Carphone on a fully diuted basis taking into account existing share options and award
schemes for both companies

Under the terms of the Merger, Dixans shareholders received 0 155 of a new Dions Carphone Share in exchange for each
Dixans share In accordance with the cntena in 1FRS 3 *Business Combinations” it has been determined that Carphone acqurred
Dixons and accounts for the majonty of the additions listed Immedatety following the Merger, the shareholding in Dixons was
transferred to the Company’s immedhate subsidhary, New CPW Limited, and this transaction accounts for the majority of the
disposats

C5 Debtors. amounts falling due within one year

30 Apnl 2 May

2018 2015

Erullion makon

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 1,808 194
Dervative assets 18 17
Deferred tax asset 2 3
Prepayments 5 5
Other debtors 8 4
1,941 223

Amounts owed by Group undertakings are repayable within 12 months of the balance sheet date
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C6 Credtors Amaunts faliing due within one year

30 Apni) 2 May
2018 2015

Emittion Emittion
Amounts owed to Group undertakings 1,061 119
Other creditors 1 5
Derivative habiittes 41 26
Overdrafts 84 -
Corporation tax 5 -
Accruals and deferred income 6 10

1,198 160
C7 Prowisions

30 Apnl 2 May

2016 2015

Emillion TmElon
Opening balance 2 2
Utihsed )] -
Closing balance 1 2
C8 Loans payable
Details of loans payable are provided in note 18 to the Group financial staterments
C9 Share captal and share premium
Details of movements in share capital and share premium are disclosed in note 22 to the Group financial staterents
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€10 Subsidiary undertakings

a) Prncipal subsidianes as at 30 Apnl 2016

The Company has investments in the following pancipal subsichary undertakings All holdings are in equity share capital and give
the Group an effective holding of 100% on consohdaton

Country o!
Name incorporation or reglstration Share Classies) Held % Held Husiness Activity
Carphone Warehouse Europe Lirmted England & Wales A & B Ordinary 100 Holding Company
Dixons Retail plc' England & Wales Ordmnary and Deferred 100 Holding Company
Dixans South East Europe AEVE Greece Ordinary 100 Retail
DSG International Holdings Limited England & Wales Qrdinary 100 Holding Company
DSG Retail Ireland Limited Ireland Ordinary 100 Retail
Irredeemable Cumulative
DSG Retail Limited England & Wales Preference Shares 100 Retail
and Ordmary Shares

Elgiganten Aktiebolag Sweden Ordwnary 100 Retail
EiGiganten A/S Cenmark Ordinary 100 Retan
Elkjep Nordic AS Norway Ordinary 100 Retail
GEAB The Phone House Aktiebolag Sweden Ordinary 100 Distnbution
Gigantti Oy Finland Ordinary 100 Retal
ISE-NET Solutions Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 IT

Ordinary 1002
New CPW Limited England & Wales Deferred 1007 Holding company

A Ordinary ar

B Ordinary 35
New Technology Insurance ireland Ordinary 100 Insurance
The Carphone Warehouse Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100 Distribution
The Carphone Warehouse Limited Irefand Crdinary 100 Distnbution
The Phone House Span S LU Span A 8 B Shares 100 Distnbution

1 Dixons Reta! pic became a prvate iimited company called Dixons Retal Group Lmited after year end

2 Interest held directly by Dixons Carphone plc

3 Thisis the only interest of Dixons Carphone plc, directly or ncwectly, in this class of shares
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C10 Subsidiary undertakings continued
b) Other subsidiary undertakings

The following are the other subsidiary undertakings of the Group, all of which are wholly owned unless otherwise indicated All
these companies are either holding companies or provide general support to the pancipal subs:chanes listed on the previous page

Country of
Name INCOMPQrablion o regIStration Share Class{es) Held % Heid
Adwmentum Oy Fintland Ordinary 100
Carphone Warehouse ireland Mobile Limited Ireland Ordinary 100
Charterhouse Management Limited Isle of Man Ordinary 100
Codic GmbH {in hquidation) Germany Ordinary 100
Connected World Services Distributrons Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Connected World Services Europe S L Span Ordinary 100
Connected World Services LLC USA Orchinary 100
Connected World Senaices Netherlands BV Netherlands Ordinary 100
Connected World Services SAS France Ordinary 100
CPW Acton Five Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
CPW Acton One bLirmited tste of Man Ordinary 1002
CPW Brands 2 Limited England & Wales Ordinary 1002
CPW Consultancy bmited England & Wales Ordinary 1002
CPW CP Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
CPW Distribution Limitedt England & Wales Ordinary 100
CPW GC Holdings BV Netherlands Ordinary 1002
CPW irlam Limited England & Wales Orcinary 1002
CPW Tulketh Milt Limited England & Wales Ordinary 1002
Currys Group Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
CWIAB Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DISL 2 Limited Isle of Man Ordinary 100
DISL Limited Isie of Man A, B, C & D Preference 100
and Ordinary B
DISL UK Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Dixons Group Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Dixons Retad SSCsro Czech Republic Business Shares 100
Dixons Sourcing Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100
Dixons Stores Group Retal Norway AS Norway Ordinary 100
Dixens Travel sl ltaly Crdinary 100
DSG Boxmoor Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG Card Handling Services Limited England & Wales Cumutative C& D 100
Preference and Ordinary

DSG Corperate Services Limited England & Wales Qrdinary 100
DSG European Investments Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG Fleet Management Limited England & Wales Orchnary 100
DSG Hong Kong Sourcing Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 100
DSG International Belgium BVBA Belgium Ordinary 100
DS5G International Retail Properties Lirmited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG International Treasury Management Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
DSG Ireland Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
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C10 Substwdiary undertakungs continued
b) Other subsidiary undertakings

Country ot

Name ingarporauon of registration Share Class{es) Hatd % HMeld
DSG KHI Limited England & Wales Orchinary 100
DSG Overseas Investments Limited England & Wales  Preference, B Preference 100
and Ordinary
DSG Retall lreland Pension Trust Limited treland Ordmnary 100
El-Giganten Logishk AB Sweden Ordinary 100
Elkjep Klewverenga AS Norway Ordinary 100
Elkjep Norge AS Norway Ordinary 100
Epoq Holding AB Sweden Ordinary 100
Epoq Logistic DC k s Czech Repubic Ordinary 100
1D Mobite Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
InfoCare CS AB Sweden Ordinary 100
InfoCare Workshop AS Norway Ordinary 100
InfoCare Workshop Holding AS Norway Ordinary 100
InfoCare Workshop Oy Finland Ordinary 100
Kereru Limited £ngland & Wales Ordinary 100
Letdal Elektromarked AS Norway Grdinary 100
Leverstock Investrments Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Markan talo Oy Finland Ordinary 100
Mastercare Service and Distnbution Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Mohua Lirmited England & Wales Ordinary 100
MSG The Pheone House AB Sweden Ordinary 100
MTIS Limited Ireland Ordmary 100
NSS Financials A/S Denmark Ordinary 100
0OSAA - Soctedade Gestora De Participagdes Partugal Ordinary 100
Sociais, Lda
Osfone Comercio de Aparelhos de Poriugal Ordinary 100
Telecomunicagdes, Lda
Osfone Negdcios - Comercio de Aparelhos Portugal Ordinary 100
de Telecomunicagdes, Lda
PC City (France) SNC France Partnership 100
PC City Norge AS Norway Ordinary 100
PC City Spain SA Spamn Ordinary 100
Peiham Ltmited Isle of Man Ordmnary 100
Petrys Insurance Company Limited Gibraltar Ordinary 100
Phone House Intemational AB Sweden Ordinary 100
Smplify Digital Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
Simplify Digital Systems Limited England & Wales A Ordinary 100
TalkM Limited England & Wales Ordinary 100
The Carphone Warehouse (Digital) Limited England & Wales Ordmary 1002
The Carphone Warehouse Resources Limited Isle of Man Ordmnary 1002
The Carphone Warehouse UK Limited England & Wales Ordnary 100
The Phone House Holdings {UK) Limited England & Wales Ordmnary 100

1 Dixons Retall plc became a pnvate imited company called Dixons Retail Group Limited after year end

2 Interest held directly by Dixons Carpheone pic

3 This s the only mterest of Dixons Carphone plc directly or indirecty n this class of shares
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C10 Subsidiary undertakings continued

¢) Subsidiary undertakings exempt from audit

The following subsicianes, all of which are incorporated n England & Wales and are all ncluded in section b on pages
147 to 148, are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of indmidual accounts by

virtue of section 479A of that Act

Name

Company registration number

CPW Acton Five Limited

CPW Brands 2 Limited

CPW Consultancy Limited

CPW CP Limited

CPW lrlam Limited

CPW Tulketh Mili Limited

CWIAB Limited

DSG Boxmoor Limited

DSG Card Handling Services Limited

DSG International Retall Properties Limited
DSG Ireland Limited

The Carphone Warehouse {Digital) Limited
The Carphone Warehouse UK Limited
The Phone House Holdings (UK) Limited

05738735
07135355
07881879
06585457
05825842
06585719
02441554
05430014
04185110
00476440
00240621
03966947
03827277
03663563
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Five year record (unaudited)

Headline results - continuing operations™

201516

2014715

201314

2012113

201112

£midlion milion Lmilfion £milhon Crulion
Statutory
Revenue 9,738 8,255 1,943 11 6
Profit after tax - wholly owned operations 341 285 100 4 3
Share of results of joint ventures and assoctates (after tax) (4 - k| 48 46
Net profit after tax 337 285 103 52 49
Earnings per share
- Baswc 29 3p 29 7p 18 Bp 10 9p 107p
- Dituted 28 4p 28 7p 18 3p 10 8p 102p
Pro forma Headhne results®
Revenue 9,738 9,750 9,752 G517 8,820
EBIT 468 413 359 310 277
Interest {21) (32) (43} {33) {39)

447 381 316 277 238

Profit before taxation

{1} Headine results — conhnuing operations refiect the statutory results of the Group excluding items ¢lassified as non-Headline

2} Pro forma results are presented as though the Dixons Retat Merger and the

CPW Europe Acquisition had occurred at the beginhing of the

five-year penod This financial information has been prepared by aggregating the five year records presented by Carphone Warehouse In its
2013/14 annual report and accounts on page 97 and by Oixons Retail inits 201 3/14 annual report and accounts on page 127, and adjusting

for discontinued operations
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Basis of preparation

The basis of preparation of Headline pro forma information 15 descnbed in the Performance Review on page 24 Following the
Merger, the Group changed s year end to be the Saturday closest to 30 Apni The 2014/15 financial year as disclosed in the
2014/15 annual report and accounts therefore compnsed the 13 months to 2 May 2015 for the Carphone Warehouse business
So as to enable a better year-on-year companson, the pro forma pror pened results of the Carphone Warehouse business have
been restated to exclude the results of the additional five weeks trading

2014/15 Pro forma mcome statement reconciliation

Restated
Carphons Pro forma
Blatutory Non heading Duixons Retait Proforma -  Warshousa basis -
basts - TotoF" tems@ Marger® Headline'™ Apdl 2014®  Headiine'™
Cmdtion £rrulion Crmilkon £miltlon Emiton Ermilion
UK and Ireland 5,506 - 845 6,451 (137) 6,314
Nordics 2,055 - 663 2,718 &) 2,709
Southern Europe 564 - 73 637 a1 606
Conrnected World Services 130 - - 130 {9) 121
Revenue 8,255 - 1,681 9,936 (186) 9,750
UK and lreland 278 35 {7) 306 1 305
Nordics 46 14 26 86 - 86
Southern Europe 18 2 {6) 14 1 15
Connected World Sennices 6 1 1 8 {1) 7
Unallocated (24) 24 — - - -
EBIT 324 76 14 414 {n 413
Interest (37} 13 (9) {33) 1 (32)
Profit before tax 287 89 5 381 - 381
Tax (76) {15) 3 (88) - (88)
Profit after tax 211 74 8 293 - 293
Discentinued operations {114) 114 - - — -
Profit after tax 97 188 8 293 - 293
Basic earnungs per share {pence)® 101 186 42 255 - 255

M
@)
3

t4)
(5]

@
Q]

Total statutory rasults as reported on pages 88 and 102.n the Group's 2015/16 financial staterments

Non-Headhine items as descnbed w1 notes 4 and 25 to the Group's financial statements are excluded from pro forma Headline results
Consolidated results of Dixons Retail ple for the penod pnor to & August 2014 have been extracted without matenal adjustment from the
consoldation schedules which support the Group's 2014715 financial statements and are included in pro forma Headhine results

Pro formma Headhne income statement as reported on page 24 in the 2014/15 annual report and accounts

Resuilts for the 5 weeks to 3 May 2014 for the Carphone Warghouse business have been extracted without matenal adustment from the
consolidation schedules which support the Group's 2014/15 financial staterments and are excluded from the restated pro forma Headline
results

Pro forma Headhne income statement as reported on page 24

Pro forma earnings per share has been calculated assurmng the number of shares onissue at 2 May 2013, adjusted for the number of
shares held by the Group s ESOTs, apply from the start of the current and comparative pencds The effect of this adjustment to average
numbar of shares has baen included as pan of the 'Dhxons Retal Merger’ adjusiments

Dixons Carphone plc Annual Report and Accounts 2015/18 151

Investor informaticn




tnvestor informatlon

Pro forma information (unaudited)

2014/15 Pro forma cash flow statement reconciiation

Nal fungs Non Omons Camhons Restated

Statutory (deby headiing Retad Pra Forma Warenouse Pro Forma
basigtt basis® itamsA Margar basis™  Apnl 2064™ basis™

trnthon Lruthon £million {mition Emulhon Emition Emilton

EBIT 324 - 76 14 414 {1 413

Depreciation and amortisation 149 — {35) 27 141 {4) 137
Working capital @rn - (16) 27 (366) 207 (159)
Capital expenditure {166) - - (20) (186) 4 (182)
Taxation (39) — - {(26) (65) 3 (62}
Interest (36) - - 11) 47 1 {46}

Other items ~ Free cash flows 25 - ~ (12 13 9 4

Frea cash flow before restructunng items —

continuing operations (120) - 25 {1 (96} 20 105
Restructunng costs - - (16) — (16} - (16)

Free Cash Flow (120) - 9 ) (112) 201 89
Dividends {52) — - - (52) - {52)
Merger transaction costs (42} - (9) (39) (90) - (80)

Acquisitions, disposals, discontinued operations 333 - - (374) (41) 43 2
Pension contributions (28) - - - (28) - (28)

{Decrease) / ncrease in borrowings 211) 21 - — - - -

Other items - — - - - - -
Movement in net funds / (debt) {120) 211 - {414} {323) 244 {79)
Opening net funds 283 (291) - 71 63 (244} {181)
Clasing net {debt) / funds 163 (80) - {343} (260) — (260}

(1} Total statutary cash flows as reporfed on pages 92 and 138, using the presentation provided in the performance review On pages 2610 27
Cash flows from the statutory cash flow staterment have been aggregated as descnbed below
+ Interast compnses interest receved, interest pad and repayment of obligations under finance leases
- Other iterns - Free cash flows compnse share based paymen! charge, non-cash movemenis on jont venlures, impairment and other

non-cash items and proceeds from disposal of property, plant & equipment
+ Acqustions, disposals, discontnued operations compnse net cash outfiow ansing from CPW Europe Acquisition, cash acquired on the
Merger, proceeds on sale of business and short term investments and discontinued operations

+ Merger transaction costs compnse bond redemphon premium and facilty amangement fees pasd
+ Opening, closing and movement 1 nat funds {debt) relate to the opening, closing and movement in cash and cash equivalents

(2) Adjustment to present the cash flows on the basis of net funds {debt) rather than cash and cash equivalents, consistent with the
performance review on page 25 of the 2014/15 annual report and accounts

(3) Non-Headine cash flows as descnbed in nctes 4 and 24 to the Group's 2014/15 financial statements are excluded from pro forma free
cash flows

{4) Censalidated cash flows of Dixons Retail pic for the penod prior to 6 August 2014 have been extracted without matenal adjustment from the
consolidation schedules which support the Group's 2014/15 financial statements and are included in pro forma cash flows

(5) Pro forma cash flow statement as reported on page 25 of the 2014/15 annual report and accounts

{6) Cash flows for the five weeks to 3 May 2014 for the Carphone Warehouse business have been extracted without matenal adjustment
from the consolidation schedu'es which support the Group's 2014/15 financial statements and are excluded from the restated pro forma
cash flows

(M Pro forma cash flow statement as reported in the Performance Rewew on pages 26 to 27
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Shareholder and corporate information

Dixons Carphane plc is Iisted on the main market of the
London Stock Exchange (stock symbo! DC} ands a
constituent of the FTSE 100

Regtstrars

Equimt

Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing

West Sussex
BNS9 6DA
Umited Kingdom

0371 384 2089 (UK only)
+44 (0)121 415 7047 {from ouiside the UK)

Lines are open 8 30am to 5 30pm Monday to Fnday
{UK time), sxcluding public holidays in England & Wales

You can manage your shareholdings via an etectronic
communications service called Shareview,
www.shareview ¢o uk To register, you will need your
shareholder reference number, which can be found on
your share certificate, dvidend tax voucher or proxy card
Registration and use of the service 1s free

Financial calendar
Ex-dvidend date {final dnidend 2015/16) 25 Aug 2016

Record date {final drvidend 2015/16) 26 Aug 2016
Annual General Meeting 8 Sep 2016
Intended dividend payment date (final 23 Sep 2016
dividend 2015/16)

American Depositary Receipts (‘ADR's)

Dixons Carptione pic has established a sponsored Level 1
ADR program and has appointed Deutsche Bank Trust
Company Amencas (‘Deutsche Bank’) as the depostary
bank The ADRs trade on the US over-the-counter (OTC)
market under the symbol DXCPY (they are not isted on a
US stock exchange) Each ADR represents two ardinary
shares in Dixons Carphone pic

Contact details for ADR investors and brokers

Deutsche Bank ADR broker services desks
New York +1 212 250 9100
London +44 (0)207 547 6500

Contact details for registered ADR holders

Deutsche Bank Shareholder Services
Amencan Stock Transfer & Trust Company
Operations Center

6201 15th Avenue

Brocklyn, NY 11219

United States

Email DB@amstock com
Toll free number (from within the US} (866) 249 2593
Drrect Dhal (from outside the US) +1 718 921 8124

Registered office / Head office

1 Portal Way

London

W3 6RS

United Kingdom

+44 (0}208 617 8002

www dixonscarphone com

Company registration number
07105905

Company Secretary

Enguines should be directed to

Nrgel Paterson
General Counsel and Company Secretary
cosec@dixonscarphone com

Investor relations
Enquines should he directed to

Kate Fenry, IR, PR and Corporate Affairs Director
Mark Reynolds, Head of Investor Relations
Ir@dixonscarphone com

Advisors

Auditor

Delonte LLP

2 New Street Square
Londen

EC4A 3BZ

www deloitte com

Jomt Stockbrokers
Deutsche Bank AG

1 Great Winchester Street
London

EC2N 2DB

www db com

Citigroup Global Markets Limited
33 Canada Square

Canary Wharf

E14 5LB

www ciligroup com
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Glossary and definitions

The following definiions apply throughout this Annual Report and Accounts unless the context otherwise requires

Acquisthon intangibles

Acquired intanaible assets such as customer bases, brands and other ntangible assets
acquired through a business combination capitalised separately from goodwaill

ARPU Average revenue per user

828 Business to busness

Best Buy Best Buy Co, Inc (incorporated in the United States) and ts subsihanes and interests
in joint ventures and associates

Best Buy Europe Best Buy Europe Distnbutions Liruted and its substdiaries and interests n joint ventures
and associates (incorporated in England & Wales}

Board The Board of directors of the Company

Carphone, Carphone Warehouse
or Carphone Group

The Company or Group prior 10 the Merger on 6 August 2014

CGU Cash Generaling Unit

Company or the Company Dixons Carphone plc (ncorporated in England & Wales under the Act, with registered
number 07105805}, whose registered office is at 1 Portal Way, London W3 BRS

CcPW The continuing business of the Carphone Group

CPW Europe Best Buy Europe’s core continuing operations

CPW Europe Acquisition The Company's acquisition of Best Buy's interest in CPW Europe, which completed
on 26 June 2013

CWS The Connected World Services dwision of the Company

Dixons or Dixons Retait

Dixens Retail ple and 1ts subsidiary companies

Dixons Carphone or Group

The Company, its subsidianes, interests in joint ventures and other investments

Dixons Retall Merger or Merger

The all share merger of Dixons Retail pic and Carphone Warehouse plc which occurred
on 6 August 2014

Eamings Profit or Ioss after taxation, unless the context otherwise requires

EBIT Eamings before nterest and taxation

EBITDA Eamings before interest, taxation, depreciation and amortisation

EPS Eamings per share (basic unless otherwise indicated)

ESOT Employee share ownership trust

Free Cash Flow Free Cash Flow compnses cash generated from / (utiised by} continuing operations

before special pension contnbutians, less net finance expense, less income tax pad
and net capital expenditure The directors consider that 'Free Cash Flow' provides
addonat useful nformation to shareholders in respect of cash generation and 1S
consistent with how business performance 1s measured intemally
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Headline results

Results before Non-Headline results The phrases ‘Headline earmings'. ‘Headline EBIT’,
‘Headline EBITDA’ and 'Headline EPS' should be interpreted in the same way

HMRC

Her Majesty's Revenue and Customs

IFRS

intemational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union

Like-for-like revenue

Like-for-lke revenue 1s calcutated based on Headline store and intemet revenue using
constant exchange rates New stores are included where they have been open for a full
financial year both at the beginning and end of the financia! penod Revenue from
tranchise stores are exciuded and closed stores are excluded for any penod of closure
dunng either penod Custormer support agreement, insurance and wholesale revenues
along with revenue from Connected World Services and other non-retail businesses are
excluded from like-for-Itke calcutations Revenue from Carphane Warehouse SWAS are
included in hike-for-ike Like-for-hike revenue reflects the 12 months to 30 Apnt 2016
compared to the 12 months to 2 May 2015

Market posmtion Ranking aganst competitors n the electncal and mobite retall market, measured by
market share Market share ts measured for each of the Group's markets by companng
data for revenue or volume of units sold relative to similar metrics for competitors in the
same market

MNO Mobile network operator

MVNO Mobile virtual network operator

New CPW New CPW Limited {incorporated in England & Wales)

Non-Headtne results

Non-Headline results compnise the results of discontinued operaticns or exited / to be:
exited businesses, amortisation of acquisition intangibles, any exceptional items
considered so one-off and matenal that they distort undertying performance (such as
regrganisation costs, imparment charges and other non-recurming charges) and net
pension interest costs Businesses exited or 10 be exited are those which the Group
has exited or committed to or commenced to exit through disposal or closure but do
not meet the definition of discontinued operations as stipulated by IFRS and are
matenal to the results and operations of the Group

NPS Net promoter score, a rating used by the Group to measure customers’ likeithood to
recommend its operations

Qld Carphone Warehouse TalkTalk Telecom Holdings Limited {formerly ‘The Carphone Warehouse Group PLC"}
(incorporated in England & Wales)

PAT Profit after taxation

PBT Profit before taxation

Pro forma Results incorporating Dixons Retall pic as if it had been owned by the Group

for the enbire previous reporting penod In addition the 2014/15 pro forma results
of the Carphone Warehouse business have been restated to exclude the resuits
of the additional five weeks trading to ensure an equal length penod for
comparative purposes
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Glossary and definitions

Retum on capital employed Calculated on a pre-tax and lease adjusted basis The

ROCE
return 1s based on Headline EBST, adjusted 1o add back the interest component
associated with capitalising operating lease costs Capial employed 1s based on net
assels inctuding capitalised leases, but excluding goodwill, cash, tax and the defined
benefit pension obligations The calculation 1s performed on a moving annual total in
order to best match the retum on assets 1 a year with the agsets mn use dunng the year
to generate the retum

RCF Revolving credit facility

Sharesave or SAYE Save as you eamn share scheme

SWAS Stores-within-a-store

TaikTatk or TalkTalk Group TalkTalk Telecom Group PLC and its subsidiares and other investments

TSR Total shareholder retum

UK GAAP United ¥Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable faw

Virgin Mohile France Omer Telecom Limited (incorporated in England & Wales) and its subsidianes,
operating an MVNQ in France as a joint venture between the Company, Biuebottle UK
Limited and Financom SA S

WAEP Weighted average exercise pnce
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